Grand Valley State University ScholarWorks@GVSU

**Masters Theses** 

Graduate Research and Creative Practice

12-2019

# Impacts of Shoreline Restoration and Source of Nutrient Enrichment on Macrophytes and Epiphytic Algal Communities

Paige Marie Kleindl Grand Valley State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.gvsu.edu/theses

Part of the Biology Commons, and the Terrestrial and Aquatic Ecology Commons

## ScholarWorks Citation

Kleindl, Paige Marie, "Impacts of Shoreline Restoration and Source of Nutrient Enrichment on Macrophytes and Epiphytic Algal Communities" (2019). *Masters Theses*. 967. https://scholarworks.gvsu.edu/theses/967

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Research and Creative Practice at ScholarWorks@GVSU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@GVSU. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gvsu.edu.

# Impacts of Shoreline Restoration and Source of Nutrient Enrichment on Macrophytes and

**Epiphytic Algal Communities** 

Paige Marie Kleindl

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of

# GRAND VALLEY STATE UNIVERSITY

In

Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of

Master of Science in Biology

Department of Biology

December 2019

# Dedication

This master's thesis is dedicated to my parents, April and Tim Kleindl, who taught me to pursue my passions as well as Drs. Sarah Waters, Robert Verb, and Leslie Riley at Ohio Northern University who helped me make my passions a part of my everyday life. Your mentorship continues to shape me as a person, and I am forever grateful for your support and encouragement as I continue my pursuit of a scientific career.

#### Acknowledgements

I sincerely thank my graduate advisor, Dr. Alan Steinman, for his continued guidance, patience, and support throughout my thesis research. I am grateful for his thoughtful reviews of my proposals, drafts, and presentations, challenging me to think critically while creating a clear, articulate scientific story. I owe much of my knowledge and improvement in scientific writing, reasoning, and speaking to my time as a graduate student under his leadership. I also thank my graduate committee members, Drs. Erica Young and Mark Luttenton, for their valuable comments and expertise concerning my thesis research. I thank the faculty and staff of the Grand Valley State University Biology Department and the Annis Water Resources Institute for their support and endless encouragement. I also thank my fellow graduate students for their irreplaceable friendship, guidance, editorial advice, and reminders to breathe. I thank the Steinman lab members for creating a welcoming and enjoyable work atmosphere. Finally, I thank my family and friends for their support and encouragement throughout this journey.

Funding for this study was provided by the Lake Grant from the Michigan Chapter of the North American Lake Management Society, the Presidential Research Grant from GVSU, the Graduate Megan E. Cook Scholarship from the Michigan Lake Stewardship Association, the Environmental Scholarship from the West Michigan Air and Waste Management Association, an AWRI Graduate Research Assistantship, a grant provided by NOAA, and Dr. Alan Steinman. I thank Maggie Oudsema, Rachel Orzechowski, Emily Kindervater, Mike Hassett, Brian Scull, and Dr. Sarah Hamsher for field and laboratory assistance. I am additionally grateful for statistical advice provided by Dr. Gary Lamberti.

#### Abstract

Macrophytes and their epiphytic algal communities are integral for optimizing littoral ecosystem functioning in lakes. Epiphytic algae's placement on the plant's surface can reduce light and nutrient availability (i.e., nitrogen and phosphorus) for the host macrophyte. Macrophyte and epiphytic algal proximity complicates these primary producer group interactions and responses to bioavailable nutrients in the water column or porewater. For example, epiphytic algae may have a competitive advantage over surface water nutrients compared to macrophytes, which may have a competitive advantage over porewater nutrients via root systems.

Muskegon Lake's industrial history and designation as an Area of Concern prompted shoreline restoration, where macrophyte surveys were conducted pre- (2009-2010) and post-(2011-2012) restoration. For my thesis, I continued the macrophyte survey in 2018 to determine restoration impacts on the macrophyte community. An epiphytic algal survey also was included to evaluate interactions with their host macrophyte (*Vallisneria americana*) and to determine algal community structure variation across habitats. To further evaluate *V. americana*-epiphytic algal interactions, I examined both primary producer groups responses to source of nutrient enrichment (sediment porewater and/or surface water).

Fluctuations in hydrologic and meteorological conditions among all survey years, largely due to water levels, obscured restoration-induced macrophyte changes and slowed ecosystem improvement. By 2018, however, we had seen an increase in restored habitat quality compared to the reference habitat based on Coefficient of Conservatism values and macrophyte biomass

and density increases. My results also indicated a negative impact of epiphytic algal biomass and density on *V. americana* in Muskegon Lake and the mesocosm experiment. During the experiment, water column nutrient enrichment induced phytoplankton accumulation, reducing light and subsequent macrophyte and epiphytic algal biomass. Porewater nutrient enrichment helped alleviate the negative influence of phytoplankton biomass on macrophyte and epiphytic algal biomass when the water column was enriched.

These studies reinforced the importance of environmental variation and biological interactions in influencing macrophyte community structure. Managers can use this knowledge to choose restoration locations that will enhance macrophyte success: intermediate light and hydrologic exposure will help mitigate epiphytic algal growth, and shallow slope could help increase habitat resiliency to climactic scale environmental shifts.

Title Page	1
Approval Page	2
Dedication	3
Acknowledgements	4
Abstract	5
List of Tables	10
List of Figures	12
Abbreviations	16
Chapter 1: Introduction	19
Introduction	19
Coastal Wetland Loss – Muskegon Lake	19
Macrophytes as Keystone Contributors	20
Macrophyte-Epiphytic Algal Matrix	21
Sources of Nitrogen and Phosphorus	22
Individual Responses to Nutrient Enrichment	24
Purpose	27
Scope	27
Assumptions	28
Objectives	28
Significance	29
Definitions	30
References	33
Chapter 2: Long-term Impacts of Shoreline Restoration on Macrophyte and Epiphytic	Algae
Communities	43
Abstract	43

# **Table of Contents**

Keywords:	44
Highlights	44
1. Introduction	44
2. Methods	47
2.1 Habitat description	47
2.2 Field protocols	48
2.3 Laboratory processing	50
2.4 Data analyses	51
3. Results	54
3.1.1 Macrophytes: environmental variables	54
3.1.2 Macrophytes: biological factors and community composition	56
3.1.3 Macrophytes: biological and environmental interactions	57
3.2 Epiphytic algae: environmental and biological variables	57
4. Discussion	58
4.1 Macrophyte responses to restoration	58
4.2 Epiphytic algal dynamics among transects	61
4.3 Restoration impacts and future management implications	62
Acknowledgments	64
References	65
Tables	73
Figures	77
Appendix	83
Chapter 3: Response of Vallisneria americana and Its Epiphytic Algal Community to	Different
Sources of Nutrient Enrichment	86
Acknowledgments	86
Abstract	86
Keywords	87
Introduction	87
Methods	91
Mesocosm set-up	91
Mesocosm experiment	92
Muskegon Lake survey	93

Laboratory processing	94
Data analyses	96
Results	
Mesocosm physical and chemical variables	
Macrophyte biological variables	
Epiphytic algae biological variables and community structure	
Biological and environmental interactions	
Epiphytic algae comparisons	
Discussion	
Mesocosm conditions	
Macrophyte and epiphytic algal responses	
Muskegon Lake and experiment comparisons	
Conclusions and ecological implications	
References	
Tables	
Figures	
Appendix	
Chapter 4: Synthesis and Conclusions	
Introduction	
Primary producer responses to nutrients	
Drivers of epiphytic algae community change	141
Muskegon Lake macrophyte community trajectory	
Conclusions	147
References	150
Figures	155

# List of Tables

# Table

2.1	Transect length (m) (n = 15), mean ( $\pm$ SD) water depth (m) (n = 315), bathymetric slope (%) (n = 15), WI (wind index) (n = 15), mean ( $\pm$ SD) OM (%) (n = 66), and mean ( $\pm$ SD) cover rank (n= 315) for the three Muskegon Lake transects over the five survey years. Type II two-way ANOVA results and post-hoc pairwise t-tests with Bonferroni correction are included for comparison of slope, WI, OM, and cover rank among transects. Asterisks on <i>P</i> -values for the two-way ANOVA results indicate significance p < 0.05 among transects for all survey years, for restoration state, or for their interaction. Superscripts on transect names indicate significant similarities or differences among transects.
2.2	Linear regression results for significant correlations between variables for the macrophyte survey. Negative signs in front of R <sup>2</sup> values indicate a negative correlation between the two variables. Variable abbreviations are the same as in Table 2.175
2.3	Linear regression results for significant correlations between environmental and biological variables for the V. americana epiphytic algae survey. Negative signs in front of R <sup>2</sup> values indicate a negative correlation between the two variables. Variable abbreviations are the same as in Table 2.1 along with chlorophyll- <i>a</i> (Chl- <i>a</i> ), photosynthetically active radiation (PAR), dissolved oxygen (DO), total phosphorus (TP), and light extinction coefficient (Light Extinction)
2.A.1	Total precipitation (cm), mean (±SD) air temperature (°C), and change in Lake Michigan water level (m) relative to the long-term Lake Michigan mean for all five survey years during the growing season (April through August)
2.A.2	Mean (±SD) coefficient of conservatism for each survey year among all three transects. To examine restoration states, mean (±SD) C-values are provided for the reference transect, pre-restoration, and post-restoration
2.A.3	Physical and chemical variables collected at each of the three transects in correspondence with the 2018 epiphytic algae survey that occurred between 2:00 and 4:00 pm on July 16 <sup>th</sup> , 2018 for Heritage Landing, July 19 <sup>th</sup> , 2018 for Northwest Reference, and July 23 <sup>rd</sup> , 2018 for Grand Trunk. Mean (±SD) turbidity was determined from all sites along each transect. Abbreviations include dissolved oxygen (DO), redox potential (ORP), total phosphorus (TP), photosynthetically active radiation (PAR), nitrate (NO <sub>3</sub> ), and total kjeldahl nitrogen (TKN)
3.1	Mean (±SD) ambient SRP and NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> -N concentrations in the water column(n per nutrient = 12) and porewater (n per nutrient = 9) of Muskegon Lake along with the mean

expected (ambient and 10x ambient nutrient concentrations anticipated for each

respective treatment) (±SD) and observed SRP and NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> -N concentrations in the water
column (n per nutrient = 15) and porewater (n = 1) for each of the four mesocosm
treatments

# **List of Figures**

## Figure

- 2.4 (A) A PCA biplot of biological data (macrophyte cover, total density, total biomass, and total richness) where 45.6% and 35.9% of the data are explained by PC1 and PC2, respectively. Symbol shapes represent the different transects (NWRef, HertL, and

GrandT) and colors represent the sampling years pre- (2009 and 2010) and postrestoration (2011, 2012, and 2018). Each symbol represents one transect per survey year. Vector length is positively correlated with each variable's explanatory power in the dataset. (B) Biological data clustered by transect (blue = NWRef, yellow = HertL, and green = GrandT). (C) Biological data clustered by survey years (red = 2009, orange = 2010, green = 2011, blue = 2012, and purple = 2018). (D) Biological data clustered by restoration state (blue = reference transect, red = pre-restoration, and green = postrestoration). 2018 symbols (purple) intentionally increased in size to differentiate from other years. A) A PCA biplot of biological data (macrophyte cover, total density, total biomass, and total richness) where 34.3% and 28.9% of the data are explained by PC1 and PC2, respectively. Symbol shapes represent the different transects (NWRef, HertL, and GrandT) and colors represent the sampling years pre- (2009 and 2010) and postrestoration (2011, 2012, and 2018). Vector length is positively correlated with each variable's explanatory power in the dataset. (B) Biological data clustered by transect. (C) Biological data clustered by survey years. (D) Biological data clustered by restoration state. 2018 symbols (purple) intentionally increased in size to differentiate from other 

- 2.5 A stacked bar plot of macrophyte taxa weighted relative abundance changes within the five-year survey among all three transects. Each stacked bar represents the average relative abundance of represented macrophyte species at sites along each transect per survey year (NWRef, n = 140; HertL, n = 64; GrandT, n = 111).......81
- 2.6 Epiphytic algae biological variables at each of the three transects in 2018. One standard deviation above the mean is provided. Letters above transects represent statistically significant differences among transects (p<0.001, Kruskal Wallis). (A) Mean epiphytic algae chlorophyll-a (μg/cm2) concentrations (n = 30). (B) Mean epiphytic algae density (cells/mm2) (n = 30).</p>
- **3.2** Mean live *V. americana* macrophyte biological variables in each treatment after 28 days. One standard deviation above and below the mean is provided, n = 48. Uppercase, bold letters above treatment groupings represent statistically significant differences among treatments. (a) Mean total macrophyte biomass (described as the individual *V.americana* biomass plus biomass of all propagules attached to that individual) with statistically significant differences among treatments (p=0.004). (b) Mean individual macrophyte biomass (g) (defined as the original macrophyte used for removing epiphytic algae). (c) Mean macrophyte length root:shoot ratio with statistically

significant differences among treatments (p=0.04). (d) Mean total macrophyte length (cm). (e) Mean propagule number per individual macrophyte......126

- **3.3** Mean epiphytic algae biological metrics on live *V. americana* and artificial macrophytes in each treatment. One standard deviation above the mean is provided. Uppercase, bold letters above treatment groupings represent statistically significant differences among treatments. Lowercase letters above individual bars represent statistically significant differences between plant types, n = 89. (a) Mean epiphytic algae chlorophyll-*a* ( $\mu$ g/cm2). (b) Mean epiphytic algae density (cells/mm2) with statistically significant differences between plant types (p=0.002). (c) Mean epiphytic algae genera richness with statistically significant differences among treatments (p<0.001). (d) Mean epiphytic algae diversity with statistically significant differences among treatments (p=0.006). .127

- 3.A1 (a) Map of the state of Michigan with the location of Muskegon Lake indicated by a black star. (b) Muskegon Lake with the three macrophyte survey transects indicated by black lines showing the length of each transect. Restored transects (Grand Trunk and Heritage Landing [Heritage]) are perpendicular to the southern shoreline and Northwest (NW) Reference is perpendicular to the northern shoreline.

- 4.1 A conceptual diagram of macrophyte, epiphytic algae, and phytoplankton interactions within the controlled mesocosm experiment. Red arrows indicate porewater nutrient uptake, blue arrows indicate surface water nutrient uptake, and orange arrows indicate light attenuation. Solid arrows represent direct access to a resource and dashed arrows indicate indirect access to a resource. Orange arrow thickness indicates the amount of light availability and blue and red arrow thickness indicates the importance of that nutrient for each primary producer group. (A) Observed macrophyte, epiphytic algae, and phytoplankton interactions. (B) Expected macrophyte, epiphytic algae, and phytoplankton interactions.
- **4.2** A conceptual diagram of expected and observed macrophyte community structure at restored shoreline habitats in Muskegon Lake and the varying environmental conditions among survey years. The sun represents warmer air temperatures and cloud presence represents cooler air temperatures. The number and size of raindrops indicates the amount of precipitation accumulation per survey year during the growing season. Water level is indicated by the different proportions of aquatic habitat available. Macrophyte density is represented by the number of macrophytes. Macrophyte biomass is represented by the size of macrophytes. Macrophyte richness is represented by the number of different macrophyte types. The red dotted line represents a separation between pre- and post-restoration survey years. A) Expected trajectory of Muskegon Lake shoreline restoration implementation. B) Observed trajectory of Muskegon Lake shoreline restoration implementation.

# Abbreviations

- Abd Relative abundance
- AOC Area of Concern
- B Both treatment
- **BUI Beneficial Use Impairment**
- C Control treatment
- C-Value Coefficient of Conservatism
- Chl-a Chlorophyll-a
- DO Dissolved Oxygen
- GrandT Grand Trunk
- HertL Heritage Landing
- Hrs Hours
- KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> Potassium phosphate
- Kmph Kilometers per hour
- L:D Light and Dark Photoperiod
- MI Michigan
- N Nitrogen
- N<sub>2</sub> Dinitrogen
- NaNO<sub>3</sub> Sodium nitrate
- NO3<sup>-</sup> Nitrate
- NO2<sup>-</sup> Nitrite
- NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N Nitrogen in Nitrate

NMDS – Non-metric Multidimensional Scaling

- NTU Turbidity
- NWRef Northwest Reference
- OM Organic Matter
- **ORP** Oxidation Reduction Potential
- P Phosphorus
- PAR Photosynthetically Active Radiation
- PCA Principle Component Analysis
- PoreNO3 Porewater Nitrate
- PoreSRP Porewater Soluble Reactive Phosphorus
- S Sediment treatment
- SC Specific Conductance
- SD Standard Deviation
- SedTKN Sediment Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen
- SedTP Sediment Total Phosphorus
- SRP Soluble Reactive Phosphorus
- T Temperature
- TDS Total Dissolved Solids
- TKN Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen
- TP Total Phosphorus
- WC Water Column treatment
- WChla Phytoplankton Chlorophyll-a

WI – Wind Index

WL – Water Level

#### Chapter 1

#### Introduction

#### Coastal Wetland Loss – Muskegon Lake

Nearshore habitat and coastal wetlands provide numerous ecosystem services that are valuable to society (Steinman et al., 2017; Vadeboncoeur et al., 2011). These biologically productive environments stimulate economic growth through recreational and commercial fishing (Campbell et al., 2015), and can increase the value of lakeside property containing esthetically appealing natural shorelines (Leggett and Bockstael, 2000; Isely et al., 2018). Despite shoreline importance, human development has inflicted an array of disturbances on nearshore habitat, especially within the Laurentian Great Lakes region, including: dredging, shoreline hardening, pollution runoff, and external or internal nutrient loading (Schock et al., 2014; Steinman and Ogdahl, 2011; Whittier et al., 2002). The Great Lakes region has lost three fourths of its natural coastal habitat to industrial and urban development since European settlement, with the remaining river mouth and littoral ecosystems designated as poor habitat quality (Larson et al., 2013; Jude and Pappas, 1992). In response to habitat destruction and degradation, monitoring programs have been developed to evaluate the status of remaining wetlands (Grabas et al., 2012; Uzarski et al., 2017) and some locations have undergone restoration (Ogdahl and Steinman, 2015).

Muskegon Lake, located in central West Michigan, had suffered two centuries of environmental degradation due to industrialization and urbanization (Steinman et al., 2008). Approximately 65% of the entire lake's shoreline was hardened with materials such as rip-rap, seawall, slag, and slab wood (Steinman et al., 2008). These environmental impairments, among others, led to Muskegon Lake's listing as a Great Lakes Area of Concern (AOC) in 1985 and the identification of Nine Beneficial Use Impairments (BUIs), including the loss of fish and wildlife habitat (Ogdahl and Steinman, 2015; Steinman et al., 2008). In an effort to increase habitat availability for fish and other wildlife, restoration at specific locations along the south shoreline occurred in 2010 and 2011 to remove unwanted fill material and replace the hardened shoreline with a natural, macrophyte-filled transition zone (Ogdahl and Steinman, 2015). Pre-and post-restoration habitat monitoring, with a focus on macrophyte communities, was used to evaluate the change in ecosystem quality over time (Ogdahl and Steinman, 2015).

#### Macrophytes as Keystone Contributors

Macrophytes exist within the shallow water littoral zone of a lake where ample light can reach the benthos (Chambers et al., 2008). Macrophyte roots embedded in the benthos restrict the resuspension of sediment particles, mitigate turbidity, and increase light attenuation (Bornette and Puijalon, 2011). Macrophyte shoots reduce water velocity within and adjacent to the plant bed, controlling particle resuspension as well as facilitating sedimentation (Madsen et al., 2001). Sedimentation results in greater organic matter and sediment particle accumulation in the macrophyte bed compared to unvegetated locations, stimulating macrophyte productivity (Madsen et al., 2001). Macrophytes also are critical to nutrient cycling in lakes; plants are considered nutrient sinks during the growing season and sources during senescence (Barko et al., 1991). The sequestering of nutrients by aquatic plants restricts nutrient availability to phytoplankton populations, helping control the formation of algal blooms at the water's surface (Søndergaard and Moss, 1998).

Macrophytes, with their variety of morphologies, can increase habitat heterogeneity (Thomaz and Cunha, 2010). Waterfowl and other bird species rely on emergent macrophyte communities for essential breeding habitat (Bonter et al., 2009; Sierszen et al., 2012). Fish are dependent on macrophyte beds for juvenile development, predator protection, and food resources (Jude and Pappas, 1992). Macrophytes also provide shelter and substrate for macroinvertebrates; grazers specifically travel amongst the shoots and leaves to consume attached biofilms (Thomaz and Cunha, 2010). Epiphytic algae residing on the surfaces of macrophytes support the littoral food web by providing an energy base for higher trophic levels and contributing to carbon fixation (Allen, 1971; Dodds, 2003; Vadeboncoeur and Steinman, 2002). Epiphytic algae also are important sinks of nutrients, like nitrogen, and can increase organic nutrient concentrations in sediments (Young et al., 2005).

#### Macrophyte-Epiphytic Algal Matrix

Nutrients and light availability are two of the most important environmental variables influencing macrophytes and their epiphytic algal communities (Allen, 1971; Eminson and Moss, 1980). However, epiphytic algae form a barrier between the water column and macrophyte surface, essentially competing for light and nutrients with their host plant (Cattaneo et al., 1998; Strand and Weisner, 2001); epiphytic algae reduce macrophyte oxygen and carbon uptake, obstruct dissolved material transport including nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P), and shade macrophyte surfaces (Nelson, 2017). Epiphytic algae may induce physical drag on macrophytes, increasing the risk of leaf loss during periods of high wind or wave action (Borowitzka and Lethbridge, 1989). In some extreme situations, epiphytic algae have brought about the loss of entire macrophyte communities in shallow lakes as well as seagrass beds

(Cambridge et al., 1986; Jones et al., 2002; Phillips et al., 1978). In response to excess algal growth, certain macrophyte species may release allelopathic chemicals, although this process may not reduce epiphytic algae (Erhard and Gross, 2006; Hilt et al., 2006). Macrophyte life history traits such as high leaf turnover could mitigate thick epiphytic algal layers (Eminson and Moss, 1980). Macrophyte bed density also could decrease epiphytic algal growth due to adjacent macrophytes shading the algal community (Öterler, 2017).

#### Sources of Nitrogen and Phosphorus

N and P are the major growth-limiting nutrients for primary producers in lakes, including macrophytes and epiphytic algae (Elser et al., 2007). The inorganic and organic forms of these nutrients cycle through different locations within an aquatic ecosystem: the water column, sediment, and living organisms (Carpenter et al., 1998) (Figure 1.1). Both N and P externally enter the water column through surface runoff. Atmospheric deposition can also introduce N and particulate P into a water body (Brennan et al., 2016; Francis et al., 2007). Dissolved, biologically available N and P within the water column can be directly sequestered by macrophytes and epiphytic algae (Boström et al., 1988). Atmospheric nitrogen can be in the form of NH<sub>x</sub>, NO<sub>x</sub>, and N<sub>2</sub>. N<sub>2</sub> must undergo nitrogen fixation before it is available for organism uptake (Elser et al., 2009; Francis et al., 2007).



**Figure 1.1**: Representation of the sources of N and P available to primary producers in a lake littoral zone. (A) Black arrows indicate movement of nutrients into and within the aquatic ecosystem. Yellow arrows indicate which macrophyte structure would take up nutrients from each source. (B) Representation of the epiphytic algal community residing on the surface of a macrophyte leaf blade. Large red arrow represents direct epiphytic algal nutrient acquisition from the water column. Small red arrow indicates nutrient leaching from the macrophyte surface, available for epiphytic algal sequestration. Black arrows indicate internal nutrient cycling within the epiphytic algal biofilm.

Particulate N and P entering a lake from the surrounding landscape and watershed usually settle into the sediment nutrient pool (Saunders and Kalff, 2001; Søndergaard et al., 2001). This includes organic forms of N and P as well as sediment-bound P, which will become available to primary producers after mineralization and mobilization occurs, respectively (Boström et al., 1988; Saunders and Kalff, 2001; Søndergaard et al., 2001). Unbound N and P can reside in interstitial porewater found between benthic sediment particles. Exchanges across the sediment-water interface also occur and are influenced by: a nutrient diffusion gradient (Short, 1987), water turbulence resuspending N and P bound material, benthic organism uptake (Saunders and Kalff, 2001) and bioturbation (Nogaro and Steinman, 2014), and other transport mechanisms (Boström et al., 1988; Wetzel, 2001). The source, water column or sediment, containing the greatest biologically available nutrient concentrations will therefore stimulate the growth of primary producers in contact with that habitat.

#### Individual Responses to Nutrient Enrichment

Macrophytes sequester nutrients essential for maintaining productivity, growth, and reproduction through the water column and sediment (Figure 1.1) (Chambers et al., 1989; Madsen and Cedergreen, 2002). The importance of each location (hereafter referred to as nutrient source) containing bioavailable nutrients for macrophyte uptake may differ among environmental conditions (Barko and James, 1998). In general, nutrient limitation of N and P leads to an overall reduction in macrophyte growth (Madsen and Cedergreen, 2002). Increased water column nutrient availability can reduce root biomass since energy will be redirected away from root structures, decreasing submergent macrophyte biomass root:shoot ratios (O'Connell et al., 2015; Dülger et al., 2017). Macrophytes with roots mechanically removed can maintain productivity and experience high growth rates based solely on leaf nutrient uptake (Madsen and Cedergreen, 2002). Besides nutrient-rich environments stimulating macrophyte shoot growth, turbidity increases caused by phytoplankton accumulation may also invoke shoot growth to help leaves reach adequate light levels for growth (Phillips et al., 1978; Song et al., 2017). Root:shoot ratio increases have been documented in environments with low-fertile sediments since greater root system biomass and complexity increases the surface area available for nutrient uptake (Barko et al., 1988; Barko et al., 1991). However, in any habitat containing elevated water column-, interstitial water-, and/or sediment-nutrients, root:shoot ratios usually decline (Barko et al., 1991; Madsen and Cedergreen, 2002).

Although macrophyte responses to nutrient dynamics have been generalized, plants display species-specific responses based on their ideal nutrient optimum and sequestration methods (Grime et al., 1986; Mei and Zhang, 2015). Madsen et al. (2001) classified macrophytes into two simple growth forms: (1) meadow formers containing a basal meristem, where the majority of biomass is equally distributed along the vertical water column gradient and (2) canopy formers, which contain an apical meristem and their biomass is concentrated at the top of the plant canopy or at the water's surface. Meadow-formers like the genus *Vallisneria* are not as adept in nutrient-rich conditions compared to canopy-formers like *Myriophyllum* spp. that can compete much more successfully in nutrient-rich environments with turbid waters (Chambers and Kalff, 1987; Madsen et al., 2001). Additionally, the extent of macrophyte biomass change, for either growth form, will be contingent on the intensity and duration of nutrient increases as well as the influence of surrounding environmental pressures (Tang et al., 2019).

Unlike macrophytes, epiphytic algae do not directly interact with sediment nutrients; nutrients enter the epiphytic algal matrix through either the water column or from their host plant (Barko et al., 1991; Burkholder, 1996; Moeller et al., 1988; Sand-Jensen and Borum,

1991). Interstitial water exchange or lacustrine groundwater discharge may introduce higher concentrations of N and P into the water column, facilitating epiphyton growth (Périllon and Hilt, 2019; Vadeboncoeur and Steinman, 2002). Nutrients are also internally cycled within an established epiphytic algal biofilm, helping to sustain the current community and promote algal growth (Figure 1.1) (Mulholland et al., 1994; Sand-Jensen and Borum, 1991).

Regardless of location, nutrient increases in the absence of other stressors results in increased epiphytic algal productivity, growth, and biomass accumulation (Rosemond et al., 1993). Algae respond quickly to environmental changes as a result of rapid community turnover and can experience community composition shifts even with short-term nutrient spikes (Schneider et al., 2012). In general, nutrient-rich environments facilitate the growth of cellstacking algal morphologies, which extend past the biofilm to directly exploit resources from the water column (Berthon et al., 2011; Burkholder, 1996). Higher surface area to volume ratio and advective nutrient accrual increases the nutrient uptake rates of cell-stacking algae about twofold (Burkholder et al., 1990; Dodds, 2003; Steinman et al., 1992). Elevated N and P concentrations may facilitate the replacement of algal species with lower nutrient optima with species with higher nutrient affinities (Berthon et al., 2011). Additionally, habitats with limited N availability would likely contain cyanobacterial taxa with N-fixing capabilities (Vitousek et al., 2002). Since algae community composition mirrors nutrient concentrations, as well as other physical and chemical environmental variables, algae are commonly used as indicators of trophic status or overall habitat quality (Potapova and Charles, 2003).

#### Purpose

The purpose of this study is to understand how environmental variables, restoration activities, and epiphytic algae play a role in macrophyte community success along Muskegon Lake's shoreline. Macrophyte and environmental surveys can help us better interpret restoration outcomes through the separation of restoration-induced macrophyte responses from responses due to the variation in physical habitat and fluctuating hydrologic conditions. Investigating the relationship between epiphytic algae and their host plant in Muskegon Lake provides insight to how biological interactions may vary among habitat conditions, may influence each primary producer group, and may affect restoration outcomes. Additionally, evaluating the role of nutrient source for epiphytic algae and their host macrophyte will help decipher the biological interactions within the macrophyte-epiphytic algal matrix in regard to resource competition. The use of epiphytic algae and macrophytes for evaluating habitat quality and environmental conditions will add to our understanding of primary producer biomonitoring.

## Scope

The first specific aim for this thesis focuses on the environmental and biological (i.e., macrophytes) metrics at three littoral habitats in Muskegon Lake before (2009-2010) and after (2011-2012, and 2018) restoration occurred, specifically two restored habitats along the south shoreline and one reference habitat along the north shoreline. Epiphytic algal communities on the macrophyte species *Vallisneria americana* and corresponding water quality variables also were examined at these habitats for one year (2018); results were interpreted in regard to macrophyte biological interactions and potential algal influence on restoration. To further

highlight macrophyte and epiphytic algal interactions, the second specific aim was to evaluate *V. americana* and its attached epiphytic algal community responses to different sources of nutrient enrichment within a controlled experiment. Conclusions from the source of nutrient enrichment experiment can be applied to further research concerning macrophyte and epiphytic algal interactions but extrapolating results to other macrophyte taxa must be done with caution. Additionally, conditions simulated within an experimental setting are not fully representative of natural systems containing multiple stressors and should be interpreted with care.

#### Assumptions

- I assumed macrophyte sampling and processing was unbiased and representative of the sampling locations.
- 2) I assumed epiphytic algae sampling from *Vallisneria americana* and subsequent processing was unbiased and representative of the sampling locations.
- I assumed the epiphytic algae inoculum for the mesocosm experiment was representative of Muskegon Lake's epiphytic algal communities.
- **4)** I assumed that commercially purchased *Vallisneria americana* macrophytes would be representative of Muskegon Lake's *V. americana*.
- 5) I assumed randomization of mesocosm treatments in the experiment buffered against biases in light and temperature.

#### Objectives

The objectives of my thesis were to: 1) determine if Muskegon Lake shoreline restoration improved habitat quality for macrophyte communities at the restored habitats

compared to the reference habitat by examining macrophyte biological variables (e.g., richness, biomass, and density) and environmental characteristics (e.g., slope and water level) among the five survey years; 2) determine how epiphytic algae community structure on *V. americana* (i.e., density and chlorophyll-*a*) were influenced by environmental variables (e.g., light extinction coefficient, wind index, and water column nutrients) among the three transects; and 3) determine the influence of sediment vs. water column nutrient enrichment (N and P) on *V. americana* biomass and length and its epiphytic algal community structure (density, richness, diversity, and chlorophyll-*a*) in a mesocosm-based experiment with four treatment types: sediment porewater nutrient enrichment; water column nutrient enrichment; nutrient enrichment at both sources; and a control with no nutrient enrichment .

## Significance

This thesis investigates how the macrophyte and epiphytic algal communities have responded to a restoration initiative on Muskegon Lake's shoreline. A successful restoration project, as determined in part by the macrophyte survey, will contribute to removing the loss of fish and wildlife habitat BUI and delisting Muskegon Lake as an AOC; monitoring techniques and habitat evaluation can then be applied to other restoration projects. Our results also can help managers choose restoration locations, assuming the land is available for restoration, which will maximize habitat rehabilitation. Surveying *V. americana* epiphytic algal communities for the first time in Muskegon Lake fills a gap in knowledge related to understanding the lake's littoral community structure. Examining the relationship between macrophytes and their attached algae in Muskegon Lake can help further explain differences in macrophyte community metrics among habitats. Epiphytic algal results can therefore be incorporated into potential adaptive

management strategies, if needed, and will be beneficial for developing similar restoration activities at other locations.

The controlled experiment fills an important gap concerning macrophyte and epiphytic algae responses to nutrient enrichment. Often, only one source of nutrient enrichment (sediment porewater or water column) is studied in correlation with one primary producer group (macrophytes or epiphytic algae) For example, macrophyte responses to sediment porewater nutrients are studied separately from epiphytic algae responses to water column nutrient addition. This experiment examines macrophyte and epiphytic algal simultaneous responses to: sediment porewater nutrient enrichment; water column nutrient enrichment; enrichment in both sources. Results provide a more holistic understanding of how nutrients impact the macrophyte-epiphytic algae matrix, and the degree to which epiphytic algae inhibit macrophyte growth under the varying nutrient source circumstances. In conclusion, this thesis improves our understanding of the abiotic variables impacting Muskegon Lake macrophyte and epiphytic algal communities, and further untangles the complex interactions within the macrophyte-epiphytic algal matrix. This research contributes to the greater body of literature surrounding coastal wetland restoration, macrophyte biomonitoring, and the impacts of nutrient increase on primary producers.

## Definitions

*Atmospheric Deposition*: Particulates and gases deposited from the atmosphere to the surfaces of terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems.

*Autotroph*: An organism that forms nutritional organic substances from inorganic substances like carbon dioxide, generally using energy from light or inorganic chemical reactions.

*Beneficial Use Impairment:* A change in the chemical, physical, or biological integrity of the Great Lakes system sufficient to cause significant environmental degradation.

*Biomonitoring*: Assessing the ecological condition of water bodies by examining their organismal communities.

*Coastal wetland*: A habitat inundated or saturated by surface or groundwater for a period of time, allowing that habitat to support vegetation adapted to saturated soil conditions. Coastal wetlands are located along the transition between land and a large body of water.

*External Nutrient Loading:* Input of nutrients from the surrounding terrestrial environment and watershed into a lake.

*Epiphyte*: A photosynthetic organism that grows on another photosynthetic organism but is not parasitic.

*Great Lakes Area of Concern*: A designated geographic area where significant impairment of beneficial uses has occurred as a result of human activities at the local level.

*Inoculum*: A small amount of substance containing algae from one location, which is used to start a community in a new location.

*Internal Nutrient Loading:* Nutrients are introduced into the surface water of lakes from the lake's sediment.

*Littoral zone*: A habitat in coastal environments that extends from the high-water mark to permanently submerged shoreline.

*Macrophyte*: An aquatic plant visible to the naked eye located in or near water.

*Mesocosm*: An experimental water enclosure designed to provide a limited body of water with close to natural conditions, and where environmental variables can be realistically manipulated.

*Mineralization*: The decomposition of chemical compounds in organic matter and nutrients within these compounds are released in a soluble inorganic form.

*Mobilization*: The release of inorganic nutrients, i.e., phosphorus, from sediment particles.

*Nitrogen Fixation*: The chemical process assimilating atmospheric nitrogen into organic

compounds, carried out by certain microorganisms.

*Primary producer:* An organism that converts an abiotic source of energy (e.g. light) into energy stored in organic compounds.

*Restoration*: Renewing and recovering degraded, damaged, or destroyed habitats through human intervention and action.

#### References

Allen, H. L., 1971. Primary productivity, chemo-organotrophy, and nutritional interactions of epiphytic algae and bacteria on macrophytes in the littoral of a lake. Eco. Monographs 41, 97-127. https://doi.org/10.2307/1942387

Barko, J.W., Gunnison, D., Carpenter, S.R., 1991. Sediment interactions with submersed macrophyte growth and community dynamics. Aquat. Bot. 41, 41-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3770(91)90038-7

- Barko, J.W., Smart, R.M., McFarland, D.G., Chen, R.L., 1988. Interrelationships between the growth of *Hydrilla verticillata* (Lf) Royle and sediment nutrient availability. Aquat. Bot. 32, 205-216. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3770(88)90116-7
- Berthon, V., Bouchez, A., Rimet, F., 2011. Using diatom life-forms and ecological guilds to assess organic pollution and trophic level in rivers: A case study of rivers in south-eastern France. Hydrobiologia 673, 259–271. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-011-0786-1
- Bonter, D.N., Gauthreaux, S.A., Donovan, T.M., 2009. Características de localidades de escala temporal para aves migrantes: Percepcíon remota con radar en la cuenca de los grandes lagos. Conserv. Biol. 23, 440–448. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.01085.x

Borowitzka, M., Lethbridge, R.C., 1989. Seagrass epiphytes. Elsevier Science Pub; Amsterdam.

- Bornette, G., Puijalon, S., 2011. Response of aquatic plants to abiotic factors: A review. Aquat. Sci. 73, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-010-0162-7
- Boström, B., Andersen, J.M., Fleischer, S., Jansson, M., 1988. Exchange of phosphorus across the sediment-water interface. In: Persson G., Jansson, M. (Eds.), Phosphorus in freshwater ecosystems. Springer, Dordrecht, pp. 229-244. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-

94-009-3109-1\_14

Brennan, A.K., Hoard, C.J., Duris, J.W., Ogdahl, M.E., Steinman, A.D., 2016. Water quality and hydrology of Silver Lake, Oceana County, Michigan, with emphasis on lake response to nutrient loading (No. 2015-5158). U.S. Geological Survey.

https://doi.org/10.3133/sir20155158

- Burkholder, J. M., 1996. Interactions of benthic algae with their substrata. Algal ecology-Freshwater benthic ecosystems. Academic Press, pp. 267-275.
- Burkholder, J.M., Wetzel, R.G., Klomparens, K.L., 1990. Direct comparison of phosphate uptake by adnate and loosely attached microalgae within an intact biofilm matrix. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 56, 2882-2890.
- Cambridge, M.L., Chiffings, A.W., Brittan, C., Moore, L., McComb, A.J., 1986. The loss of seagrass in Cockburn Sound, Western Australia. II. Possible causes of seagrass decline. Aquat. Bot. 24, 269-285. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3770(86)90062-8
- Campbell, M., Cooper, M.J., Friedman, K., Anderson, W.P., 2015. The economy as a driver of change in the Great Lakes–St. Lawrence River basin. J. Great Lakes Res. 41, 69-83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2014.11.016
- Carpenter, S.R., Caraco, N.F., Correll, D.L., Howarth, R.W., Sharpley, A.N., Smith, V.H., 1998. Nonpoint pollution of surface waters with phosphorus and nitrogen. Ecol. Appl. 8, 559– 568. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(1998)008[0559:NPOSWW]2.0.CO;2
- Cattaneo, A., Galanti, G., Gentinetta, S., Romo, S., 1998. Epiphytic algae and macroinvertebrates on submerged and floating-leaved macrophytes in an Italian lake. Freshw. Biol. 39, 725– 740. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2427.1998.00325.x

- Chambers, P.A., Kalff, J., 1987. Light and nutrients in the control of aquatic plant community structure. I. In situ experiments. J. Eco. 611-619.
- Chambers, P.A., Lacoul, P., Murphy, K.J., Thomaz, S.M., 2008. Global diversity of aquatic macrophytes in freshwater. In: Balian E.V., Lévêque C., Segers H., Martens K. (Eds.),
   Freshwater Animal Diversity Assessment. Springer, Dordrecht, pp. 9-26.
   https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-8259-7 2
- Chambers, P.A., Prepas, E.E., Bothwell, M.L., Hamilton, H.R., 1989. Roots versus shoots in nutrient uptake by aquatic macrophytes in flowing waters. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 46, 435–439. https://doi.org/10.1139/f89-058
- Dodds, W.K., 2003. The role of periphyton in phosphorus retention in shallow freshwater aquatic systems. J. Phycol. 39, 840-849. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1529-8817.2003.02081.x
- Dülger, E., Heidbüchel, P., Schumann, T., Mettler-Altmann, T., Hussner, A., 2017. Interactive effects of nitrate concentrations and carbon dioxide on the stoichiometry, biomass allocation and growth rate of submerged aquatic plants. Freshw. Biol. 62, 1094–1104. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12928
- Elser, J.J., Andersen, T., Baron, J.S., Bergström, A.K., Jansson, M.K., Nydick, K.R., Steger, L., Hessen, D.O., 2009. Shifts in lake N: P stoichiometry and nutrient limitation driven by atmospheric nitrogen deposition. Sci. 326, 835-837. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1176199
- Elser, J.J., Bracken, M.E.S., Cleland, E.E., Gruner, D.S., Harpole, W.S., Hillebrand, H., Ngai, J.T., Seabloom, E.W., Shurin, J.B., Smith, J.E., 2007. Global analysis of nitrogen and

phosphorus limitation of primary producers in freshwater, marine and terrestrial ecosystems. Ecol. Lett. 10, 1135–1142. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01113.x

- Eminson, D., Moss, B., 1980. The composition and ecology of periphyton communities in freshwaters: 1 the influence of host type and external environment on community composition. Br. Phycol. J. 15, 429-446. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071618000650431
- Erhard, D., Gross, E.M., 2006. Allelopathic activity of Elodea canadensis and Elodea nuttallii against epiphytes and phytoplankton. Aquat. Bot. 85, 203–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquabot.2006.04.002

Francis, C.A., Beman, J.M., Kuypers, M.M.M., 2007. New processes and players in the nitrogen cycle: The microbial ecology of anaerobic and archaeal ammonia oxidation. ISME J. 1, 19–27. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2007.8

- Grabas, G.P., Blukacz-Richards, A.E., Pernanen, S., 2012. Development of a submerged aquatic vegetation community index of biotic integrity for use in Lake Ontario coastal wetlands.
  J. Great Lakes Res. 38, 243-250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2012.02.014
- Grime, J.P., Crick, J.C., Rincon, J.E., 1986. The ecological significance of plasticity. In: Symposia of the Society for Experimental Biology. 49, 5-29.

Hilt, S., Gross, E.M., Hupfer, M., Morscheid, H., Mählmann, J., Melzer, A., Poltz, J., Sandrock, S.,
Scharf, E.M., Schneider, S., van de Weyer, K., 2006. Restoration of submerged
vegetation in shallow eutrophic lakes - A guideline and state of the art in Germany.
Limnologica. 36, 155-171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.limno.2006.06.001

Jones, J.I., Young, J.O., Eaton, J.W., Moss, B., 2002. The influence of nutrient loading, dissolved
inorganic carbon and higher trophic levels on the interaction between submerged plants and periphyton. J. Ecol. 90, 12–24. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0022-0477.2001.00620.x

- Jude, D.J., Pappas, J., 1992. Fish Utilization of Great Lakes Coastal Wetlands. J. Great Lakes Res. 4, 651-672. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0380-1330(92)71328-8
- Isely, P., Isely, E.S., Hause, C., Steinman, A.D., 2018. A socioeconomic analysis of habitat restoration in the Muskegon Lake area of concern. J. Great Lakes Res. 44, 330-339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2017.12.002
- Larson, J.H., Trebitz, A.S., Steinman, A.D., Wiley, M.J., Mazur, M.C., Pebbles, V., Braun, H.A., Seelbach, P.W., 2013. Great Lakes rivermouth ecosystems: Scientific synthesis and management implications. J. Great Lakes Res. 39, 513–524. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2013.06.002
- Leggett, C.G., Bockstael, N.E., 2000. Evidence of the effects of water quality on residential land prices. J. Environ. Econ. Manag. 39, 121-144. https://doi.org/10.1006/jeem.1999.1096
- Madsen, T.V., Cedergreen, N., 2002. Sources of nutrients to rooted submerged macrophytes growing in a nutrient-rich stream. Freshw. Bio. 47, 283-291. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2427.2002.00802.x
- Madsen, J.D., Chambers, P.A., James, W.F., Koch, E.W., Westlake, D.F., 2001. The interaction between water movement, sediment dynamics and submersed macrophytes. Hydrobiologia. 444, 71-84. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1017520800568
- Mei, X., Zhang, X., 2015. Effects of N and P additions to water column on growth of Vallisneria natans. J. Aquat. Plant Manag. 53, 36–43.

Moeller, R.E., Burkholder, J.M., Wetzel, R.G., 1988. Significance of sedimentary phosphorus to a

rooted submersed macrophyte (*Najas flexilis* (Willd.) Rostk. and Schmidt) and its algal epiphytes. Aquat, Bot. 32, 261-281.https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3770(88)90120-9

- Mulholland, P.J., Steinman, A.D., Marzolf, E.R., Hart, D.R., DeAngelis, D.L., 1994. Effect of periphyton biomass on hydraulic characteristics and nutrient cycling in streams. Oecologia 98, 40-47. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00326088
- Nelson, W.G., 2017. Development of an epiphyte indicator of nutrient enrichment: A critical evaluation of observational and experimental studies. Ecol. Indic. 79, 207–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.04.034
- Nogaro, G., Steinman, A.D., 2014. Influence of ecosystem engineers on ecosystem processes is mediated by lake sediment properties. Oikos 123, 500-512. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2013.00978.x
- O'Connell, J.L., Byrd, K.B., Kelly, M., 2015. A hybrid model for mapping relative differences in belowground biomass and root: Shoot ratios using spectral reflectance, foliar N and plant biophysical data within coastal marsh. Remote Sens. 7, 16480–16503. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs71215837
- Ogdahl, M.E., Steinman, A.D., 2015. Factors influencing macrophyte growth and recovery following shoreline restoration activity. Aquat. Bot. 120, 363-370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquabot.2014.10.006
- Öterler, B., 2017. Community structure, temporal and spatial changes of epiphytic algae on three different submerged macrophytes in a shallow lake. Polish J. Environ. Stud. 26, 2147–2158. https://doi.org/10.15244/pjoes/70232

Périllon, C., Hilt, S., 2019. Groundwater discharge gives periphyton a competitive advantage

over macrophytes. Aquat. Bot. 154, 72-80.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquabot.2019.01.004

- Phillips, G.L., Eminson, D., Moss, B., 1978. A mechanism to account for macrophyte decline in progressively eutrophicated freshwaters. Aquat. Bot. 4, 103-126. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3770(78)90012-8
- Potapova, M., Charles, D.F., 2003. Distribution of benthic diatoms in U.S. rivers in relation to conductivity and ionic composition. Freshw. Biol. 48, 1311–1328.

https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2427.2003.01080.x

- Rosemond, A.D., Mulholland, P.J., Elwood, J.W., 1993. Top-Down and Bottom-Up Control of Stream Periphyton: Effects of Nutrients and Herbivores. Ecology 74, 1264–1280. https://doi.org/10.2307/1940495
- Sand-Jensen, K., Borum, J., 1991. Interactions among phytoplankton, periphyton, and macrophytes in temperate freshwaters and estuaries. Aquat. Bot. 41, 137-175. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3770(91)90042-4
- Saunders, D.L., Kalff, J., 2001. Nitrogen retention in wetlands, lakes and rivers. Hydrobiologia 443, 205–212. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1017506914063
- Schneider, S.C., Lawniczak, A.E., Picińska-Faltynowicz, J., Szoszkiewicz, K., 2012. Do macrophytes, diatoms and non-diatom benthic algae give redundant information?
   Results from a case study in Poland. Limnologica 42, 204–211.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.limno.2011.12.001
- Schock, N.T., Murry, B.A., Uzarski, D.G., 2014. Impacts of agricultural drainage outlets on great lakes coastal wetlands. Wetlands 34, 297–307. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-013-

0486-x

- Short, F.T., 1987. Effects of sediment nutrients on seagrasses: Literature review and mesocosm experiment. Aquat. Bot. 27, 41–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3770(87)90085-4
- Sierszen, M.E., Morrice, J.A., Trebitz, A.S., Hoffman, J.C., 2012. A review of selected ecosystem services provided by coastal wetlands of the Laurentian Great Lakes. Aqu. Eco. Health and Manag. 15, 92-106. https://doi.org/10.1080/14634988.2011.624970
- Søndergaard, M., Jensen, P.J., Jeppesen, E., 2001. Retention and internal loading of phosphorus in shallow, eutrophic lakes. Scientific World J. 1, 427–442.

https://doi.org/10.1100/tsw.2001.72

- Søndergaard, M., Moss, B., 1998. Impact of submerged macrophytes on phytoplankton in shallow freshwater lakes. In: Jeppesen E., Søndergaard M., Søndergaard M., Christoffersen K. (Eds.), The structuring role of submerged macrophytes in lakes. Springer, New York, pp. 115-132. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-0695-8\_6
- Song, Y.Z., Wang, J.Q., Gao, Y.X., 2017. Effects of epiphytic algae on biomass and physiology of *Myriophyllum spicatum* L. with the increase of nitrogen and phosphorus availability in the water body. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 24, 9548-9555.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-8604-6

Steinman, A.D., Cardinale, B.J., Munns Jr, W.R., Ogdahl, M.E., Allan, J.D., Angadi, T., Bartlett, S.,
Brauman, K., Byappanahalli, M., Doss, M., Dupont, D., Johns, A., Kashian, D., Lupi, F.,
McIntyre, P., Miller, T., Moore, M., Logsdon Muenich, R., Poudel, R., Price, J.,
Provencher, B., Rea, J., Renzetti, S., Sohngen, B., Washburn, E., 2017. Ecosystem services
in the Great Lakes. J. Great Lakes Res. 43, 161-168.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2017.02.004

- Steinman, A.D., Mulholland, P.J., Hill, W.R., 1992. Functional responses associated with growth form in stream algae. J. North Am. Benthol. Soc. 11, 229-243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2017.02.004
- Steinman, A.D., Ogdahl, M.E., 2011. Does converting agricultural fields to wetlands retain or release P? J. North Am. Benthol. Soc. 30, 820–830. https://doi.org/10.1899/10-106.1
- Steinman, A.D., Ogdahl, M., Rediske, R., Ruetz, C.R., Biddanda, B.A., Nemeth, L., 2008. Current status and trends in Muskegon Lake, Michigan. J. Great Lakes Res. 34, 169-188. https://doi.org/10.3394/0380-1330(2008)34[169:CSATIM]2.0.CO;2
- Strand, J.A., Weisner, S.E.B., 2001. Morphological plastic responses to water depth and wave exposure in an aquatic plant (*Myriophyllum spicatum*). J. Ecol. 89, 166–175. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2745.2001.00530.x
- Tang, Y., Fu, B., Zhang, X., Liu, Z., 2019. Nutrient addition delivers growth advantage to *Hydrilla* verticillata over Vallisneria natans: A mesocosm study. Knowl. Manag. Aquat. Ecosyst.
   420, 12. https://doi.org/10.1051/kmae/2018046
- Thomaz, S.M., Cunha, E.R. da, 2010. The role of macrophytes in habitat structuring in aquatic ecosystems: methods of measurement, causes and consequences on animal assemblages' composition and biodiversity. Acta Limnol. Bras. 22, 218-236. https://doi.org/10.4322/actalb.02202011
- Uzarski, D.G., Brady, V.J., Cooper, M.J., Wilcox, D.A., Albert, D.A., Axler, R.P., Bostwick, P., Brown, T.N., Ciborowski, J.J.H., Danz, N.P., Gathman, J.P., Gehring, T.M., Grabas, G.P., Garwood, A., Howe, R.W., Johnson, L.B., Lamberti, G.A., Moerke, A.H., Murry, B.A.,

Niemi, G.J., Norment, C.J., Ruetz, C.R., Steinman, A.D., Tozer, D.C., Wheeler, R., O'Donnell, T.K., Schneider, J.P., 2017. Standardized Measures of Coastal Wetland Condition: Implementation at a Laurentian Great Lakes Basin-Wide Scale. Wetlands 37, 15–32. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-016-0835-7

Vadeboncoeur, Y., McIntyre, P.B., Vander Zanden, M.J., 2011. Borders of Biodiversity: Life at the Edge of the World's Large Lakes. Bioscience 61, 526–537.

https://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2011.61.7.7

- Vadeboncoeur, Y., Steinman, A.D., 2002. Periphyton Function in Lake Ecosystems. Sci. World J. 2, 1449–1468. https://doi.org/10.1100/tsw.2002.294
- Vitousek, P.M., Cassman, K.E.N., Cleveland, C., Crews, T., Field, C.B., Grimm, N.B., Howarth, R.W., Marino, R., Martinelli, L., Rastetter, E.B., Sprent, J.I., 2002. Towards an ecological understanding of biological nitrogen fixation. In: Boyer, E.W., Howarth, R.W. (Eds.), The nitrogen cycle at regional to global scales. Springer, Dordrecht, pp. 1-45. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-3405-9\_1
- Young, E.B., Lavery, P.S., Van Elven, B., Dring, M.J., Berges, J.A., 2005. Nitrate reductase activity in macroalgae and its vertical distribution in macroalgal epiphytes of seagrasses. Mar. Eco. Prog. Ser. 288, 103-114. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps288103

Wetzel, R.G., 2001. Limnology: lake and river ecosystems. gulf professional publishing; Huston.

Whittier, T.R., Paulsen, S.G., Larsen, D.P., Peterson, S.A., Herlihy, A.T., Kaufmann, P.R., 2002.
Indicators of Ecological Stress and Their Extent in the Population of Northeastern Lakes:
A Regional-Scale Assessment. Bioscience 52, 235-247. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2002)052[0235:ioesat]2.0.co;2

#### Chapter 2

# Long-term Impacts of Shoreline Restoration on Macrophyte and Epiphytic Algae Communities

Macrophytes and their epiphytic algal communities are critical components of the biologically productive littoral zones of lakes. Both communities respond to changes in light, nutrients, and physical habitat, and are increasingly used as bioindicators to detect anthropogenic alterations to aquatic ecosystems. With an industrial past, Muskegon Lake (MI) has undergone significant human disturbances, such as shoreline hardening and sediment contamination. Shoreline restoration during 2010 and 2011 presented an opportunity to use macrophytes as indicators of short-term (2009-2012) and longer-term (2018) post-restoration ecosystem status. Two restored habitats and one reference habitat were sampled during the five survey years along established transects perpendicular to the shoreline.

Significant variation in bathymetric slope (%) and hydrologic exposure (i.e., wind and wave index) among the three habitats influenced macrophyte richness, density, and biomass among all survey years. Despite substantial changes in water level, precipitation, and air temperature among survey years, restoration increased habitat quality at the two restored habitats compared to the reference habitat. A 1 m water level increase between 2012 and 2018 was associated with declines in macrophyte metrics, including a decrease in 2018 macrophyte richness at all transects. Greater epiphytic algal density and biomass, associated with high light and low wind/wave exposure, also may have impacted macrophyte biomass declines. Our findings suggest future restoration projects should consider restoration locations with habitat characteristics that optimize littoral rehabilitation (i.e., gentle slope and intermediate exposure)

and can maintain macrophyte community metrics (i.e., richness, density, and biomass) through future climatic changes.

**Keywords:** macrophytes; epiphytic algae; shoreline restoration; Great Lakes; coastal wetlands; Muskegon Lake

# Highlights

- Macrophyte metrics were evaluated to determine success of shoreline restoration
- Epiphytic algae were surveyed to determine biomass-related variation among habitats
- Macrophyte and algal dynamics were strongly influenced by physical habitat features
- Hydrologic changes also impacted macrophyte metrics
- Restoration potentially improved habitat quality but changing water levels conflated analysis

# 1. Introduction

Macrophyte communities provide multiple ecosystem services to littoral habitats in lakes including sediment stabilization, reduction of wave action, nutrient storage and cycling, and habitat refugia (Allen, 1971; Bornette and Puijalon, 2011; Thomaz and Cunha, 2010). Macrophytes are host to a diverse community residing both on the plants' surface and amongst their shoots and leaves; epiphytic algae are an ecologically significant group in this community because they cycle nutrients and form an energy base for aquatic food webs (Allen, 1971; Vadeboncoeur and Steinman, 2002).

Habitat characteristics associated with nutrient and light dynamics, such as sediment organic matter content (Squires and Lesack, 2003) and shoreline benthic gradient (Barko et al., 1991), often influence macrophyte presence and community structure (Eminson and Moss, 1980; Lacoul and Freedman, 2006). However, epiphytic algae's proximity to their host can reduce macrophyte resource availability by preventing dissolved materials, oxygen, carbon, and light from reaching the macrophyte (Allen, 1971; Eminson and Moss, 1980; Nelson, 2017; Sand-Jensen and Søndergaard, 1981).

Since macrophytes and their epiphytic algal communities reflect the quality of physical and chemical conditions in aquatic systems, both can be used as bioindicators of anthropogenic disturbances and restoration initiatives. For example, the European Water Framework Directive uses algae (Ballesteros et al., 2007) and macrophytes (Penning et al., 2008) to assess ecological health. Macrophytes also are used to measure coastal wetland status across the Laurentian Great Lakes region (Grabas et al., 2012; Uzarski et al., 2017). Assessments of ecosystem change are critical for the advancement of adaptive management strategies, for improving restoration techniques, and for increasing the value of restoration to investors and the public (Palmer et al., 2007). Although restoration evaluation has increased in recent years, the effectiveness of restoration activities remains unclear, potentially due to relatively short monitoring periods compared to the timescale required for ecological changes (Suding, 2011; Wortley et al., 2013).

Anthropogenic disturbances caused by human development, industry, and the transportation of goods have resulted in lake dredging, shoreline hardening, and pollution runoff (Whittier et al., 2002). Evidence of industrial degradation is visible throughout the Great Lakes region, which has lost three fourths of coastal habitats to development, with the remaining river mouth and littoral ecosystems designated as poor habitat quality (Larson et al., 2013). In Muskegon Lake, Michigan, historical industrialization negatively impacted 315 ha of natural shoreline, which was hardened with rip-rap, seawall, slag and slab wood, among other

materials (Steinman et al., 2008), resulting in the loss of numerous ecosystem services. The disturbed littoral habitat made macrophytes an ideal focal point of restoration.

Macrophyte surveys occurred pre- (2009-2010) and post-shoreline restoration (2011-2012) in Muskegon Lake, from which Ogdahl and Steinman (2015) concluded that distinguishing restoration responses from environmental effects required a longer-term data set because of the physical disturbance associated with restoration efforts. Therefore, the first objective of this study was to determine, based on additional monitoring in 2018, if shoreline restoration had effectively improved habitat quality for macrophyte communities. Restored habitats were compared to a reference habitat with more natural shoreline, to separate the effects of environmental change from those associated with restoration activities. We hypothesized that shoreline restoration had increased macrophyte biomass, density, and richness apart from the influence of annual environmental variation.

Since macrophyte interactions with epiphytic algae can influence macrophyte growth characteristics, an epiphytic algae survey took place in 2018 at the same habitats as the macrophyte survey. The second objective of this study was to determine how epiphytic algal community structure was influenced by environmental variables (dissolved oxygen [DO], turbidity [NTU], pH, temperature [T], specific conductance [SC], redox potential [ORP], light extinction coefficient, wind index [WI], and water column nutrient concentrations) across the restored and reference habitats. We hypothesized that epiphytic algal density and chlorophyll-*a* (Chl-*a*) would vary among transects due to differences in environmental conditions, which in turn would influence macrophyte composition and abundance.

# 2. Methods

## 2.1 Habitat description

Muskegon Lake is a ~17 km<sup>2</sup> drowned river mouth lake located in central West Michigan, which receives inflow from the 7060 km<sup>2</sup> Muskegon River watershed, and connects directly into Lake Michigan (Figure 2.1). Environmental degradation began in the 1850's as the lumber industry developed along the lake's shoreline, with peak operation involving 47 active sawmills. Foundries and factories (i.e., metal finishing plants, a paper mill, and petrochemical storage facilities) concentrated along the south shoreline replaced the lumber industry in the early 20<sup>th</sup> century. These industries discarded slab wood, concrete, foundry slag, and other unwanted materials into the lake. Two centuries of urban development hardened 65% (32.64 km) of the entire shoreline with a disproportionately higher amount along the south shoreline (78%) compared to the north shoreline (45%), which has more residential and natural areas than the south (Steinman et al., 2008).

In response to habitat degredation and the listing of Muskegon Lake as a Great Lakes Area of Concern (AOC) in 1985, restoration took place in 2010 and 2011 to renaturalize habitats along the lake's south shoreline (Ogdahl and Steinman, 2015). Restoration included: (1) the removal of unwanted fill debris at (shoreline) or below (underwater) the ordinary high water mark, (2) shoreline vegetation planting, and (3) shoreline wetland restoration. After softening 4.17 km of the 49.99 km shoreline, 56.96% (28.47 km) remains hardened. During 2009-2012 and in 2018, two restored habitats (Heritage Landing and Grand Trunk) and one reference habitat (Northwest Reference) were surveyed (Figure 2.1) (Ogdahl and Steinman, 2015). In

addition to the 2018 macrophyte survey, epiphytic algae communities on the macrophyte species *Vallisneria americana* were sampled at each of the three habitats.

#### 2.2 Field protocols

A full description of the macrophyte survey methodology is included in Ogdahl and Steinman (2015). Briefly, macrophyte surveys took place in August during 2009-2012 and from July 16<sup>th</sup>-23<sup>rd</sup> in 2018. Sampling in 2018 occurred one month earlier than previous sampling events to accommodate the project's timeline. At each of the three survey locations (hereafter referred to as transects), a transect was established perpendicular to the shoreline and separated into standard distance categories for sampling. Transect lengths were determined by the farthest point of macrophyte growth defined as the last site of macrophyte presence before: (1) two consecutive sites with no presence, or (2) the absence of macrophytes at a site greater than 4.5 m deep, which is the maximum growth depth for macrophytes in Muskegon Lake (Ogdahl and Steinman, 2015). Restoration effects were expected to extend past the initial restoration location regardless of transect length, justifying the inclusion of the entire transect length during surveying. At each transect site, macrophyte taxa relative abundance (0-100%) was determined and overall plant cover was determined using a 0-4 ranking system: 0 = Bare; 1 = 1–25%; 2 = 26–50%; 3 = 51–75%; or 4 = 76–100%. Water depth also was measured at each transect site (Ogdahl and Steinman, 2015).

Macrophyte biomass and sediment organic matter (OM) were determined at one randomly chosen site within each selected category: 0-20 m from shore, 20-50 m, 50-100 m, 200-300 m, 300-400 m, 400-500 m, etc. (Ogdahl and Steinman, 2015). Randomly chosen sites were determined in 2009 and the same general locations were sampled for all survey years.

The same field personnel conducted surveys in 2009-2012 to exclude interpersonal variation; however, 2018 surveys were conducted by new personnel due to staff changes.

Epiphytic algae were not sampled in 2009-2012 but were collected as part of the 2018 macrophyte survey. Epiphytic algae were collected from the macrophyte *V. americana*, a subdominant and ubiquitous macrophyte in Muskegon Lake. *V. americana*'s long leaf blades with simple morphology made this taxon a better candidate for ensuring full removal of the epiphytic algal community instead of the dominant *Ceratophyllum demersum*, which contains morphologically complex and brittle leaflets. Along each transect, one site at a depth of 1 m was selected for sampling, where *V. americana* leaf blades almost reached the water's surface. Ten *V. americana* plants were randomly sampled from a 10 m-diameter area, approximately 5 m in any direction of the boat. The top 20 cm of each macrophyte was removed and placed on ice for transport to the lab for epiphytic algae analyses. Due to variation in bathymetric slope among the three transects, sampling sites were located at different distances from the shoreline to maintain the ~1 m water depth.

Physical and chemical variables also were measured at each epiphytic algae collection site. Water quality variables (DO, NTU, pH, T, SC, ORP) were measured with a YSI 6600 sonde. NTU was determined at all sites along each transect and averaged for the entire transect. A 1 L water sample was collected for analysis of water column soluble reactive phosphorus (SRP), total phosphorus (TP), total kjeldahl nitrogen (TKN), and nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>). Light intensity of photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) was measured using a Li-Cor quantum sensor. PAR measurements were used to quantify the light extinction coefficient.

### 2.3 Laboratory processing

Macrophyte, water, and sediment samples were refrigerated until processing. Macrophyte biomass was cleaned of sediment and *Dreissena* spp. mussels, and then dried at 85 °C for 96 hrs to determine plant dry weight. Dry weight also was determined for *V. americana* segments used for epiphytic algal removal. Sediments were then ashed at 550 °C for 4 hrs to determine OM concentrations (%), considered the difference between pre- and postcombustion sediment weights (Ogdahl and Steinman, 2015).

For the epiphytic algae survey, SRP, TKN, and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> subsamples were filtered through 0.45 μm acid washed filters. TP was digested with persulfate and stored at 4 °C. SRP, TP, and TKN were analyzed using a SEAL AQ2 discrete automated analyzer (APHA, 1998) and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>/NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> was analyzed with ion chromatography on a Dionex ICS-2100 (APHA, 1998). For epiphytic algae removal, both sides of the *V. americana* blades were scrubbed with a toothbrush, and toothbrush bristles and leaf blades were rinsed with distilled water. Each macrophyte had its own respective toothbrush to limit epiphytic algae community contamination between samples. Photos of leaf blades were taken in order to determine macrophyte surface area for epiphytic algae colonization using ImageJ software (Schneider et al., 2012).

An aliquot of the toothbrush-removed epiphytic algae was used to determine Chl-*a* concentrations by filtering the sample through a GF/F filter (Whatman®) and freezing at –18 °C. Within 30 days of freezing, filters were ground and steeped in 90% buffered acetone for 24 hours in the dark. After centrifuging, Chl-*a* was analyzed using a Shimadzu UV-1601 spectrophotometer (Steinman et al., 2017). A 50 mL subsample of epiphytic algae was preserved with 1% Lugols solution and used for non-diatom algae identification in a Palmer-

Maloney nanoplankton counting chamber. Permanent slides for diatom identification were created by: boiling 10 mL of the 50 mL subsample in 30% hydrogen peroxide with potassium permanganate for 1 hour; performing a series of distilled water rinses to remove oxidation byproducts; evaporating the sample onto a coverslip; and mounting coverslips onto a microscope slide using heat and Naphrax<sup>©</sup>. All algae were identified to genus using a Nikon H550L Eclipse 80i light microscope.

## 2.4 Data analyses

Macrophyte total taxa richness was calculated for each transect and survey year. Grass and tree species recorded along transects were excluded from richness values. Filamentous green algae and *Chara* spp. were included in macrophyte biomass calculations during the previous survey and therefore included in this study's richness values; filamentous green algae were treated as one taxon for richness calculations. Macrophyte density (g/m<sup>2</sup>) and mean cover rank were determined for each transect and survey year (Ogdahl and Steinman, 2015). For this study, the State of Michigan's Coefficient of Conservatism (C-value) was applied to each collected taxon; a range from 0-10 represented the probability a species will occur within an undisturbed habitat. Taxa with a C-value=0 were either invasive or more likely to be found in highly degraded habitat while C-value=10 indicated taxa were more likely to be found in an ecologically healthy habitat, similar to pre-European settlement conditions (Bourdaghs et al., 2006). Mean C-values were determined for each transect per survey year and a mean C-value was determined for each restoration state: reference, pre-restoration, and post-restoration.

Hydrologic exposure, defined as bathymetric slope (%) and WI, was calculated for each transect and survey year. WI was calculated using a modified approach from Keddy (1982).

Fetch was measured at the origin and end of each transect along the four cardinal and four ordinal directions. The percentage of time (% frequency) wind speed exceeded 19.3 kmph was determined for each direction and summed. Transect origin and end WI were then averaged for each transect during all five survey years (Ogdahl and Steinman, 2015). Low WI values indicated protection from wind and wave action. Additional environmental variables were calculated for each survey year: total precipitation and mean air temperature during the growing season, and the change in Lake Michigan water level (WL) compared to the long-term mean (1917-2018) (CO-OPS, 2019; NCEI, 2019).

In addition to the macrophyte density, richness, and cover rank variables included in Ogdahl and Steinman's (2015) statistical analyses, macrophyte taxon-weighted relative abundance and total biomass were included in this study. Weighted relative abundance incorporated percent abundance and site cover rank into its value to increase the accuracy of an individual taxon's dominance within a transect. This way, a taxon with higher cover ranks contributed more towards the overall transect abundance than a taxon with lower cover ranks. To calculate weighted relative abundance, an individual taxon's relative abundance (0-100%) at a certain site was multiplied by its corresponding cover rank (0-4). The sum of all site-weighted relative abundances along a transect were then divided by the sum of all cover ranks in the transect to get a taxon's transect weighted relative abundance. Macrophyte total biomass (kg) per transect was calculated by multiplying transect total density by the total transect area.

Ogdahl and Steinman (2015) analyzed differences in physical variables (WI, slope, and OM) among transects using one-way ANOVAs. In this study, restoration state was added as a categorical variable to ANOVA analyses along with 2018 data; differences in physical

parameters among transects and restoration states were tested using a type II two-way ANOVA with the Anova() function, a part of the *car* package in R (Fox and Weisberg, 2011). When significance was detected, a pairwise t-test with Bonferroni correction was used. Restoration states were defined as: (1) reference, which included 2009-2012 and 2018 data collected from Northwest Reference, (2) pre-restoration, which included 2009 and 2010 data collected from both restored transects, and (3) post-restoration, which included 2011, 2012, and 2018 data collected from both restored transects. Differences in the biological variables (total density, total biomass, total richness, and mean cover rank) among transects and restoration states also were tested using type II two-way ANOVAs and post-hoc pairwise t-tests. Normality was tested using Shapiro-Wilk, variance was tested using Levene's Test of equal variance, and all data were square-root transformed.

Principal component analyses (PCA) were performed to assess restoration-induced changes within the biological and environmental data, which incorporated prior survey years and the 2018 survey year. Biological data (total density, total biomass, total richness, and mean cover rank) and environmental data (OM, slope, total precipitation, air temperature [T], WI, transect length [L], and WL) were examined in separate PCAs among survey years (5 years: 2009-2012, 2018), transects (3 transects: Northwest Reference [NWRef], Heritage Landing [HertL], and Grand Trunk [GrandT]), and restoration states (3 states: pre-restoration, postrestoration, and reference). Relationships between biological and environmental data were evaluated using regression analysis, consistent with Ogdahl and Steinman (2015) analyses.

Epiphytic algal cell density (cells/mm<sup>2</sup>) was determined using algae counts and the volume of the Palmer Maloney nanoplankton counting chamber. Differences among transects

for Chl-*a* concentrations and cell density (cells/mm<sup>2</sup>) were tested using Kruskal-Wallis and a post-hoc Wilcoxon test with Bonferroni correction. Normality was tested using Shapiro-Wilk, variance was tested using Levene's Test of equal variance, and data were square-root transformed. Relationships between biological metrics (Chl-*a* and density) and environmental data (DO, ORP, pH, T, NTU, PAR, light extinction, WI, SC, Depth, TP, SRP, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, and TKN) were evaluated using regression analysis. All statistical analyses were performed using R version 3.5.2 (R Core Team, 2017).

# 3. Results

#### 3.1.1 Macrophytes: environmental variables

In 2018, Northwest Reference's transect length (defined as the last site with macrophytes before two consecutive sites with plant absence or a site greater than 4.5 m deep) was the shortest compared to 2009-2012, while both restored transects remained the same length from 2012 to 2018, despite increased water depths (Table 2.1); indeed, compared to 2012, mean water depth increased between 0.44 m (Northwest Reference) and 0.69 m (Heritage Landing) (Table 2.1).

Slope was steepest for all transects in 2018 compared to survey years 2009-2012; regardless of year, Heritage Landing had a significantly steeper slope than Northwest Reference or Grand Trunk (p <sub>Transect</sub> < 0.001, 2-way ANOVA, Table 2.1). In 2018, WI for Northwest Reference was lowest (i.e., low hydrologic exposure, 317.16) while Heritage Landing (44.62) and Grand Trunk (117.03) had intermediate WI compared to previous survey years (Table 2.1). Among all survey years, WI was significantly greatest at Northwest Reference and lowest at Heritage Landing (p <sub>Transect</sub> < 0.001, 2-way ANOVA, Table 2.1), although WI values declined

substantially at all three transects between 2012 and 2018. OM was greatest for Heritage Landing (9.37%) and Grand Trunk (25.47%) in 2018 and lowest for Northwest Reference (0.62%) in 2018 during the five survey years (Table 2.1). OM was significantly greatest at Grand Trunk and lowest at Northwest Reference for all survey years (p<sub>Transect</sub> = 0.002, 2-way ANOVA). Differences among restoration state and interactions for slope, OM, and WI were not significant (2-way ANOVA, Table 2.1).

Mean T in 2018 (17.6 °C) fell within the previous range (16.0-19.1 °C, Table 2.A.1). 2018 precipitation accumulation (47.19 cm) was the second highest recorded over the five years (30.18-53.52 cm, Table 2.A.1). 2009 mean water level (-0.09 m) was below the long-term mean and continued decreasing through 2012 (-0.27 m, -0.30 m, and -0.43 m, Table 2.A.1). However, the mean water level in 2018 was much higher than the long-term mean (+0.47 m). Water level increase was consistent with deeper transect water depths in 2018.

For the environmental PCA, WL, slope, L, and WI had the most explanatory power with the first two PC axes explaining 65.7% of the dataset's variation (Figure 2.2A). Along the PC1 axis, transect clusters were clearly separated, with slope, L, and WI having strong effects (Figure 2.2B). Along the PC2 axis, environmental data strongly separated clusters by survey year (Figure 2.2C). Survey years 2009, 2011, and 2018 were associated with higher WL, greater precipitation, higher OM content, and lower T. Sampling years 2010 and 2012 were associated with high T and lower total precipitation, OM, and WL. The restoration state reference cluster separated from the pre- and post-restoration clusters (Figure 2.2D).

#### 3.1.2 Macrophytes: biological factors and community composition

Northwest Reference's macrophyte richness was significantly greater than Heritage Landing's, with intermediate richness at Grand Trunk among survey years (p<sub>Transect</sub> = 0.04, 2way ANOVA, Figure 2.3A). Post-restoration, richness at all transects increased between 2011 and 2012, and then decreased in 2018 (Figure 2.3A). Macrophyte biomass also was significantly greatest at Northwest Reference, lowest at Heritage Landing, and intermediate at Grand Trunk (p<sub>Transect</sub> = 0.05, 2-way ANOVA, Figure 2.3B). Both macrophyte biomass and density increased at all transects between 2011 and 2012. However, responses varied across transects in 2018 (although not significantly); both values declined at Heritage Landing but increased at Northwest Reference and Grand Trunk (Figures 2.3B and 2.3C). Macrophyte cover rank also increased in 2018 at Northwest Reference and Grand Trunk, whereas Heritage Landing's cover rank decreased (Table 2.1).

For the biological PCA, the first two PC axes explained 81.5% of the dataset's variation and macrophyte density and richness had the greatest explanatory power (Figure 2.4A). Transect cluster Northwest Reference was associated with greater macrophyte richness, cover, and biomass while the Heritage Landing cluster was associated with lower macrophyte values (Figure 2.4B). Survey year clusters were superimposed on one another with slight separation of the 2011 cluster, associated with low macrophyte density and biomass (Figure 2.4C). Restoration state clusters also did not separate from one another (Figure 2.4D).

Macrophyte taxonomic composition was more similar between the restored transects than with the reference transect, and compared to 2009 to 2012 observations, Northwest Reference experienced a greater composition change in 2018 compared to Heritage Landing and Grand Trunk. *Typha* spp. (*augustifolia* x *glauca*, and *latifolia*), *V. americana*, and *Phragmites australis* were abundant at Northwest Reference from 2009 to 2012, but were rare or absent in 2018, when they were replaced by *Wolffia* spp. and *Nymphaea* spp. (Figure 2.5). In contrast, *Ceratophyllum demersum* was the most abundant macrophyte at both restored transects in all years, with Heritage Landing containing a greater relative abundance of *Elodea* spp. and Grand Trunk containing a greater relative abundance of *V. americana*.

C-values for all three transects increased from 2012 to 2018, although increases were not statistically significant due to high variance (Table 2.A.2). Comparing the Northwest Reference 2018 C-value (4.22) to those of the restored transects, Grand Trunk's C-value (4.19) almost reached reference quality standards; however, Heritage Landing's C-value (3.56) was lower than reference standards (Table 2.A.2). For restoration states, reference (4.08) had a Cvalue greater than pre- (3.70) and post-restoration (3.71).

#### 3.1.3 Macrophytes: biological and environmental interactions

The strongest correlations occurred between macrophyte density and richness with WI and slope. Macrophyte richness was positively correlated with WI and negatively correlated with slope (Table 2.2). Macrophyte density was positively associated with WI and negatively associated with precipitation and slope. When comparing environment variables together, WI had significantly negative correlations with slope and OM.

# 3.2 Epiphytic algae: environmental and biological variables

During the July 2018 sampling period, Heritage Landing had the greatest PAR at a 0.5 m depth and corresponding lowest light extinction (i.e., high-light availability) and NTU of the three transects (Table 2.A.3). WI was greatest at Northwest Reference (i.e., high wind and wave

exposure), lowest at Heritage Landing, and intermediate at Grand Trunk. Grand Trunk had the greatest  $NO_3^-$  and TKN concentrations and the highest SC compared to the other two transects. Sampling depth also was greatest at Grand Trunk followed by Heritage Landing and then Northwest Reference; sampling depth was used as a surrogate for water level. For 2018, epiphytic algal Chl-*a* concentrations (p < 0.001, Kruskal Wallis, Figure 2.6B) on *V. americana* were highest at Heritage Landing followed by Grand Trunk and Northwest Reference.

When comparing biological and environmental variables, Chl-*a* was not associated with N or P concentrations but did correlate with PAR, light extinction, and T (Table 2.3). Chl-*a* and DO were positively correlated at the time of sampling, which is expected given that algae evolve DO during photosynthesis. Epiphytic algal Chl-*a* was significantly positively correlated with SC and NTU and negatively correlated with WI. Epiphytic algal density was significantly negatively correlated with WI and light extinction and positively correlated with PAR (Table 2.3). Although not significant, water level was negatively correlated with density (p = 0.81,  $R^2 = -0.002$ ) and positively correlated with Chl-*a* (p = 0.20,  $R^2 = 0.06$ ).

#### 4. Discussion

#### 4.1 Macrophyte responses to restoration

The goal of continued transect monitoring was to determine the effectiveness of restoration in improving habitat quality, which involved the separation of macrophyte community responses to restoration from responses due to annual environmental variation. As noted in Ogdahl and Steinman (2015), macrophyte community spatial and temporal trends were dually associated with physical habitat (i.e., WI, transect length, and slope) and hydrologic

characteristics (i.e., water level and precipitation), respectively, making it difficult to discern macrophyte responses to restoration. By 2018, however, we have seen a minimal net increase in post-restoration habitat quality at Heritage Landing and Grand Trunk compared to the reference transect. Declines in restored transect macrophyte biomass and density in 2011 may have been influenced by initial restoration disturbance, visible in the biological PCA. Habitat quality (C-value) increases from 2012 to 2018 at Heritage Landing and Grand Trunk compared to little change at Northwest Reference suggests that restoration has, in part, positively impacted restored transect macrophyte communities.

When examining restored transects separately, Heritage Landing and Grand Trunk's macrophyte responses were associated with the time since, and nature of, restoration. Restoration during April 2011 at Heritage Landing included the physical removal of underwater fill material along the sampling transect; this may account for low macrophyte density and biomass at Heritage Landing in 2011 and the subsequent habitat quality decrease in 2012. Less disruptive restoration at Grand Trunk in June 2010, adjacent to the sampling transect, may have influenced the less drastic macrophyte density and biomass declines in 2011 and subsequent increases in density, biomass, and habitat quality in 2012 and 2018.

Physical habitat similarities between Grand Trunk and Northwest Reference compared to Heritage Landing for all survey years may have facilitated Grand Trunk macrophyte community biological variables in reaching reference-quality standards. Gentle slopes and longer transect lengths at Grand Trunk and Northwest Reference likely increased habitat availability and heterogeneity (i.e., depth and light regimes) for different macrophyte morphologies, promoting increases in macrophyte richness, density, and biomass at those two

transects (Duarte and Kalff, 1990). The Heritage Landing site was protected from wind and wave action in a shielded embayment while Grand Trunk and Northwest Reference were partially or not protected by an embayment, respectively, increasing their WI values. High WI and sediment OM at Grand Trunk and Northwest Reference may have increased habitat for less competitive macrophyte species (Wilson and Keddy, 1986) and prevented monodominance, also increasing macrophyte biomass and richness compared to Heritage Landing. This may explain why richness and biomass were positively correlated with WI in Muskegon Lake despite the usual negative correlation found in other lentic systems (Duarte and Kalff, 1986; Riis and Hawes, 2003).

Although environmental variables naturally shift, extreme precipitation events, temperature changes, and water level fluctuations are predicted to increase in frequency due to climate change (Havens and Steinman, 2013; Notaro et al., 2015). Water level increases can reduce light availability for macrophytes (Chow-Fraser et al., 1998) and precipitation can increase dissolved organic carbon loading, reducing light transmittance (Chen et al., 2016). Muskegon Lake macrophytes responded to increased water level or precipitation (2009, 2011, and 2018) with a decrease in macrophyte richness, especially evident during the 1 m water level rise from 2012 to 2018, when the emergent macrophytes *P. australis* and *Typha* spp. were absent at Grand Trunk and Northwest Reference compared to previous survey years. Emergent macrophyte physiological requirements are more easily surpassed by rising water levels than other morphologies (Zohary and Ostrovsky, 2011), inhibiting emergent plant growth and seed germination (Coops and Van Der Velde, 1995; Hudon et al., 2005) and decreasing overall habitat richness. A decrease in Heritage Landing's macrophyte biomass, density, and cover rank in 2018, while these variables increased at Grand Trunk and Northwest Reference, may again be a product of physical habitat characteristics. Heritage Landing's steep slope, potentially reducing light availability, may have decreased habitat optima for macrophytes, prompting a negative response to rising water levels. Positive macrophyte responses at Grand Trunk and Northwest Reference in 2018 were likely influenced by other unmeasured environmental variables and in part by restoration at Grand Trunk. Future water level rises may plausibly decrease macrophyte biomass, density, and cover rank at Grand Trunk and Northwest Reference as the quality of macrophyte growing conditions declines.

## 4.2 Epiphytic algal dynamics among transects

Besides water level and precipitation potentially reducing light availability to macrophytes, increases in epiphytic algal density ( $\mu$ g/cm<sup>2</sup>) can damage their macrophyte host by decreasing photosynthetic rate or increasing leaf loss; epiphytic algal density differences among transects in Muskegon Lake may have been sufficient to negatively impact macrophytes (Asaeda et al., 2004). Greater epiphytic algal biomass and density on *V. americana* at Heritage Landing, with the lowest overall macrophyte community density and biomass, supported epiphytic algae as an inhibitor to macrophyte growth. Northwest Reference and Grand Trunk had similar low epiphytic algal densities and biomass levels where macrophyte communities were more dense; it is possible that yearly variation in epiphytic algal communities at Grand Trunk more closely followed the reference transect compared to Heritage Landing; however, further monitoring would be required.

In terms of environmental influences on epiphytic algae, WI increase was potentially responsible for dislodging epiphytic algae with weak attachment features from their host macrophyte (Keddy, 1982; Strand and Weisner, 1996; Strand and Weisner, 2001). A subsequent increase in light attenuation after algal detachment may explain greater macrophyte density and richness where WI was high, in contrast to the usual view that physical disturbance causes leaf breakage or plant uprooting, harming the macrophyte. The dominance of *Cocconeis* at Northwest Reference, an adnate-attached diatom that can withstand disturbance driven environments (Berthon et al., 2011; Biggs et al., 1998), supported hydrologic exposure as a main driver of epiphytic algal community structure. The lowest *Cocconeis* relative abundance occurred at Heritage Landing, which was instead dominated by the colonial diatom Fragliaria and filamentous Bulbochaete, which favor low-disturbance regimes (Berthon et al., 2011). A higher light extinction coefficient at Northwest Reference (i.e., low light availability), lower PAR at a 0.5 m depth, and greater turbidity also could have further reduced epiphytic algal biomass and density (Hillebrand, 2005; Steinman et al., 1992; Sultana et al., 2004). Grazing invertebrate presence may have impacted epiphytic algal community structure (Jones et al., 2002); however, this biological interaction was beyond the scope of our study.

# 4.3 Restoration impacts and future management implications

The benefits of shoreline recovery using macrophytes includes the repair of ecosystem services, the improvement of macroinvertebrate density and diversity, and the facilitation of fish community growth, thereby restoring littoral species interactions and food web structure (Brauns et al., 2011). Naturalized shoreline could also optimize lake esthetic appeal, influencing increases in lakeside property values (Leggett and Bockstael, 2000) and stimulating recreational

usage through tourism and sport fishing (Campbell et al., 2015). Enhanced physical allure of restoration alone caused a projected \$11.9 million housing increase within the Muskegon community (Isely et al., 2018). The improvement of repaired shoreline ecological integrity has also begun to stimulate economic growth for the local community and is calculated to generate six times the original cost of restoration (\$10 million spent) (Isely et al., 2018).

Continued long-term monitoring has indicated that restored transects have improved in habitat quality; however, improvement was neither strong nor consistent, likely a result of substantial environmental changes among survey years. Based on our results, managers should anticipate variation in macrophyte response to restoration among habitats. In addition, monitoring timeframes should be extended if habitat recovery is delayed by changing environmental conditions. We recognize that restoration projects are subject to multiple pressures, with both funding and available locations being primary considerations. All things being equal, restoration projects should evaluate all potential habitats and choose locations with morphometric characteristics that optimize implemented improvements and can successfully adapt to climatic-scale variations (Lake, 2013). We suggest that habitats with gentle slopes, intermediate light availability (i.e., PAR and light extinction), and intermediate WI would be ideal for shoreline restoration, and would help mitigate epiphytic algal growth on their host macrophyte. Since shoreline projects often include multiple goals rarely centered around macrophytes, choosing habitats such as these will help maximize macrophyte community rejuvenation and effectively recover abiotic and biotic interactions within a littoral zone.

# Acknowledgments

Funding for this research project was provided by the NOAA Habitat Focus Area grant awarded to the West Michigan Shoreline Regional Development Commission (WMSRDC). Additional funding was provided by the Lake Grant from the Michigan Chapter of the North American Lake Management Society (McNALMS), the Presidential Research Grant from Grand Valley State University, the Graduate Megan E. Cook Scholarship from the Michigan Lake Stewardship Association (MLSA), and the Environmental Scholarship from the West Michigan Air and Waste Management Association (WMAWMA). The authors gratefully acknowledge the support of our project partners: WMSRDC, Muskegon Lake Watershed Partnership, Muskegon River Watershed Assembly, and the Great Lakes Commission. We thank Maggie Oudsema, Rachel Orzechowski, Emily Kindervater, and Mike Hassett for field work and laboratory assistance. We also thank Brian Scull for his help with nutrient analysis and Dr. Sarah Hamsher with voucher algae identification. Previous sampling efforts for Muskegon Lake macrophytes were completed by Maggie Oudsema, Mary Ogdahl, Brian Hanson, Eric Tidquist, and James Smit. Maggie Oudsema, Whitney Nelson, Kelli Johnson, and Sara Damm assisted with previous plant and sediment processing. Maggie Oudsema, Kelli Johnson, and Anna Harris entered and organized prior data. Geraldine Nogaro previously helped with statistical analyses and Dr. Mark Luttenton assisted with voucher macrophyte identification.

## References

- Allen, H. L., 1971. Primary productivity, chemo-organotrophy, and nutritional interactions of epiphytic algae and bacteria on macrophytes in the littoral of a lake. Eco. Monographs 41, 97-127. https://doi.org/10.2307/1942387
- Apha, A., 1998. Wef. Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater. 21, 1378.
- Asaeda, T., Sultana, M., Manatunge, J., Fujino, T., 2004. The effect of epiphytic algae on the growth and production of *Potamogeton perfoliatus* L. in two light conditions. Environ. Exper. Bot. 52, 225-238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2004.02.001
- Ballesteros, E., Torras, X., Pinedo, S., García, M., Mangialajo, L., de Torres, M., 2007. A new methodology based on littoral community cartography dominated by macroalgae for the implementation of the European Water Framework Directive. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 55, 172–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2006.08.038
- Barko, J.W., Gunnison, D., Carpenter, S.R., 1991. Sediment interactions with submersed macrophyte growth and community dynamics. Aquat. Bot. 41, 41-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3770(91)90038-7
- Berthon, V., Bouchez, A., Rimet, F., 2011. Using diatom life-forms and ecological guilds to assess organic pollution and trophic level in rivers: a case study of rivers in south-eastern France. Hydrobiologia 673, 259-271. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-011-0786-1
- Biggs, B. J., Stevenson, R. J., Lowe, R. L., 1998. A habitat matrix conceptual model for stream periphyton. Archiv fur Hydrobiologie 143, 21-56.

Bornette, G., Puijalon, S., 2011. Response of aquatic plants to abiotic factors: A review. Aquat.

Sci. 73, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-010-0162-7

- Bourdaghs, M., Johnston, C.A., Regal, R.R., 2006. Properties and performance of the Floristic Quality Index in Great Lakes coastal wetlands. Wetl. 23, 718-735. https://doi.org/10.1672/0277-5212(2006)26[718:papotf]2.0.co;2
- Brauns, M., Gücker, B., Wagner, C., Garcia, X.F., Walz, N., Pusch, M.T., 2011. Human lakeshore development alters the structure and trophic basis of littoral food webs. J. Appl. Ecol. 48, 916–925. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2011.02007.x
- Campbell, M., Cooper, M.J., Friedman, K., Anderson, W.P., 2015. The economy as a driver of change in the Great Lakes–St. Lawrence River basin. J. Great Lakes Res. 41,69-83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2014.11.016
- Chen, J., Cao, T., Zhang, X., Xi, Y., Ni, L., Jeppesen, E., 2016. Differential photosynthetic and morphological adaptations to low light affect depth distribution of two submersed macrophytes in lakes. Sci. Rep. 6, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep34028
- Chow-Fraser, P., Lougheed, V., Le Thiec, V., Crosbie, B., Simser, L., Lord, J., 1998. Long-term response of the biotic community to fluctuating water levels and changes in water quality in Cootes Paradise Marsh, a degraded coastal wetland of Lake Ontario. Wetl. Ecol. Manage. 6, 19-42. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008491520668
- CO-OPS (Center for Operational Oceanographic Products and Services), 2019. Tides and Currents. National Oceanographic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), Center for Operational Oceanographic Products and Services (2019). http://www.coops.nos.noaa.gov/waterlevels (accessed 04.29.19)

Coops, H., Van der Velde, G., 1995. Seed dispersal, germination and seedling growth of six

helophyte species in relation to water-level zonation. Fresh. Biol. 34, 13-20. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.1995.tb00418.x

- Duarte, C.M., Kalf, J., 1986. Littoral slope as a predictor of the maximum biomass of submerged macrophyte communities 1, 1. Limnol. Oceanogr. 31, 1072-1080. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1986.31.5.1072
- Eminson, D., Moss, B., 1980. The composition and ecology of periphyton communities in freshwaters. 1 The influence of host type and external environment on community composition. Br. Phycol. J. 15, 429–446. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071618000650431
- Fox, J., Weisberg, S., 2011. Multivariate linear models in R. An R Companion to Applied Regression. Los Angeles: Thousand Oaks.
- Grabas, G.P., Blukacz-Richards, A.E., Pernanen, S., 2012. Development of a submerged aquatic vegetation community index of biotic integrity for use in Lake Ontario coastal wetlands.
  J. Great Lakes Res. 38, 243-250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2012.02.014
- Havens, K.E., Steinman, A.D., 2013. Ecological Responses of a Large Shallow Lake (Okeechobee, Florida) to Climate Change and Potential Future Hydrologic Regimes. Environ. Manage.
  55, 673-775. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-013-0189-3
- Hillebrand, H., 2005. Light regime and consumer control of autotrophic biomass. J. Eco. 93, 758-769. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2745.2005.00978.x
- Hudon, C., Gagnon, P., Jean, M., 2005. Hydrological factors controlling the spread of common reed (*Phragmites australis*) in the St. Lawrence River (Québec, Canada). Ecoscience 12, 347-357. https://doi.org/10.2980/i1195-6860-12-3-347.1

Isely, P., Isely, E.S., Hause, C., Steinman, A.D., 2018. A socioeconomic analysis of habitat

restoration in the Muskegon Lake area of concern. J. Great Lakes Res. 44, 330-339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2017.12.002

- Jones, J.I., Young, J.O., Eaton, J.W., Moss, B., 2002. The influence of nutrient loading, dissolved inorganic carbon and higher trophic levels on the interaction between submerged plants and periphyton. J. Ecol. 90, 12–24. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0022-0477.2001.00620.x
- Keddy, P.A., 1982. Quantifying within-lake gradients of wave energy: interrelationships of wave energy, substrate particle size and shoreline plants in Axe Lake, Ontario. Aquat. Bot. 14, 41-58. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3770(82)90085-7
- Lacoul, P., Freedman, B., 2006. Environmental influences on aquatic plants in freshwater ecosystems. Environ. Rev. 14, 89-136. https://doi.org/10.1139/a06-001
- Lake, P., 2013. Resistance, resilience and restoration. Ecological management & restoration. Eco. Manage. Restor. 14, 20-24. https://doi.org/10.1111/emr.12016
- Larson, J.H., Trebitz, A.S., Steinman, A.D., Wiley, M.J., Mazur, M.C., Pebbles, V., Braun, H.A., Seelbach, P.W., 2013. Great Lakes rivermouth ecosystems: Scientific synthesis and management implications. J. Great Lakes Res. 39, 513–524. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2013.06.002
- Leggett, C.G., Bockstael, N.E., 2000. Evidence of the effects of water quality on residential land prices. J. Environ. Econ. Manage. 39, 121-144. https://doi.org/10.1006/jeem.1999.1096

Madsen, J.D., Chambers, P.A., James, W.F., Koch, E.W., Westlake, D.F., 2001. The interaction between water movement, sediment dynamics and submersed macrophytes. Hydrobiologia 444, 71-81. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1017520800568

NCEI (National Centers for Environmental Information), 2019. Climate Data Online. National

Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), National Centers for Environmental Information (2019). http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/cdo-web/ (accessed 04.29.19)

- Nelson, W.G., 2017. Development of an epiphyte indicator of nutrient enrichment: A critical evaluation of observational and experimental studies. Ecol. Indic. 79, 207–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.04.034
- Notaro, M., Bennington, V., Lofgren, B., 2015. Dynamical downscaling-based projections of great lakes water levels. J. Clim. 24, 9721-9745. https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI-D-14-00847.1
- Ogdahl, M.E., Steinman, A.D., 2015. Factors influencing macrophyte growth and recovery following shoreline restoration activity. Aquat. Bot. 120, 363-370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquabot.2014.10.006
- Oskanen, J., Blanchet, F., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin, P., O'Hara, R., Simpson, G., Solymos, P., Stevens, H., Szoecs, E., Wagner, H., 2018. vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.5-2. https://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=vegan
- Palmer, M., Allan, J.D., Meyer, J., Bernhardt, E.S., 2007. River restoration in the twenty-first century: Data and essential future efforts. Restor. Ecol. 15, 472–481. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-100X.2007.00243.x
- Penning, W.E., Dudley, B., Mjelde, M., Hellsten, S., Hanganu, J., Kolada, A., van den Berg, M., Poikane, Phillips, G., Willby, N., Ecke, F., 2008. Using aquatic macrophyte community indices to define the ecological status of European lakes. Aquat. Eco. 42, 253-264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10452-008-9183-x

- R Core Team, 2017. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.R-project.org/
- Riis, T., Hawes, I. A. N., 2003. Effect of wave exposure on vegetation abundance, richness and depth distribution of shallow water plants in a New Zealand lake. Fresh. Biol. 48, 75-87. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2427.2003.00974.x
- Sand-Jensen, K., Søndergaard, M., 1981. Phytoplankton and epiphyte development and their shading effect on submerged macrophytes in lakes of different nutrient status. Internationale Revue der gesamten Hydrobiologie und Hydrographie. 66,529-552. https://doi.org/10.1002/iroh.19810660406
- Schneider, C.A., Rasband, W.S., Eliceiri, K.W., 2012. NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. Nature Methods. 9, 671.
- Squires, M.M., Lesack, L.F., 2003. The relation between sediment nutrient content and macrophyte biomass and community structure along a water transparency gradient among lakes of the Mackenzie Delta. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 60, 333-343. https://doi.org/10.1139/f03-027
- Steinman, A.D., Lamberti, G.A., Leavitt, P.R., Uzarski, D.G., 2017. Biomass and pigments of benthic algae. In: Hauer, R.F., Lamberti, G.A. (Eds.), Methods in Stream Ecology, Volume
  1. Academic Press, Massachusetts, pp.223-241.
- Steinman, A.D., Mulholland, P.J., Hill, W.R., 1992. Functional responses associated with growth form in stream algae. J. North Am. Benthol. Soc. 11, 229-243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2017.02.004

Steinman, A.D., Ogdahl, M., Rediske, R., Ruetz, C.R., Biddanda, B.A., Nemeth, L., 2008. Current

status and trends in Muskegon Lake, Michigan. J. Great Lakes Res. 34, 169-188.

https://doi.org/10.3394/0380-1330(2008)34[169:CSATIM]2.0.CO;2

- Strand, J.A., Weisner, S.E.B., 2001. Morphological plastic responses to water depth and wave exposure in an aquatic plant (*Myriophyllum spicatum*). J. Ecol. 89, 166–175. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2745.2001.00530.x
- Strand, J. A., Weisner, S.E.B., 1996. Wave exposure related growth of epiphyton: implications for the distribution of submerged macrophytes in eutrophic lakes. Hydrobiologia 325, 113-119. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00028271
- Suding, K.N., 2011. Toward an era of restoration in ecology: successes, failures, and opportunities ahead. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 42, 465-487.
- Sultana, M., Asaeda, T., Manatunge, J., Ablimit, A., 2004. Colonization and growth of epiphytic algal communities on *Potamogeton perfoliatus* under two different light regimes. New Zealand J. Mar. Fresh. Res. 38, 585-594.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00288330.2004.9517264

- Thomaz, S.M., Cunha, E.R.D., 2010. The role of macrophytes in habitat structuring in aquatic ecosystems: methods of measurement, causes and consequences on animal assemblages' composition and biodiversity. Acta Limnol. Bras. 22, 218-236. http://dx.doi.org/10.4322/actalb.02202011
- Uzarski, D.G., Brady, V.J., Cooper, M.J., Wilcox, D.A., Albert, D.A., Axler, R.P., Bostwick, P., Brown, T.N., Ciborowski, J.J.H., Danz, N.P., Gathman, J.P., Gehring, T.M, Grabas, G.P., Garwood, A., Howe, R.W., Johnson, L.B., Lamberti, G.A., Moerke, A.H, Murry, B.A., Miemi, G.J., Normaent, C.J., Ruetz, C.S., Steinman, A.D., Tozer, D.C., Tozer, D.C>,

Wheeler, R., O'Donnell, T.K., Schneider, J.P., 2017. Standardized measures of coastal wetland condition: implementation at a Laurentian Great Lakes basin-wide scale. Wetlands 37, 15-32. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-016-0835-7

- Vadeboncoeur, Y., Steinman, A.D., 2002. Periphyton function in lake ecosystems. Scientific World J. 2, 1449-1468. http://dx.doi.org/10.1100/tsw.2002.294
- Whittier, T.R., Paulsen, S.G., Larsen, D.P., Peterson, S.A., Herlihy, A.T., Kaufmann, P.R., 2002.
  Indicators of Ecological Stress and Their Extent in the Population of Northeastern Lakes:
  A Regional-Scale Assessment: Although stressors such as nonnative fish introductions,
  mercury contamination, and shoreline alteration are not generally considered subjects
  for environmental management, they are as widespread as eutrophication, and more
  extensive than acidification, in the lakes of the northeastern states. BioScience 52, 235247. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2002)052[0235:IOESAT]2.0.CO;2
- Wilson, S. D., Keddy, P. A., 1986. Species competitive ability and position along a natural stress/disturbance gradient. Ecol. 67, 1236-1242.
- Wortley, L., Hero, J.M., Howes, M., 2013. Evaluating ecological restoration success: a review of the literature. Restor. Ecol. 21, 537-543. https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.12028
- Zohary, T., Ostrovsky, I., 2011. Ecological impacts of excessive water level fluctuations in stratified freshwater lakes. Inland Waters 1, 47-59. https://doi.org/10.5268/IW-1.1.406
**Table 2.1**: Transect length (m) (n = 15), mean ( $\pm$ SD) water depth (m) (n = 315), bathymetric slope (%) (n = 15), WI (wind index) (n = 15), mean ( $\pm$ SD) OM (%) (n = 66), and mean ( $\pm$ SD) cover rank (n= 315) for the three Muskegon Lake transects over the five survey years. Type II two-way ANOVA results and post-hoc pairwise t-tests with Bonferroni correction are included for comparison of slope, WI, OM, and cover rank among transects. Asterisks on *P*-values for the two-way ANOVA results indicate significance p < 0.05 among transects for all survey years, for restoration state, or for their interaction. Superscripts on transect names indicate significant similarities or differences among transects.

		Pre-Restoration		Post-Restoration		
Variable	Transect	2009	2010	2011	2012	2018
Transect	NWRef	650	800	750	650	600
Length	HertL	100	125	125	125	125
(m)	GrandT	400	400	450	400	400
	NWRef	1.09 (1.08)	1.38 (1.46)	1.28 (1.34)	0.93 (1.17)	1.37 (0.96)
Water Depth (m)	HertL	2.05 (0.74)	2.14 (0.83)	2.27 (0.91)	1.93 (0.88)	2.62 (1.15)
(m)	GrandT	0.82 (0.37)	0.81 (0.51)	1.06 (0.87)	0.59 (0.71)	1.27 (1.29)
Slope (%)	NWRef <sup>a</sup> HertL <sup>b</sup> GrandT <sup>a</sup>	0.56 2.29 0.44	0.66 2.67 0.67	0.62 2.75 0.89	0.59 2.52 0.81	0.67 3.26 1.04
P <sub>Transect</sub> <0.001*	F=272.10	P <sub>Restoration</sub> =0.006*	F=11.55	P <sub>Interaction</sub> =0.31	F=1.15	df=1
WI	NWRef <sup>a</sup> HertL <sup>b</sup> GrandT <sup>c</sup>	366.95 57.54 136	386.66 41.12 112.39	331.23 43.77 104.19	389.86 65.69 154.91	317.16 44.62 117.03
P <sub>Transect</sub> <0.001*	F=21.55	P <sub>Restoration</sub> =0.89	F=0.02	P <sub>Interaction</sub> =0.92	F=0.01	<i>df</i> =1
OM (%)	NWRef <sup><i>a</i></sup>	1.23 (1.58)	1.18 (1.60)	2.24 (5.85)	0.85 (0.37)	0.62 (0.32)

_	HertL <sup>b</sup> GrandT <sup>c</sup>	5.26 (5.87) 22.03 (15.10)	7.74 (4.79) 25.38 (21.01)	8.41 (5.21) 15.93 (14.22)	6.77 (4.21) 25.39 (24.67)	9.37 (2.93) 25.47 (24.85)
P <sub>Transect</sub> =0.002*	F=15.43	P <sub>Restoration</sub> =0.85	F=0.04	P <sub>Interaction</sub> =0.56	F=0.26	<i>df</i> =1
	NWRef	2.67 (1.82)	2.42 (1.79)	2.33 (1.28)	2.93 (1.43)	3.53 (1.03)
Cover Rank	HertL	3.58 (1.59)	3.23 (1.48)	2.77 (1.36)	3.00 (1.35)	2.53 (1.20)
	GrandT	2.77 (1.27)	3.64 (0.73)	3.57 (0.90)	3.27 (0.88)	3.63 (1.24)
P <sub>Transect</sub> =0.21	F=1.77	P <sub>Restoration</sub> =0.62	F=0.62	P <sub>Interaction</sub> =0.46	F=0.57	<i>df</i> =1

**Table 2.2**: Linear regression results for significant correlations between variables for themacrophyte survey. Negative signs in front of  $R^2$  values indicate a negative correlation betweenthe two variables. Variable abbreviations are the same as in Table 2.1.

Regression	R <sup>2</sup>	Р	F	Df
Biological vs. Environmental:				
Richness vs. WI	0.55	0.002	16.01	13
Richness vs. Slope	-0.47	0.005	11.38	13
Density vs. WI	0.46	0.005	11.27	13
Density vs. Precipitation	-0.33	0.02	6.52	13
Density vs. Slope	-0.26	0.05	4.58	13
Biological vs. Biological:				
Biomass vs. Density	0.85	<0.001	75.45	13
Environmental vs. Environmental:				
Slope vs. WI	-0.64	<0.001	23.08	13
OM vs. WI	-0.26	0.05	4.49	13

**Table 2.3**: Linear regression results for significant correlations between environmental and biological variables for the *V. americana* epiphytic algae survey. Negative signs in front of R<sup>2</sup> values indicate a negative correlation between the two variables. Variable abbreviations are the same as in Table 2.1 along with chlorophyll-*a* (Chl-*a*), photosynthetically active radiation (PAR), dissolved oxygen (DO), total phosphorus (TP), and light extinction coefficient (Light Extinction).

Regression	R <sup>2</sup>	Р	F	Df
Chl-a vs. PAR	0.55	<0.001	34.12	28
Chl-a vs. Light Extinction	-0.65	<0.001	51.42	28
Chl- <i>a</i> vs. Temperature	0.31	0.001	12.8	28
Chl-a vs. DO	0.38	<0.001	16.95	28
Chl-a vs. Specific Conductance	0.36	<0.001	15.68	28
Chl-a vs. Turbidity	0.44	<0.001	22.3	28
Chl-a vs. Wl	-0.69	<0.001	61.82	28
Density vs. PAR	0.43	<0.001	7.05	28
Density vs. Light Extinction	-0.28	0.002	11.12	28
Density vs. Temperature	0.35	<0.001	14.85	28
Density vs. DO	0.38	<0.001	16.92	28
Density vs. WI	-0.34	<0.001	14.73	28
Density vs. TP	0.16	0.03	5.44	28
Density vs. pH	0.16	0.03	5.41	28



**Figure 2.1**: (A) Map of the state of Michigan with the location of Muskegon Lake indicated by a black star. (B) Muskegon Lake with the three macrophyte survey transects indicated by black lines showing the length of each transect. Restored transects (Grand Trunk and Heritage Landing) are perpendicular to the southern shoreline and Northwest Reference is perpendicular to the northern shoreline.



**Figure 2.2**: (A) A PCA biplot of environmental data (sediment organic matter [OM], annual total precipitation [Precip], air temperature [T], slope, wind index [WI], transect length [L], and water level relative to the long-term mean [WL]) where 41.8% and 23.9% of the data are explained by PC1 and PC2, respectively. Symbol shapes represent the different transects (NWRef, HertL, and GrandT) and colors represent the sampling years pre- (2009 and 2010) and post-restoration (2011, 2012, and 2018). Each symbol represents one transect per survey year. Vector length is positively correlated with each variable's explanatory power in the dataset. (B) Environmental data clustered by transect (blue = NWRef, yellow = HertL, and green = GrandT). (C) Environmental data clustered by survey years (red = 2009, orange = 2010, green = 2011, blue = 2012, and purple = 2018). (D) Environmental data clustered by restoration state (blue = reference transect, red = pre-restoration, and green = post-restoration). 2018 symbols (purple) intentionally increased in size to differentiate from other years.



**Figure 2.3**: Macrophyte biological variables at each transect pre- (2009 and 2010) and postrestoration (2011, 2012, and 2018). Each bar represents the sum of a biological variable at all sampled sites along each transect per survey year. Letters above groupings represent statistically significant differences among transects (Two-way ANOVA). (A) Macrophyte total richness at each transect for all five survey years (n = 315). (B) Macrophyte total biomass (kg) at each transect for all five survey years (n = 66). (C) Macrophyte total density (g/m<sup>2</sup>) at each transect for all five survey years (n = 66).



**Figure 2.4**: (A) A PCA biplot of biological data (macrophyte cover, total density, total biomass, and total richness) where 45.6% and 35.9% of the data are explained by PC1 and PC2, respectively. Symbol shapes represent the different transects (NWRef, HertL, and GrandT) and colors represent the sampling years pre- (2009 and 2010) and post-restoration (2011, 2012, and 2018). Each symbol represents one transect per survey year. Vector length is positively correlated with each variable's explanatory power in the dataset. (B) Biological data clustered by transect (blue = NWRef, yellow = HertL, and green = GrandT). (C) Biological data clustered by survey years (red = 2009, orange = 2010, green = 2011, blue = 2012, and purple = 2018). (D) Biological data clustered by restoration state (blue = reference transect, red = pre-restoration, and green = post-restoration). 2018 symbols (purple) intentionally increased in size to differentiate from other years.



**Figure 22.5**: A stacked bar plot of macrophyte taxa weighted relative abundance changes within the five-year survey among all three transects. Each stacked bar represents the average relative abundance of represented macrophyte species at sites along each transect per survey year (NWRef, n = 140; HertL, n = 64; GrandT, n = 111).



**Figure 2.6**: Epiphytic algae biological variables at each of the three transects in 2018. One standard deviation above the mean is provided. Letters above transects represent statistically significant differences among transects (p<0.001, Kruskal Wallis). (A) Mean epiphytic algae chlorophyll-a ( $\mu$ g/cm<sup>2</sup>) concentrations (n = 30). (B) Mean epiphytic algae density (cells/mm<sup>2</sup>) (n = 30).

# **Appendix A. Supplementary Material**

**Table 2.A.1**: Total precipitation (cm), mean (±SD) air temperature (°C), and change in Lake Michigan water level (m) relative to the long-term Lake Michigan mean for all five survey years during the growing season (April through August).

Variable	2009	2010	2011	2012	2018
Total Precipitation (cm)	36.5	38.15	53.52	30.18	47.19
Air Temperature (°C)	16.0 (6.6)	19.1 (7.0)	17.8 (7.5)	18.8 (7.6)	17.6 (8.7)
Change in Lake Michigan Water Level (m)	-0.09	-0.27	-0.30	-0.43	0.47

 Table 2.A.2: Mean (±SD) coefficient of conservatism for each survey year among all three

transects. To examine restoration states, mean (±SD) C-values are provided for the reference

Year	NWRef	HertL	GrandT
2009	3.63 (2.67)	3.77 (2.35)	3.75 (2.77)
2010	4.45 (3.10)	3.58 (2.47)	3.96 (2.76)
2011	3.90 (2.79)	3.67 (2.50)	3.38 (2.78)
2012	4.21 (2.66)	3.13 (2.56)	3.93 (2.69)
2018	4.22 (2.71)	3.56 (2.39)	4.19 (2.73)
	Reference	<b>Pre-Restoration</b>	Post-Restoration
	4.08 (2.78)	3.70 (2.61)	3.71 (2.54)

transect, pre-restoration, and post-restoration.

**Table 2.A.3**: Physical and chemical variables collected at each of the three transects in correspondence with the 2018 epiphytic algae survey that occurred between 2:00 and 4:00 pm on July 16<sup>th</sup>, 2018 for Heritage Landing, July 19<sup>th</sup>, 2018 for Northwest Reference, and July 23<sup>rd</sup>, 2018 for Grand Trunk. Mean (±SD) turbidity was determined from all sites along each transect. Abbreviations include dissolved oxygen (DO), redox potential (ORP), total phosphorus (TP), photosynthetically active radiation (PAR), nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub>), and total kjeldahl nitrogen (TKN).

Variable	NWRef	HertL	GrandT
DO (mg/L)	9.64	12.33	9.02
ORP (mV)	63.3	69.4	34.2
рН	8.83	9.04	8.40
Temperature (°C)	25.88	30.08	24.29
Turbidity (NTU)	16.63 (33.40)	3.90 (2.70)	11.85 (33.79)
TP (mg/L)	0.022	0.023	0.020
PAR (µmol/s/m²)	122.0	961.1	161.7
Light Extinction	5.76	1.78	2.49
Wind Index	317	45	117
NO <sub>3</sub> - (mg/L)	0.104	0.110	0.15
TKN (mg/L)	0.748	0.728	1.104
Specific Conductance (µS/cm)	341	351	355
Depth (m)	0.8	0.9	1.2

#### Chapter 3

# Response of Vallisneria americana and Its Epiphytic Algal Community to Different Sources of Nutrient Enrichment

# Acknowledgments

Funding for this research project was provided by the Lake Grant from the Michigan Chapter of the North American Lake Management Society (McNALMS), the Presidential Research Grant from Grand Valley State University, the Graduate Megan E. Cook Scholarship from the Michigan Lake Stewardship Association (MLSA), and the Environmental Scholarship from the West Michigan Air and Waste Management Association (WMAWMA). The authors gratefully acknowledge Maggie Oudsema, Rachel Orzechowski, Emily Kindervater, and Mike Hassett for field work, mesocosm maintenance, and laboratory assistance. We also thank Brian Scull for his help with nutrient analysis, Dr. Gary Lamberti for statistical analysis advice, and Dr. Sarah Hamsher for voucher algae identification.

# Abstract

Nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) are essential for macrophyte and epiphytic algal growth and influence community composition changes. Primary producer group responses to nutrients may be influenced by direct or indirect access to a nutrient source, impacting resource competition among primary producer groups. To assess the importance of different nutrient sources, a macrophyte (*Vallisneria americana* [Michx.]) and its epiphytic algae were experimentally exposed to different sources enriched with N and P during a one-month indoor mesocosm experiment, and their interactions and biotic responses were measured. Nutrients were manipulated to create four different treatments: 1) addition to sediment porewater (S); 2)

addition to water column (WC); 3) addition to both the sediment and water column (B); and 4) no nutrient additions--control (C). We hypothesized that the greatest macrophyte and epiphytic algal biomass increases would occur in the S and WC treatments, respectively, and that both groups' biomass would be greater in the non-control treatments compared to the control.

Unexpected phytoplankton biomass increases, presumably due to water column enrichment, altered light availability and our predicted macrophyte-epiphyte responses; *V. americana*'s biomass was greatest in the C treatment, where there was less phytoplankton and hence more light availability for the macrophyte, and epiphytic algal biomass did not vary significantly among treatments. Enriched porewater was as equally important for sustaining macrophyte and epiphytic algal biomass as water column nutrients, especially when phytoplankton presence decreased light availability and elevated nutrient competition. Even with an indirect negative association between phytoplankton and epiphyte biomass and density, epiphytic algae still displayed an adverse impact on their host macrophyte. **Keywords:** macrophytes, epiphytic algae, nutrient source, nitrogen and phosphorus, mesocosm experiment, Muskegon Lake

#### Introduction

Macrophytes are essential for maintaining high water quality conditions in shallow water ecosystems, partially through substrate stabilization and nutrient cycling (Allen, 1971; Wigand et al., 2000), which can be especially important for mitigating phytoplankton growth (Phillips et al., 1978; Phillips et al., 2016). Additionally, macrophyte presence is critical for aquatic organisms, as they provide habitat for epiphytic algae, which help sustain the food

web's energy base, contribute to nutrient cycling, and fix carbon (Allen, 1971; Dodds, 2003; Vadeboncoeur and Steinman, 2002).

Epiphytic algal proximity to their host macrophyte forms a physical barrier between the water column and plant; this may reduce macrophyte oxygen and carbon uptake, obstruct dissolved nutrient transport, and shade the macrophyte's surface (Sand-Jensen and Borum, 1991; Schneider et al., 2012a). Macrophyte influences on epiphytic algae may be positive or negative; the host plant may release nutrients available for epiphytic algae or release harmful allelopathic chemicals (Burkholder, 1996; Erhard and Gross, 2006). These interactions therefore could impact the success of both primary producer groups, especially when they are in competition for nutrients and light (Allen, 1971; Eminson and Moss, 1980).

Unlike terrestrial ecosystems (Vitousek et al., 2010) where primary producers obtain a majority of their nutrients such as nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) (Elser et al., 2007) from the soil, aquatic primary producers obtain a majority of their nutrients from the sediment and/or the water column. Indirect or direct access to a nutrient source may stimulate resource competition in environments where multiple primary producer groups have direct access to the same source (Wear et al., 1999). Conversely, access to multiple sources may result in higher cumulative autotrophic biomass and diversity due to complementary use of nutrients from direct and indirect sources by differing groups and species, irrespective of ecosystem type (cf. Bracken and Stachowicz, 2006; Gross et al., 2007; Passy and Larson, 2019). Additionally, aquatic primary producers (algae or macrophytes) located higher in the periphyton matrix or macrophyte canopy may have preferential access to water column nutrients, subsequently

reducing light availability to organisms located beneath them or outcompeting understory organisms for light (Sand-Jensen and Borum, 1991).

Direct access to water column enrichment may stimulate macrophyte and epiphytic algal growth; however, phytoplankton resource interception resulting in shading of epiphytic algae and macrophytes, along with epiphytic algal resource interception resulting in shading of the macrophyte, may counteract this positive response (Madsen and Cedergreen, 2002; Chambers et al., 1989). Where sediment nutrients are enriched, rooted macrophytes have the competitive advantage, since epiphytic algae only indirectly access sediment nutrients leaching from the macrophyte host or through diffusion across the sediment-water interface (Burkholder, 1996; Périllon and Hilt, 2019; Vadeboncoeur and Steinman, 2002). Since sediment is not a direct nutrient source for epiphytic algae, studies rarely include this location when examining macrophyte-epiphytic algal responses to elevated nutrient concentrations (Song et al., 2015).

Macrophytes and epiphytic algal responses to nutrient enrichment make them commonly used bioindicators of ecosystem health and trophic level (Blanco et al., 2004; Schneider and Lindstrøm, 2011; Uzarski et al., 2017). In Muskegon Lake, MI, macrophytes were included in a littoral restoration project (2010-2011); the recovery and improvement of macrophyte communities were evaluated through pre-restoration (2009 and 2010) and postrestoration surveys (2011, 2012, and 2018) (Ogdahl and Steinman, 2015). Physical habitat variables and hydrologic conditions were measured alongside the macrophyte community to assess the variation in site responses to restoration. However, the interactions between macrophytes and their epiphytic algae were not examined. Since these interactions have been

shown to influence both individual macrophyte and community success, a separate survey of both macrophytes and their epiphytic algae took place in 2018.

To complement the Muskegon Lake 2018 survey, a controlled experiment was designed to better understand how macrophyte and epiphytic algae proximity influences both primary producer groups' responses to direct and indirect nutrient sources. The main objective was to determine how *Vallisneria americana* (Michx.) and its epiphytic algal community respond to four treatments containing different sources of nutrient enrichment: 1) addition to the sediment porewater (S); 2) addition to the water column (WC); 3) additions to both the water column and sediment (B); 4) a control with no nutrient additions (C).

We hypothesized that both *V. americana* and epiphytic algal biomass would increase in the nutrient-enriched treatments compared to the C treatment. We also predicted that *V. americana* biomass increase would be greatest in the S treatment due to the macrophyte's competitive advantage for sediment nutrients coupled with reduced epiphytic algal loads, allowing higher light levels to reach leaf surfaces (Barko et al., 1991; Burkholder and Wetzel, 1990; Sand-Jensen and Borum, 1991). In contrast, the greatest epiphytic algal biomass was hypothesized to occur in the WC treatment where the epiphytic algae have direct nutrient access, resulting in less light and nutrients reaching the host macrophyte (Dodds, 2003; Sand-Jensen and Borum, 1991).

Since we anticipated a rapid turnover of epiphytic algal species in response to changing environmental conditions during the experiment, we hypothesized that treatments with nutrient enrichment, especially the WC and B treatments, would result in community shifts to genera with higher nutrient optima and filamentous growth forms, which have greater access

to nutrients outside the epiphytic algal boundary layer (Steinman et al. 1992). Epiphytic algal community structure in all four treatments was also compared with the community structure found on *V. americana* growing naturally in Muskegon Lake.

### Methods

#### Mesocosm set-up

This experiment was conducted using a complete randomized block design (Figure 3.1) and the four nutrient treatments (WC, S, B, and C) were randomly assigned to twelve indoor, 1325 L mesocosm tanks, three mesocosms per treatment type. For nutrient enrichment, N as sodium nitrate (NaNO<sub>3</sub>) and P as potassium phosphate (KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>) were added at 10x the ambient concentrations found within Muskegon Lake (Table 3.1). Mesocosm water column nutrient concentrations were based on July 2016 and 2017 Muskegon Lake long-term monitoring data; ambient concentrations were 0.016 mg/L of soluble reactive P (SRP) (10x concentration increase: 0.16 mg/L of SRP) and 0.15 mg/L of nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N) (10x concentration increase: 1.5 mg/L of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N). Mesocosm sediment nutrient concentrations were based on three replicate sediment cores (4 cm diameter, 10 cm deep) taken at all three transects (Figure 3.A1) during the 2018 Muskegon Lake survey, using a hand-held gravity corer (Davis and Steinman, 1998); ambient sediment concentrations were 0.041 mg/L of SRP (10x concentration increase: 0.41 mg/L of SRP) and 0.21 mg/L of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N) (10x concentration increase: 0.41

Each mesocosm was populated with eight buckets, a single macrophyte planted per bucket. Four buckets contained a single live *V. americana* and the other four contained a single artificial aquarium plant resembling *V. americana*; the artificial plants served as structural controls for epiphytic algae. *V. americana* macrophytes were purchased from the Carolina

Biological Supply Company and buckets were randomly placed into mesocosms to limit possible bias. Each live and artificial plant was potted in a 7.6 L bucket containing homogenized, 2 mm sieved sediment collected from the Heritage Landing transect in Muskegon Lake (Figure 3.A1), and autoclaved at 121 °C for 40 min. One submersible pump per mesocosm facilitated water circulation and aeration during the experiment. Each mesocosm was lit with a single metal halide bulb, set on a 15/9 L:D photoperiod cycle, and room temperature was maintained at 22 °C. Mesocosms were filled with ~950 L of Muskegon Lake water that was filtered through a 300 µm-mesh to remove zooplankton and large debris.

# Mesocosm experiment

*V. americana* were received on July 11<sup>th</sup>, 2018, immediately placed in mesocosms containing submersible pumps, and given two weeks to recover from transport and acclimate to new environmental conditions. Next, epiphytic algae were removed from a variety of Muskegon Lake macrophyte taxa using a toothbrush to produce a large volume of inoculum. 5 L of homogenized epiphytic algae inoculum was added into each mesocosm along with artificial plants with pumps in operation; two weeks were given for epiphytic algal colonization. The mesocosm experiment ran for one month starting on September 15<sup>th</sup>, 2018 and ending on October 15<sup>th</sup>, 2018. All mesocosm surfaces, sediment surfaces, and bucket sides were cleaned weekly of periphyton and 90% of each mesocosm's water volume was replaced with filtered Muskegon Lake water to mitigate phytoplankton growth. Water column nutrients were surface broadcasted into the WC and B treatments as a liquid solution on day 1 of the experiment and restocked weekly after mesocosms had been refilled with new Muskegon Lake water. 15 mL perforated centrifuge tubes containing N- and P-enriched agar were inserted into the sediment

for sediment nutrient enrichment; agar was created in the lab to ensure N- and P-enrichment. One nutrient-filled centrifuge tube was placed in the sediment adjacent to each plant in the S and B treatments on experiment day 1. Unamended centrifuge tubes also were added to the C and WC treatments to control for any tube-induced effects in the S and B treatments.

Water quality variables (dissolved oxygen [DO], turbidity [NTU], pH, temperature [T], specific conductance [SC], redox potential [ORP], and total dissolved solids [TDS]) were measured daily at approximately 1700 hrs with a YSI 6600 sonde. 1 L water samples were collected from each mesocosm every week to determine concentrations of water column SRP, total phosphorus (TP), total kjeldahl nitrogen (TKN), and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, after which the removed water sample volume was replaced in the mesocosm. Light intensity of photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) was measured once a week in each mesocosm using a Li-Cor quantum sensor. PAR measurements at different mesocosm depths were used to quantify the light extinction coefficient. After visually observing high phytoplankton accumulation in certain mesocosms, phytoplankton chlorophyll-*a* (Chl-*a*) concentrations were measured weekly (see below) for the last three weeks of the experiment. At the end of the experiment, one sediment core was collected from each macrophyte bucket to determine porewater SRP, porewater NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, sediment TP, and sediment TKN. Entire macrophytes were removed and used for processing. *Muskegon Lake survey* 

A full description of Muskegon Lake as a study site and associated shoreline restoration activities can be found in Ogdahl and Steinman (2015). Briefly, Muskegon Lake is a drowned river mouth lake located in central West Michigan that connects directly to Lake Michigan (Figure 3.A1). Three littoral habitats were chosen for epiphytic algae surveys: two restored

habitats along the south shoreline (Heritage Landing and Grand Trunk) and one reference habitat (Northwest Reference) along the north shoreline. *V. americana*, a subdominant macrophyte in Muskegon Lake, was selected for collection due to its ribbon-like leaf blades and simple morphology that made full removal of the epiphytic algae community possible.

Surveys took place between 1400 and 1600 hrs at Heritage Landing on July 16<sup>th</sup>, 2018, at Northwest Reference on July 19<sup>th</sup>, 2018, and at Grand Trunk on July 23<sup>rd</sup>, 2018. At each habitat, the transect to be sampled was separated into sites starting from shore. One site along each transect with a depth of ~1 m was chosen for *V. americana* collection where ten individual plants were randomly sampled from a 10 m-width area, approximately 5 m in any direction from the boat. The top 20 cm of each macrophyte was removed and placed on ice for transport to the lab for epiphytic algae removal; a proportion of each *V. americana* was used to limit epiphytic algae processing time. Water quality variables were measured with a YSI 6600 sonde and irradiance was measured using a Li-Cor quantum sensor at each site. A 1 L water sample was collected for SRP, TP, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, and TKN analysis. Random macrophytes also were collected along the entire transect and used to create the mesocosm experiment's algae inoculum.

### Laboratory processing

Macrophytes, sediment cores, and water samples were refrigerated until processing. Macrophyte fragments from Muskegon Lake and whole plants from the mesocosm experiment were scrubbed with a toothbrush to remove epiphytic algae, and toothbrush bristles and leaf blades were rinsed with distilled water. One toothbrush was used per macrophyte to limit epiphytic algal contamination between samples. Blades were microscopically examined to confirm removal of adnately attached algae. Leaf blade photos were taken to determine

macrophyte surface area for calculating epiphytic algae density using ImageJ software (Schneider et al., 2012b). Live *V. americana* segments and whole plants were then dried for 96 hours at 85 °C and weighed to determine plant biomass (g).

Sediment samples were homogenized and centrifuged for 20 min at 3600 rpm to separate the supernatant, and porewater was filtered through a 0.45 µm acid washed filter for porewater SRP and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> analysis. Remaining sediments were then dried for 24 hours at 105 °C, subsampled for sediment TKN analysis, ashed at 550°C for 4 hours, and then used to determine sediment TP and sediment organic matter (OM) content. Sediment OM (%) was expressed as the difference between pre-and post-combustion weights. Water column SRP, TKN, and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> subsamples were filtered through 0.45 µm acid washed filters. Water column TP was digested with persulfate and stored at 4 °C. All SRP, TP, and TKN samples were analyzed using a SEAL AQ2 discrete automated analyzer (APHA, 1998) and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> was analyzed with ion chromatography on a Dionex ICS-2100 (APHA, 1998).

An aliquot of the epiphytic algal samples from Muskegon Lake and the mesocosm experiment was used to determine chlorophyll-*a* (Chl-*a*) concentrations by filtering the sample through a 0.45 µm GF/F filter (Whatman®) and freezing at –18 °C. Within 30 days of freezing, filters were ground and steeped in 90% buffered acetone for 24 hours in the dark. After centrifuging, Chl-*a* was analyzed using a Shimadzu UV-1601 spectrophotometer (Steinman et al., 2017). A 50 mL subsample of epiphytic algae was preserved with 1% Lugols solution and used for non-diatom algae identification in a Palmer-Maloney nanoplankton counting chamber. Permanent slides for diatom identification were created by: boiling 10 mL of the 50 mL subsample in 30% hydrogen peroxide with potassium permanganate for 1 hour; performing a

series of distilled water rinses to remove oxidation byproducts; evaporating the sample onto a coverslip; and mounting coverslips onto a microscope slide using heat and Naphrax<sup>®</sup>. All algal samples were identified to genus using a Nikon H550L Eclipse 80i light microscope.

# Data analyses

Differences in environmental variables (SRP, TKN, TP, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, pH, DO, light extinction [Light], NTU, T, ORP, SC, TDS, porewater SRP [PoreSRP], porewater NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> [PoreNO3], sediment TP [SedTP], sediment TKN [SedTKN], and phytoplankton Chl-*a* [Wchla]) among the four treatments were tested using Kruskal-Wallis. When significance was detected, a Wilcoxon test post-hoc with Bonferroni correction was used. Data were log-square root transformed, normality was tested using Shapiro-Wilk, and variance was tested using Levene's Test of equal variance.

Almost all live *V. americana* in the mesocosm experiment produced ramets attached to the original plant through horizontal rhizome growth; ramets are hereby referred to as propagules. Therefore, the original live *V. americana* macrophyte used for epiphytic algae removal was weighed by itself and then all propagules per original plant were weighed together for a total of two biomass (g) values: individual *V. americana* biomass and total *V. americana* biomass including the weight of all propagules. Measuring the individual *V. americana* biomass separate from the total *V. americana* biomass (including propagules) allowed for the later comparison of individual *V. americana* biomass with its epiphytic algae community's biological variables through regression analyses. The number of propagules per live *V. americana* also was included in the analyses as propagule number. Total length (cm) of the original *V. americana* 

*V.americana* roots and shoots were measured separately, then divided to determine macrophyte length root:shoot ratio.

Differences in mean total biomass, mean individual biomass, length, and propagule number for the live *V. americana* among the four treatments (control, sediment, water column, and both) were tested using a one-way ANOVA with the aov() function in R. When statistical significance was detected, a pairwise t-test with Bonferroni correction was used. Differences in *V. americana* length root:shoot ratios among the four treatments were tested using a Kruskal-Wallis test and if significant, a post-hoc Wilcoxon test with a Bonferroni correction was used. Normality was tested using Shapiro-Wilk, variance was tested using Lavene's Test of equal variance, and all data were log transformed.

Relative abundance (%) of each epiphytic algae genus and total epiphytic algal richness were determined for each live *V. americana* and artificial macrophyte in all four treatments. Epiphytic algae cell density (cells/mm<sup>2</sup>) was determined using algal counts and the volume of the Palmer Maloney nanoplankton counting chamber. Epiphyton diversity was measured using the Shannon diversity index:

$$H' = -\sum p_i * \ln (p_i) \quad (2)$$

**Equation 3.1:** H' is the Shannon diversity index and p<sub>i</sub> is the proportion of the community composed of species *i*.

Differences in the epiphytic algae biological variables (Chl-*a*, density, richness, and diversity) among the four treatments (control, sediment, water column, and both) and between plant types (live *V. americana* and artificial macrophyte) were tested using a two-way nested

ANOVA with the aov() function in R. When significance was detected, a pairwise t-test with Bonferroni correction was used. Normality was tested using Shapiro-Wilk, variance was tested using Levene's Test of equal variance, and all data were log transformed.

A non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) ordination was run to examine clustering among treatments (control, sediment, water column, and both) using epiphytic algae genera relative abundance. Environmental data (SRP, TKN, TP, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, pH, DO, Light, NTU, T, ORP, SC, TDS, PoreSRP, PoreNO3, SedTP, SedTKN, and Wchla) were overlaid onto the NMDS using the envfit() function, a part of the vegan package in R (Oskanen et al., 2018). Adonis was used to evaluate significant differences among treatments and between plant types. A SIMPER posthoc determined which epiphytic algae genera contributed to the greatest amount of variation among the four treatments.

Relationships between live *V. americana* biological variables (total biomass, individual biomass, total length, length root:shoot ratio, and propagule number) and epiphytic algae biological variables (Chl-*a*, density, richness, and diversity) on the live *V. americana* for the mesocosm experiment were evaluated using regression analysis. Relationships between live *V. americana* biological variables (total biomass, individual biomass, total length, length root:shoot ratio, and propagule number) and phytoplankton Chl-*a* along with all environmental data also were evaluated with regression analysis. Relationships of epiphytic algae biological variables on both plant types (Chl-*a*, density, richness, and diversity) with phytoplankton Chl-*a* and all environmental data were evaluated with regression analysis.

All four epiphytic algae biological variables (Chl-*a*, density, richness, and diversity) on Muskegon Lake's *V. americana* were determined for each of the three sampled transects

(Northwest Reference, Heritage Landing, and Grand Trunk). Differences in the epiphytic algae total richness and diversity among transects were tested using a one-way ANOVA and a pairwise t-test post-hoc with Bonferroni correction. Chl-*a* concentrations and cell density (square-root transformed but not normally distributed) were tested using Kruskal-Wallis and a Wilcoxon test post-hoc with Bonferroni correction. Normality was tested using Shapiro-Wilk and variance was tested using Levene's Test of equal variance. All statistical analyses were performed using R version 3.5.2 (R Core Team, 2017).

# Results

#### Mesocosm physical and chemical variables

Water temperature was similar among most treatments but slightly higher in the B treatment compared to the other treatments (p < 0.001, Kruskal-Wallis, Table 3.2). However, environmental conditions in treatments receiving nutrients through the water column (i.e., WC and B) were very different than those in the S and C treatments. Phytoplankton Chl-*a* was greater in the WC and B treatments compared to the S and C treatments, likely contributing to higher NTU, light extinction coefficient, DO concentrations, and pH in the WC and B treatments than in the WC and B treatments (p < 0.001, Kruskal-Wallis). In contrast, TDS and SC were greater in the C and S treatments than in the WC and B treatments (p < 0.001, Kruskal-Wallis). As anticipated, water column SRP, TP, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, and TKN were all greater in the WC and B treatments compared to the S treatment than in the C (p = 0.02, Kruskal-Wallis). Porewater SRP was greater in the B treatment than in the C (p = 0.02, Kruskal-Wallis), and porewater NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> was greater in the WC and B treatments than in the S and C, at the time of sampling (p < 0.001, Kruskal-Wallis).

# Macrophyte biological variables

Total live *V. americana* biomass (p = 0.004, 1-way ANOVA, Figure 3.2a) and individual live *V. americana* biomass (i.e., no propagules) (p = 0.07, 1-way ANOVA, Figure 3.2b) were greater in the C treatment than the WC treatment, although individual biomass was not significant. *V. americana* length root:shoot ratio also was greatest in the C treatment but lowest in the B treatment (p = 0.04, Kruskal-Wallis, Figure 3.2c). Total *V. americana* length (p = 0.40, 1-way ANOVA, Figure 3.2d) and propagule number (p = 0.10, 1-way ANOVA, Figure 3.2e) were greater in the B and WC treatments compared to the S and C, although not statistically significant.

# Epiphytic algae biological variables and community structure

No evident trends for epiphytic algal Chl-*a* occurred among treatments or plant types  $(p_{Treatment} = 0.21, p_{Type} = 0.83, 2$ -way nested ANOVA, Figure 3.3a). Epiphytic algal density was greater on artificial macrophytes compared to live *V. americana*, although this difference was driven largely by the C treatment ( $p_{Treatment} = 0.13, p_{Type} = 0.002, 2$ -way nested ANOVA, Figure 3.3b). Epiphytic algal richness was greater in the C and S treatments compared to the B treatment ( $p_{Treatment} < 0.001, p_{Type} = 0.22, 2$ -way nested ANOVA, Figure 3.3c). Epiphytic algal diversity was greatest in the S treatment and lowest in the B treatment ( $p_{Treatment} < 0.001, p_{Type} = 0.46, 2$ -way nested ANOVA, Figure 3.3d).

85 epiphytic algal genera were identified from both plant types and all four treatments (Figure 3.4). Most genera were from the Bacillariophyta (diatom) phylum (58%) followed by Chlorophyta (21%), Cyanobacteria (15%), Euglenophyta (3%), Cryptophyta (2%), and Charophyta (1%). Epiphytic algae relative abundances varied among the four treatments: cyanobacteria *Phormidium* and *Cylindrospermum* dominated the C treatment; the S treatment contained the greatest relative abundance of chlorophyte *Mougeotia*; the WC treatment contained the greatest proportions of diatoms, specifically *Fragilaria* and *Achnanthidium*; and the B treatment also was dominated by *Phormidium* (Figure 3.4). Within each treatment, epiphytic algae community structure was relatively similar between live *V. americana* and artificial macrophytes.

Within the NMDS biplot, epiphytic algae relative abundance was ordinated in a horizontal gradient (Figure 3.5a). Treatment clusters suggested differences in epiphytic algae community structure (p = 0.001, F = 8.28, Adonis, Figure 3.5b). The C and S treatments overlapped and were associated with increased sediment nutrients as well as ORP, TDS, and SC. The WC and B treatments were more closely associated with high water column nutrients, DO, pH, phytoplankton Chl-*a*, NTU, and light extinction. Clustering by plant type was not significant (p = 0.78, F = 0.52, Adonis).

Nine epiphytic algal genera explained ~90% of the variation among treatments (SIMPER, Table 3.3). *Lyngbya* was the main driver of dissimilarity across treatments, with the highest relative abundance in the B treatment followed by the C, WC, and S (Table 3.3). High relative abundance of *Cylindrospermum* in the C treatment, *Mougeotia* in the S treatment, *Achnanthidium* and *Fragilaria* in the WC treatment, and *Fragilaria* in the B treatment also were strong contributors to the dissimilarity of each treatment from all other treatments.

# Biological and environmental interactions

Most regressions between live *V. americana* and epiphytic algae vs. environmental variables were statistically significant but with low explanatory power (Table 3.A1). Water

column nutrient enrichment was positively associated with individual V. americana biomass (SRP:  $R^2 = 0.13$ ; p < 0.05) and propagule number (e.g.,  $NO_3^-$ :  $R^2 = 0.19$ ; p < 0.05; SRP:  $R^2 = 0.10$ ; p < 0.05). In contrast, V. americana root:shoot ratio was negatively correlated with both nutrient enrichment sources (e.g., PoreNO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>:  $R^2 = -0.20$ ; p < 0.005; SRP:  $R^2 = -0.20$ ; p < 0.005). Light extinction was positively associated with propagule number but negatively associated with length root:shoot ratio. Total V. americana biomass was negatively associated with NTU. Sediment nutrient enrichment was positively but weakly correlated with epiphytic algal Chl-a (e.g., PoreNO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>:  $R^2 = 0.05$ ; p < 0.05) and density (e.g., PoreSRP:  $R^2 = 0.07$ ; p = 0.01; PoreNO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>:  $R^2$ = 0.05; p < 0.05). Epiphytic algal diversity (e.g., PoreNO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>:  $R^2$  = -0.21; p < 0.001) and richness (e.g., NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and SRP:  $R^2 = -0.20$ ; p < 0.001) were negatively correlated with both nutrient enrichment sources and light extinction. In general, most regressions involving phytoplankton Chl- $\alpha$  had much higher R<sup>2</sup> values compared to the regressions involving macrophytes and epiphytic algae (Table 3.A1). Phytoplankton Chl-a was positively correlated with both nutrient enrichment sources (e.g.,  $NO_3$ :  $R^2 = 0.81$ ; p < 0.001), light extinction ( $R^2 = 0.96$ ; p < 0.001), and NTU.

In terms of biological regressions, epiphytic algal density was positively correlated with individual *V. americana* biomass ( $R^2 = 0.13$ ; p < 0.05) and negatively correlated with total length ( $R^2 = -0.13$ ; p < 0.05), and length root:shoot ratio ( $R^2 = -0.20$ ; p < 0.01). Epiphytic algal richness and diversity were negatively associated with total *V. americana* length and positively associated with *V. americana* length root:shoot ratio. Phytoplankton Chl-*a* was negatively associated with *V. americana* length root:shoot ratio, epiphytic algal diversity, and epiphytic algal richness, whereas it was positively associated with propagule number ( $R^2 = 0.18$ ; p < 0.01).

# Muskegon Lake environmental variables and epiphytic algae

In Muskegon Lake, DO, ORP, pH, T, NTU and TP were greatest at Heritage Landing followed by Northwest Reference and then Grand Trunk (Table 3.4). Light extinction was greatest at Northwest Reference and lowest at Heritage Landing. NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and TKN were greatest at Grand Trunk and lowest at Heritage Landing. Water depth and SC also were greatest at Grand Trunk but lowest at Northwest Reference. A cumulative 1 m water level rise in Lake Michigan from 2012 to 2018 increased water depth in Muskegon Lake, subsequently increasing this variable's contribution to in-lake community changes.

Epiphytic algal Chl-*a* (p < 0.001, Kruskal-Wallis, Figure 3.6a) and density (p < 0.001, Kruskal-Wallis, Figure 3.6b) on *V. americana* were greatest at Heritage Landing followed by Grand Trunk, then Northwest Reference. Epiphytic algal diversity (p < 0.001, 1-way ANOVA, Figure 3.6c) and richness (p = 0.03, 1-way ANOVA, Figure 3.6d) were greatest at Grand Trunk compared to the other two transects; richness was significant but pairwise post-hoc results were not.

68 algae genera on *V. americana* were identified from all three Muskegon Lake transects, with most from the Bacillariophyta phylum (56%) followed by Chlorophyta (23%), Cyanobacteria (14%), and Charophyta (4%). Most epiphytic algae present at the Muskegon Lake transects were also present in the four treatments. However, the dominant Muskegon Lake genera were different from those in the mesocosms (Figure 3.7). For example, *Cocconeis* and *Bulbochaete* were abundant at the Muskegon Lake transects but not in the mesocosm treatments, whereas *Achnanthidium* and *Mougeotia* were abundant in the mesocosm

treatments but not at the Muskegon Lake transects. *Lyngbya, Phormidium,* and *Pseudanabaena* were present at the Muskegon Lake transects and in most mesocosm treatments.

## *Epiphytic algae comparisons*

Epiphytic algal Chl-*a* (10.01-17.20 μg/cm<sup>2</sup>, Figure 3.3a) and density (Figure 3.3b) were greater in the mesocosm experiment compared to Muskegon Lake (Chl-*a*: 1.11-12.98 μg/cm<sup>2</sup>, Figure 3.6a; Figure 3.6b). Epiphytic algal richness (17-22, Figure 3.3c) and diversity (1.18-1.83, Figure 3.3d) on *V. americana* were slightly lower in the mesocosm experiment compared to Muskegon Lake (Richness: 18-24, Figure 3.6d; Diversity: 1.65-2.33, Figure 3.6c). In general, the mesocosms' environmental conditions and epiphytic algal community, particularly in the WC and B treatments, were most similar to those at the Heritage Landing transect, containing greater NTU, DO, pH, and epiphytic algal Chl-*a* and density. Epiphytic algal diversity and richness were highest in the S and C treatments for the mesocosm experiment, but lower than Grand Trunk's values, which were highest among the three Muskegon Lake transects. Lastly, the mesocosm experiment had a higher dominance of cyanobacteria taxa (Figure 3.4), while Muskegon Lake was dominated more by diatoms (Figure 3.7).

# Discussion

# Mesocosm conditions

Observed nutrient concentrations generally matched the expected concentrations for each treatment, except porewater SRP and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>. Autoclaving can increase the rate of sediment N and P release (Southwell et al., 2010) and inhibit microbial activity; however, microbial communities may reform over time, influencing nutrient release through mineralization or by changing environmental conditions such as increasing pH or DO (Tuominen et al., 1994).

Therefore, warmer water temperatures and oxygenated conditions along with microbial uptake could have lowered porewater SRP (Huang et al., 2011; Tuominen et al., 1994), and potential nitrifying bacteria could have elevated porewater NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> (Henriksen et al., 1981). The possible presence of P-adsorbing metals such as iron oxide and manganese oxide could have influenced low porewater SRP (House and Denison, 2000; Li et al., 2010). Agar N and P concentrations for enrichment also may have been slightly off, influencing the porewater nutrient results.

# Macrophyte and epiphytic algal responses

The original proposed hypotheses for *V. americana* and epiphytic algal biomass responses to nutrient sources were based off the assumptions that autotrophic growth form and physical location relative to the nutrient source would drive their competitive interactions, resulting in a macrophyte advantage when the enriched nutrient source was sediments but an epiphytic algal advantage when the enriched source was the water column. The unforeseen positive response of phytoplankton to water column nutrient enrichment likely had the dual effects of 1) reducing nutrient availability to macrophytes and their attached epiphytic algae due to phytoplankton uptake; and 2) reducing light availability to the macrophyte-epiphytic algal community (Sand-Jensen and Borum, 1991).

For *V. americana*, light limitation likely outweighed the predicted stimulatory effect of nutrient enrichment on *V. americana* biomass; phytoplankton Chl-*a* had a stronger positive correlation with nutrient enrichment than *V. americana* biomass, reinforcing the negative impacts of phytoplankton. Phytoplankton-induced light reductions also likely accounted for a greater total macrophyte biomass in the C treatment compared to the nutrient-enriched treatments. Low-light, especially in the WC and B treatments, may have induced *V. americana* 

propagule production to increase macrophyte survival rate in a disturbed habitat (Li et al., 2018); this could explain why there is a positive association between propagule number and water column enrichment when usually, propagule production decreases with elevated nutrients (Grace et al., 1993). For epiphytic algae, a lack of biomass (as Chl-*a*) and density variation among treatments was a potential product of phytoplankton's dual effects, however the positive association of epiphytic algal biomass and density with elevated nutrients supports the basis of our hypothesis (Carrick et al., 1988; Fairchild et al., 1985).

The influence of source of nutrient enrichment on *V. americana* was more evident when examining length root:shoot ratio. Macrophytes usually respond to nutrient increases by decreasing root:shoot ratios (Barko et al., 1991; Madsen and Cedergreen, 2001); all nutrientenriched treatment length root:shoot ratios were lower than the C treatment, and ratios were negatively correlated with both nutrient sources. Increased length root:shoot ratios in the C treatment may be the result of root system biomass and surface area expansion to increase nutrient uptake efficiency (Barko et al., 1988; Barko et al., 1991; Madsen and Cedergreen, 2001). Water column enrichment (Dülger et al., 2017; O'Connell et al., 2015) and lower light availability (Cronin and Lodge, 2003) could have stimulated *V. americana* energy redirection towards shoot growth, decreasing length root:shoot ratios in the WC and B treatments compared to the S treatment.

Sediment enrichment served as an important nutrient source for both epiphytes and the macrophyte, regardless of direct or indirect access. Despite the water column nutrient addition in the B treatment, which also resulted in high phytoplankton growth and turbidity, the sediment nutrient addition was apparently sufficient to overcome potential light limitation for

*V. americana* (Barko and James, 1998), as *V. americana* biomass was not significantly different than the control. The compensating role of sediment as a nutrient source for *V. americana* was confirmed in the S treatment, where similar to B, biomass was not significantly different than the control. However, both the length root:shoot ratio and propagule number did vary between the S and B treatments, albeit not significantly, suggesting the role of sediments as a nutrient source is idiosyncratic, and may vary depending on the response variable, other nutrient sources, and environmental conditions (Chambers et al., 1989; Madsen and Cedergreen, 2002).

Sediment enrichment was considered an accessory nutrient source for epiphytic algae since sediment enrichment on its own was not enough to increase epiphytic algal biomass; even with comparable light availability, biomass was slightly lower in the S treatment than the C treatment. Enrichment at both sources in the B treatment may have compensated for the negative impacts of phytoplankton nutrient competition and light limitation on epiphytic algal biomass seen in the WC treatment; epiphytic algal biomass in the B treatment was greater than the C, WC, and S treatments.

Epiphytic algal communities were predicted to shift in algal growth form in the nutrientenriched treatments to increase nutrient uptake efficiency; however, cell-stacking growth forms were dominant in all treatments. Both high-light availability and nutrient enrichment can increase filamentous or chain-forming algae (Steinman and McIntire, 1987; Steinman et al., 1989), accounting for this growth form in the C treatment where light was abundant. Nutrientenriched treatment epiphytic algal communities shifted towards competitive genera with higher nutrient affinities, like *Phormidium* (Loza et al., 2014), and algal richness and diversity declined due to a decrease in habitat suitability for genera with lower nutrient optima like

*Cylindrospermum* (Carrick et al., 1988; Van der Grinten, 2004), which was found only in the C treatment. Light availability also influenced algal composition; low-light and nutrient-favoring *Achnanthidium* and *Fragilaria* (Berthon et al., 2011; Steinman et al., 1992) were most abundant in the WC treatment where turbidity was greatest, while high-light preferring *Mougeotia* was most abundant in the S treatment, where light requirements could be met (Lowe et al., 1986).

When examining macrophyte-epiphytic algal interactions, a lack of variation in algal biomass, richness, and diversity between plant types suggested *V. americana* was not actively influencing epiphytic algae (Cattaneo and Kalff, 1979; Grutters et al., 2017). Differences in epiphytic algal density between plant types was likely a function of surface area: live *V. americana* growth potentially reduced overall epiphytic algal density, whereas the static surface area of artificial macrophytes promoted a more dense, mature epiphytic algal coverage. Additionally, *V. americana* leaves experienced more physical drag due to water movement than artificial macrophytes, potentially facilitating epiphytic algal sloughing, which could have lowered algal density (Strand and Weisner, 1996).

Unexpectedly, *V. americana* biomass was significantly positively correlated with epiphytic algal density; however, we speculate again that this was likely due to phytoplankton response to nutrients. *V. americana*'s shoot growth response to low-light would bring attached epiphytic algae closer to the water's surface, ultimately benefiting epiphytic algal growth. An increase in epiphytic algal density could in turn negatively impact the host macrophyte (Sand-Jensen and Søndergaard, 1981), as seen with the negative association between both *V. americana* length and length ratio, vs. epiphytic algal density.
# Muskegon Lake and experiment comparisons

Although similar to Muskegon Lake, epiphytic algal Chl-*a* and density were greater in the mesocosms, possibility due to greater physical abrasion or herbivory occurring in the lake. Lower epiphytic algal richness and diversity in the mesocosms may have resulted from controlled environmental conditions preventing colonization of new species from nearby habitats, as well as decreasing habitat heterogeneity among treatments. A greater abundance of cyanobacteria in the mesocosm experiment compared to the Muskegon Lake survey was likely influenced by the use of lake water from September-October when phytoplankton communities have seasonally shifted from spring diatom dominance to summer cyanobacteria dominance (Gillett and Steinman, 2011). Cyanobacteria also favor turbid and nutrient-rich conditions, which was reflected in the greater relative abundance of this phylum in certain treatments (Havens et al., 2003).

#### *Conclusions and ecological implications*

Overall, our anticipated macrophyte-epiphytic algal responses to source of nutrient enrichment did not conform to reality due to nutrient-induced phytoplankton growth, increasing the importance of light and turbidity as drivers of *V. americana* and epiphytic algae biological variables. Although phytoplankton presence hindered the ability to fully address the effects of direct vs. indirect nutrient sources on macrophytes and epiphytic algae, some conclusions could be made. Where water column nutrients were scarce or in high demand, porewater N and P were most beneficial for increasing *V. americana* biomass and its epiphytic algal biomass and density. Therefore, nutrient enrichment at a directly accessible source may not guarantee a biomass increase for a particular primary producer group; indirect nutrient availability may be needed to elicit a biomass increase under stressed conditions.

For macrophytes with a basal meristem, like Vallisneria spp., indirect sediment nutrient availability for epiphytic algae should be considered when examining nutrients and primary producer interactions (Périllon and Hilt, 2019). Epiphytic algae on meadow-forming macrophytes, with a greater proportion of plant biomass closer to the sediment (Madsen et al., 2001; Wigand et al., 2000), may become more reliant on porewater nutrients when phytoplankton biomass is elevated. Epiphytic algae's closer proximity to the sediment than phytoplankton may give epiphytes a competitive advantage over sediment nutrients (Sand-Jensen and Borum, 1991; Vadeboncoeur et al., 2001), dependent on meroplankton movement in the vertical water column (Schelske et al., 1995). Since epiphytic algal existence is contingent on macrophyte host survival, V. americana's adaptability to nutrient-rich environments is critical. Vallisneria's growth form is less adept to competing in nutrient-rich and turbid conditions than canopy-forming macrophytes (Chambers and Kalff, 1987; Madsen et al., 2001; Tang et al., 2019); however, its physiological adaptations to low-light may compensate for its disadvantageous morphology, allowing this genus to exist in both nutrient-rich and -poor habitats (Song et al., 2015; Titus and Adams, 1979).

Further research concerning macrophyte and epiphytic algal responses to nutrient enrichment is recommended, including treatments with and without phytoplankton, to more definitively detect macrophyte-epiphytic algal interactions. If littoral habitat restoration is to occur where light and nutrients are the main drivers of community change, all nutrient pools should be investigated, since indirect nutrient sources can be just as important for primary

producers as direct sources. In extreme circumstances, epiphytic and planktonic growth, as a response to elevated nutrients, has facilitated total macrophyte community loss (Phillips et al., 1978; Phillips et al., 2016); epiphytic algal mitigation should be incorporated into restoration efforts, especially if phytoplankton is decreasing light availability. Choosing restoration locations with greater physical disturbance may control epiphytic algal biomass while promoting high algal richness and diversity, assuming hydrologic exposure is not limiting macrophyte colonization. A balance between habitat characteristics that favor macrophyte growth and lessen epiphytic algal stress is therefore critical for successful macrophyte community rejuvenation and the recovery of associated ecosystem services.

# References

- Allen, H. L., 1971. Primary productivity, chemo-organotrophy, and nutritional interactions of epiphytic algae and bacteria on macrophytes in the littoral of a lake. Ecological monographs, 41: 97-127.
- Apha, A., 1998. Wef. Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater. 21: 1378.
- Barko, J. W., Gunnison, D., & S. R., Carpenter, 1991. Sediment interactions with submersed macrophyte growth and community dynamics. Aquatic Botany, 41: 41-65.
- Barko, J. W., & W. F., James, 1998. Effects of submerged aquatic macrophytes on nutrient dynamics, sedimentation, and resuspension. In The structuring role of submerged macrophytes in lakes Springer, New York, NY. pp. 197-214.
- Barko, J. W., Smart, R. M., McFarland, D. G., & R. L., Chen, 1988. Interrelationships between the growth of *Hydrilla verticillata* (Lf) Royle and sediment nutrient availability. Aquatic Botany, 32: 205-216.
- Berthon, V., Bouchez, A., & F., Rimet, 2011. Using diatom life-forms and ecological guilds to assess organic pollution and trophic level in rivers: a case study of rivers in southeastern France. Hydrobiologia, 673: 259-271.
- Blanco, S., Ector, L., & E., Bécares, 2004. Epiphytic diatoms as water quality indicators in Spanish shallow lakes. Vie et Milieu, 54: 71-80.
- Bracken, M.E. & Stachowicz, J.J., 2006. Seaweed diversity enhances nitrogen uptake via complementary use of nitrate and ammonium. Ecology, 87: 2397-2403.

- Burkholder, J. M., 1996. Interactions of benthic algae with their substrata. Algal Ecology-Freshwater Benthic Ecosystems.
- Burkholder, J. M., & R. G., Wetzel, 1990. Epiphytic alkaline phosphatase on natural and artificial plants in an oligotrophic lake: Re-evaluation of the role of macrophytes as a phosphorus source for epiphytes. Limnology and Oceanography, 35: 736-747.
- Burkholder, J. M., Wetzel, R. G., & K. L., Klomparens, 1990. Direct comparison of phosphate uptake by adnate and loosely attached microalgae within an intact biofilm matrix. Applied Environmental Microbiology, 56: 2882-2890.
- Carrick, H. J., Lowe, R. L., & J. T., Rotenberry, 1988. Guilds of benthic algae along nutrient gradients: relationships to algal community diversity. Journal of the North American Benthological Society, 7: 117-128.
- Cattaneo, A., & J., Kalff, 1979. Primary production of algae growing on natural and artificial aquatic plants: A study of interactions between epiphytes and their substrate 1. Limnology and Oceanography, 24: 1031-1037.
- Chambers, P. A., & J., Kalff, 1987. Light and nutrients in the control of aquatic plant community structure. I. In situ experiments. The Journal of Ecology, 611-619.
- Chambers, P. A., Prepas, E. E., Bothwell, M. L., & H. R., Hamilton, 1989. Roots versus shoots in nutrient uptake by aquatic macrophytes in flowing waters. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 46: 435-439.
- Cronin, G., & D. M., Lodge, 2003. Effects of light and nutrient availability on the growth, allocation, carbon/nitrogen balance, phenolic chemistry, and resistance to herbivory of two freshwater macrophytes. Oecologia, 137: 32-41.

- Davis, W. P., & A. D., Steinman, 1998. A lightweight, inexpensive benthic core sampler for use in shallow water.
- Dodds, W. K., 2003. The role of periphyton in phosphorus retention in shallow freshwater aquatic systems. Journal of Phycology, 39: 840-849.
- Dülger, E., Heidbüchel, P., Schumann, T., Mettler-Altmann, T., & A., Hussner, 2017. Interactive effects of nitrate concentrations and carbon dioxide on the stoichiometry, biomass allocation and growth rate of submerged aquatic plants. Freshwater Biology, 62: 1094-1104.
- Elser, J. J., Bracken, M. E., Cleland, E. E., Gruner, D. S., Harpole, W. S., Hillebrand, H., Ngai, J.T., Seabloom, E.W., Shurin, J.B., & J.E., Smith, 2007. Global analysis of nitrogen and phosphorus limitation of primary producers in freshwater, marine and terrestrial ecosystems. Ecology Letters, 10: 1135-1142.
- Eminson, D., & B., Moss, 1980. The composition and ecology of periphyton communities in freshwaters: 1 the influence of host type and external environment on community composition. British Phycological Journal, 15: 429-446.
- Erhard, D., & E. M., Gross, 2006. Allelopathic activity of Elodea canadensis and Elodea nuttallii against epiphytes and phytoplankton. Aquatic Botany, 85: 203-211.
- Fairchild, G. W., Lowe, R. L., & W. B., Richardson, 1985. Algal periphyton growth on nutrientdiffusing substrates: an in situ bioassay. Ecology, 66: 465-472.
- Gillett, N. D., & A. D., Steinman, 2011. An analysis of long-term phytoplankton dynamics in Muskegon Lake, a Great Lakes Area of Concern. Journal of Great Lakes Research, 37: 335-342.

- Grace, J. B., 1993. The adaptive significance of clonal reproduction in angiosperms: an aquatic perspective. Aquatic Botany, 44: 159-180.
- Grutters, B. M., Gross, E. M., van Donk, E., & E. S., Bakker, 2017. Periphyton density is similar on native and non-native plant species. Freshwater Biology, 62: 906-915.
- Gross, N., Suding, K.N., Lavorel, S., & C., Roumet, 2007. Complementarity as a mechanism of coexistence between functional groups of grasses. Journal of Ecology 95: 1296-1305.
- Havens, K. E., James, R. T., East, T. L., & V. H., Smith, 2003. N: P ratios, light limitation, and cyanobacterial dominance in a subtropical lake impacted by non-point source nutrient pollution. Environmental Pollution, 122: 379-390.
- Henriksen, K., Hansen, J. I., & T. H., Blackburn, 1981. Rates of nitrification, distribution of nitrifying bacteria, and nitrate fluxes in different types of sediment from Danish waters.
   Marine Biology, 61: 299-304.
- House, W. A., & F. H., Denison, 2000. Factors influencing the measurement of equilibrium phosphate concentrations in river sediments. Water Research, 34: 1187-1200.
- Huang, L., Du, S., Fan, L., Lin, X., Wang, H., & Y., Zhang, 2011. Microbial activity facilitates phosphorus adsorption to shallow lake sediment. Journal of Soils and Sediments, 11: 185-193.
- Jones, J. I., Young, J. O., Eaton, J. W., & B., Moss, 2002. The influence of nutrient loading, dissolved inorganic carbon and higher trophic levels on the interaction between submerged plants and periphyton. Journal of Ecology, 90: 12-24.
- Li, L., Lan, Z., Chen, J., & Z., Song, 2018. Allocation to clonal and sexual reproduction and its plasticity in Vallisneria spinulosa along a water-depth gradient. Ecosphere, 9: e02070.

- Li, Y., Xia, B., Zhang, J., Li, C., & W., Zhu, 2010. Assessing high resolution oxidation-reduction potential and soluble reactive phosphorus variation across vertical sediments and water layers in Xinghu Lake: a novel laboratory approach. Journal of Environmental Sciences, 22: 982-990.
- Lowe, R. L., Golladay, S. W., & J. R., Webster, 1986. Periphyton response to nutrient manipulation in streams draining clearcut and forested watersheds. Journal of the North American Benthological Society, 5: 221-229.
- Loza, V., Perona, E., & P., Mateo, 2014. Specific responses to nitrogen and phosphorus enrichment in cyanobacteria: factors influencing changes in species dominance along eutrophic gradients. Water Research, 48: 622-631.
- Madsen, T. V., & N., Cedergreen, 2002. Sources of nutrients to rooted submerged macrophytes growing in a nutrient-rich stream. Freshwater Biology, 47: 283-291.
- Madsen, J. D., Chambers, P. A., James, W. F., Koch, E. W., & D. F., Westlake, 2001. The interaction between water movement, sediment dynamics and submersed macrophytes. Hydrobiologia, 444: 71-84.
- O'Connell, J., Byrd, K., & M., Kelly, 2015. A hybrid model for mapping relative differences in belowground biomass and root: Shoot ratios using spectral reflectance, foliar N and plant biophysical data within coastal marsh. Remote Sensing, 7: 16480-16503.
- Ogdahl, M. E., & A. D., Steinman, 2015. Factors influencing macrophyte growth and recovery following shoreline restoration activity. Aquatic Botany, 120: 363-370.
- Oskanen, J., Blanchet, F., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin, P., O'Hara, R., Simpson, G., Solymos, P., Stevens, H., Szoecs, E., & H., Wagner, 2018. vegan:

Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.5-2. https://CRAN.R-

project.org/package=vegan

- Passy, S. I., & C. A., Larson, 2019. Niche dimensionality and herbivory control stream algal biomass via shifts in guild composition, richness, and evenness. Ecology, e02831.
- Périllon, C., & S., Hilt, 2019. Groundwater discharge gives periphyton a competitive advantage over macrophytes. Aquatic Botany, 154: 72-80.
- Phillips, G. L., Eminson, D., & B., Moss, 1978. A mechanism to account for macrophyte decline in progressively eutrophicated freshwaters. Aquatic Botany, 4: 103-126.
- Phillips, G., Willby, N., & B., Moss, 2016. Submerged macrophyte decline in shallow lakes: what have we learnt in the last forty years?. Aquatic Botany, 135: 37-45.
- R Core Team, 2017. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Sand-Jensen, K., & J., Borum, 1991. Interactions among phytoplankton, periphyton, and macrophytes in temperate freshwaters and estuaries. Aquatic Botany, 41: 137-175.
- Sand-Jensen, K., & M., Søndergaard, 1981. Phytoplankton and epiphyte development and their shading effect on submerged macrophytes in lakes of different nutrient status. Internationale Revue der gesamten Hydrobiologie und Hydrographie, 66: 529-552.
- Schneider, S. C., Lawniczak, A. E., Picińska-Faltynowicz, J., & K., Szoszkiewicz, 2012a. Do macrophytes, diatoms and non-diatom benthic algae give redundant information? Results from a case study in Poland. Limnologica-Ecology and Management of Inland Waters, 42: 204-211.

- Schneider, C.A., Rasband, W.S., Eliceiri, K.W., 2012b. NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. Nature Methods, 9: 671.
- Schneider, S. C., & E. A., Lindstrøm, 2011. The periphyton index of trophic status PIT: a new eutrophication metric based on non-diatomaceous benthic algae in Nordic rivers. Hydrobiologia, 665(1), 143-155.
- Schelske, C.L., Carrick, H.J., & F.J., Aldridge, 1995. Can wind-induced resuspension of meroplankton affect phytoplankton dynamics?. Journal of the North American Benthological Society, 14: 616-630.
- Song, Y. Z., Wang, J. Q., Gao, Y. X., & X. J., Xie, 2015. The physiological responses of Vallisneria natans to epiphytic algae with the increase of N and P concentrations in water bodies. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 22: 8480-8487.
- Southwell, M. W., Kieber, R. J., Mead, R. N., Avery, G. B., & S. A., Skrabal, 2010. Effects of sunlight on the production of dissolved organic and inorganic nutrients from resuspended sediments. Biogeochemistry, 98: 115-126.
- Steinman, A.D., Lamberti, G.A., Leavitt, P.R., & D.G., Uzarski, 2017. Biomass and pigments of benthic algae. In: Hauer, R.F., Lamberti, G.A. (Eds.), Methods in Stream Ecology, Volume
  1. Academic Press, Massachusetts, pp. 223-241.
- Steinman, A. D., & C. D., McIntire, 1987. Effects of irradiance on the community structure and biomass of algal assemblages in laboratory streams. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 44: 1640-1648.
- Steinman, A. D., McIntire, C. D., Gregory, S. V., & G. A., Lamberti, 1989. Effects of Irradiance and Grazing on Lotic Algal Assemblages 1. Journal of Phycology, 25: 478-485.

- Steinman, A. D., Mulholland, P. J., & W. R., Hill, 1992. Functional responses associated with growth form in stream algae. Journal of the North American Benthological Society, 11: 229-243.
- Strand, J. A., & S. E., Weisner, 1996. Wave exposure related growth of epiphyton: implications for the distribution of submerged macrophytes in eutrophic lakes. Hydrobiologia, 325: 113-119.
- Tang, Y., Fu, B., Zhang, X., & Z., Liu, 2019. Nutrient addition delivers growth advantage to *Hydrilla verticillata* over *Vallisneria natans*: a mesocosm study. Knowledge & Management of Aquatic Ecosystems, 420: 12.
- Thomaz, S. M., & E. R. D., Cunha, 2010. The role of macrophytes in habitat structuring in aquatic ecosystems: methods of measurement, causes and consequences on animal assemblages' composition and biodiversity. Acta Limnologica Brasiliensia, 22: 218-236.
- Titus, J. E., & M. S., Adams, 1979. Coexistence and the comparative light relations of the submersed macrophytes Myriophyllum spicatum L. and Vallisneria americana Michx. Oecologia, 40: 273-286.
- Tuominen, L., Kairesalo, T., & H., Hartikainen, 1994. Comparison of methods for inhibiting bacterial activity in sediment. Applied Environmental Microbiology, 60: 3454-3457.

Uzarski, D. G., Brady, V. J., Cooper, M. J., Wilcox, D. A., Albert, D. A., Axler, R. P., Bostwick, P., Brown, T.N., Ciborowski, J.J.H., Danz, N.P., Gathman, J.P., Gehring, T.M, Grabas, G.P., Garwood, A., Howe, R.W., Johnson, L.B., Lamberti, G.A., Moerke, A.H, Murry, B.A., Miemi, G.J., Normaent, C.J., Ruetz, C.S., Steinman, A.D., Tozer, D.C., Tozer, D.C>, Wheeler, R., O'Donnell, T.K., & J.P., Schneider, 2017. Standardized measures of coastal wetland condition: implementation at a Laurentian Great Lakes basin-wide scale. Wetlands, 37: 15-32.

- Vadeboncoeur, Y., & A. D., Steinman, 2002. Periphyton function in lake ecosystems. The Scientific World Journal, 2: 1449-1468.
- Vadeboncoeur, Y., Lodge, D. M., & S. R., Carpenter, 2001. Whole-lake fertilization effects on distribution of primary production between benthic and pelagic habitats. Ecology, 82: 1065-1077.
- Van der Grinten, E., Simis, S. G. H., Barranguet, C., & W., Admiraal, 2004. Dominance of diatoms
   over cyanobacterial species in nitrogen-limited biofilms. Archiv für Hydrobiologie, 161:
   98-111.
- Vitousek, P. M., Porder, S., Houlton, B. Z., & O. A., Chadwick, 2010. Terrestrial phosphorus limitation: mechanisms, implications, and nitrogen–phosphorus interactions. Ecological applications, 20: 5-15.
- Wear, D. J., Sullivan, M. J., Moore, A. D., & D. F., Millie, 1999. Effects of water-column enrichment on the production dynamics of three seagrass species and their epiphytic algae. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 179: 201-213.

Wetzel, R. G., 2001. Limnology: lake and river ecosystems, Houston.

Wigand, C., Wehr, J., Limburg, K., Gorham, B., Longergan, S., & S., Findlay, 2000. Effect of *Vallisneria americana* (L.) on community structure and ecosystem function in lake mesocosms. Hydrobiologia, 418: 137-146. **Table 3.1**: Mean ( $\pm$ SD) ambient SRP and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N concentrations in the water column(n per nutrient = 12) and porewater (n per nutrient = 9) of Muskegon Lake along with the mean expected (ambient and 10x ambient nutrient concentrations anticipated for each respective treatment) ( $\pm$ SD) and observed SRP and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N concentrations in the water column (n per nutrient = 15) and porewater (n = 1) for each of the four mesocosm treatments.

	Muskegon Lake	Control (C)		Sediment (S)		Water Column (WC)		Both (B)	
Variable	Ambient	Expected	Observed	Expected	Observed	Expected	Observed	Expected	Observed
Water Column	0.016	0.016	0.006	0.016	0.006	0.16	0.07	0.16	0.09
SRP (mg/L)	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.001)	(0.009)	(0.001)	(0.009)	(0.05)	(0.009)	(0.06)
Water Column	0.15	0.15	0.16	0.15	0.15	1.50	1.38	1.50	1.40
NO₃⁻-N (mg/L)	(0.10)	(0.10)	(0.12)	(0.10)	(0.12)	(0.10)	(0.96)	(0.10)	(0.94)
Porewater SRP	0.041	0.041	0.010	0.41	0.41 (0.02) 0.01	0.041	0.01	0.41	0.01
(mg/L)	(0.02)	(0.02)	0.010	(0.02)		(0.02)	0.01	(0.02)	
Porewater NO <sub>3</sub>	0.21	0.21	0.02	2.10	0.96	0.21	4.00	2.10	лол
-N (mg/L)	(0.09)	(0.09)	0.82	(0.09)	0.80	(0.09)	(0.09) 4.09	(0.09)	4.84

**Table 3.2**: Mean (±SD) values of physical and chemical variables collected in each of the four treatments. Asterisks on variables indicates Kruskal-Wallis significance among treatments with a p-value < 0.05. Superscripts on variable values indicate significant similarities or differences among treatments.

Variable	Control (C)	Sediment (S)	Water Column (WC)	Both (B)
Temperature* (°C)	22.89 (1.47) <sup>a</sup>	22.89 (1.52) <sup>a</sup>	22.61 (1.34) <sup><i>a</i></sup>	23.56 (1.45) <sup>b</sup>
DO* (mg/L)	10.32 (1.60) <sup>a</sup>	10.05 (1.37) <sup>a</sup>	14.95 (4.58) <sup>b</sup>	13.70 (3.57) <sup>b</sup>
pH*	8.92 (0.33) <sup>a</sup>	8.89 (0.31) <sup>a</sup>	9.38 (0.51) <sup>b</sup>	9.26 (0.45) <sup>b</sup>
ORP* (mV)	71.51 (14.84) <sup>a</sup>	71.05 (13.26) <sup>a</sup>	55.60 (18.67) <sup>b</sup>	60.28 (25.18) <sup>b</sup>
Turbidity* (NTU)	1.14 (1.53) <sup>ab</sup>	0.89 (1.45) <sup>a</sup>	2.65 (1.97) <sup>c</sup>	1.41 (2.04) <sup>bc</sup>
Phytoplankton	0.03 (0.03) <sup>ab</sup>	0.01 (0.004) <sup>a</sup>	0.14 (0.11) <sup>c</sup>	0.15 (0.24) <sup>bc</sup>
Chlorophyll-a*				
Light Extinction*	1.32 (0.45) <sup>a</sup>	1.12 (0.14) <sup>a</sup>	2.03 (0.79) <sup>b</sup>	1.96 (0.66) <sup>b</sup>
TDS* (g/L)	0.26 (0.01) <sup>a</sup>	0.26 (0.01) <sup>a</sup>	0.24 (0.03) <sup>b</sup>	0.24 (0.02) <sup>b</sup>
Specific	392.47 (17.70) <sup>a</sup>	398.64 (14.53) <sup>a</sup>	365.00	375.49 (36.19) <sup>b</sup>
Conductivity*			(42.47) <sup>b</sup>	
(μS/cm)				
SRP* (mg/L)	0.006 (<0.001) <sup>a</sup>	0.007 (<0.001) <sup>a</sup>	0.07 (0.05) <sup>b</sup>	0.11 (0.04) <sup>b</sup>
TP* (mg/L)	0.03 (0.006) <sup>a</sup>	0.03 (0.01) <sup>a</sup>	0.16 (0.05) <sup>b</sup>	0.18 (0.07) <sup>b</sup>
NO₃⁻* (mg/L)	0.16 (0.12) <sup>a</sup>	0.15 (0.12) <sup>a</sup>	1.38 (0.95) <sup>b</sup>	1.49 (0.89) <sup>b</sup>
TKN* (mg/L)	0.74 (0.33) <sup>a</sup>	0.64 (0.23) <sup>a</sup>	1.12 (0.32) <sup>b</sup>	1.83 (2.27) <sup>b</sup>
Porewater SRP*	0.01 (0.001) <sup>a</sup>	0.01 (0.003) <sup>ab</sup>	0.01 (0.001) <sup>ab</sup>	0.01 (0.004) <sup>b</sup>
(mg/L)				
Sediment TP (mg/L)	0.07 (0.03)	0.07 (0.03)	0.07 (0.04)	0.08 (0.02)
Porewater NO <sub>3</sub> ⁻*	0.82 (1.22) <sup>a</sup>	0.86 (1.24) <sup>a</sup>	4.09 (1.88) <sup>b</sup>	4.84 (3.30) <sup>b</sup>
(mg/L)				
Sediment TKN	0.22 (0.09)	0.19 (0.05)	0.24 (0.08)	0.20 (0.06)
(118/ 5/				

Table 3.3: SIMPER post-hoc results for the NMDS clustering by treatment. Mean dissimilarity (%) for each treatment indicates which genera contributed the most to the separation among treatments. Genera present for each treatment contribute to ~90% of the cumulative mean dissimilarity. Genera mean relative abundance (%) (as Abd.) within each of the four treatments is provided. A dash indicates that a genus did not substantially contribute to the dissimilarity within a treatment and was not a major contributor to the separation in clusters for that treatment.

		Control (C)		Sediment (S)		Water Column (WC)		Both (B)	
Genus	Growth Form	Dissimilarity	Abd.	Dissimilarity	Abd.	Dissimilarity	Abd.	Dissimilarity	Abd.
Cylindrospermum	Filamentous	16.3	21.7	5.8	0.0	5.1	0.1	5.4	0.3
Mougeotia	Filamentous	9.4	10.7	15.8	22.4	8.4	1.6	8.7	1.5
Pseudanabaena	Filamentous	8.7	8.0	11.8	14.8	12.8	9.6	9.2	7.1
Achnanthidium	Stalked	10.7	5.3	9.6	12.5	12.9	24.3	11.7	19.6
Fragilaria	Colonial	12.7	13.0	12.5	14.8	14.2	21.7	15.6	21.6
Lyngbya	Filamentous	19.1	19.9	20.2	14.5	21.7	16.2	28.1	40.4
Phormidium	Filamentous	8.6	10.6	7.9	8.3	4.6	0.0	4.8	0.1
Kirchneriella	Colonial	3.4	3.1	2.6	1.4	5.1	6.5	2.6	0.4
Scenedesmus	Colonial	1.3	0.7	1.5	0.5	4.4	6.0	1.6	0.8
Nitzschia	Motile	1.2	2.1	1.9	3.1	2.3	4.1	1.4	2.0
Coelastrum	Colonial	-	-	1.1	0.4	1.5	2.1	1.4	1.8

**Table 3.4**: Physical and chemical variables collected at each of the Muskegon Lake transects in correspondence with the 2018 epiphytic algae survey.

Variable	NWRef	HertL	GrandT
DO (mg/L)	9.64	12.33	9.02
ORP (mV)	63.3	69.4	34.2
рН	8.83	9.04	8.40
Temperature (°C)	25.88	30.08	24.29
Turbidity (NTU)	1.2	11.3	0.7
TP (mg/L)	0.022	0.023	0.020
Light Extinction	5.76	1.78	2.49
NO <sub>3</sub> - (mg/L)	0.104	0.110	0.15
TKN (mg/L)	0.748	0.728	1.104
Specific Conductance (µS/cm)	341	351	355
Depth (m)	0.8	0.9	1.2



**Figure 3.1**: Experimental design of sediment vs. water column nutrient enrichment source. Twelve mesocosms are represented by large circles. Large circle color indicates the assigned source of nutrient enrichment treatment to each mesocosm. Smaller circles within mesocosms represent the random placement of individual live *V. americana* (green) and artificial macrophytes (orange) planted in buckets containing sediment.



**Figure 3.2**: Mean live *V. americana* macrophyte biological variables in each treatment after 28 days. One standard deviation above and below the mean is provided, n = 48. Uppercase, bold letters above treatment groupings represent statistically significant differences among treatments. (a) Mean total macrophyte biomass (described as the individual *V.americana* biomass plus biomass of all propagules attached to that individual) with statistically significant differences among treatments (p=0.004). (b) Mean individual macrophyte biomass (g) (defined as the original macrophyte used for removing epiphytic algae). (c) Mean macrophyte length root:shoot ratio with statistically significant differences among treatments (p=0.04). (d) Mean total macrophyte length (cm). (e) Mean propagule number per individual macrophyte.



**Figure 3.3**: Mean epiphytic algae biological metrics on live *V. americana* and artificial macrophytes in each treatment. One standard deviation above the mean is provided. Uppercase, bold letters above treatment groupings represent statistically significant differences among treatments. Lowercase letters above individual bars represent statistically significant differences between plant types, n = 89. (a) Mean epiphytic algae chlorophyll-a (µg/cm<sup>2</sup>). (b) Mean epiphytic algae density (cells/mm<sup>2</sup>) with statistically significant differences between plant types (p=0.002). (c) Mean epiphytic algae genera richness with statistically significant differences among treatments (p<0.001). (d) Mean epiphytic algae diversity with statistically significant differences among treatments (p=0.006).



Figure 3.4: A stacked barplot of the mean relative abundances of epiphytic algal taxa growing

on live *V. americana* and artificial macrophytes within all four treatments.



**Figure 3.5**: (a) An NMDS biplot with mean relative abundance data for epiphytic algal taxa and a stress value of 20%. Colors represent the different treatments (control, water column, sediment, and both) and symbol shapes represent plant type (Live and Artificial). Environmental variables are overlaid onto the plot (phytoplankton chlorophyll-*a* [Wchla], soluble reactive phosphorus [SRP], total Kjeldahl nitrogen [TKN], total phosphorus [TP], nitrate [NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>], pH, dissolved oxygen [DO], light extinction [Light], turbidity [NTU], temperature [T], oxidation-reduction potential [ORP], specific conductance [SC], total dissolved solids [TDS], porewater SRP [PoreSRP], porewater NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> [PoreNO3], sediment TP [SedTP], and sediment TKN [SedTKN]). Vector length is positively correlated with each variable's explanatory power in the dataset. (b) Same biplot as (a) but with algae relative abundances clustered by treatment.



**Figure 3.6**: Mean epiphytic algae biological metrics at each of the three Muskegon Lake transects. One standard deviation above the mean is provided. Letters above transect groupings represents statistically significant differences among transects, n = 30. (a) Epiphytic algal chlorophyll-a ( $\mu$ g/cm<sup>2</sup>) concentrations. (b) Epiphytic algal density (cells/mm<sup>2</sup>). (c) Epiphytic algal diversity. (d) Epiphytic algal richness.





# **Appendix A. Supplementary Material**

**Table 3.A1**: Linear regression results for significant correlations between variables for the source of nutrient enrichment experiment. Negative signs in front of R<sup>2</sup> values indicate a negative correlation between the two variables.

Regression	R <sup>2</sup>	Р	F	Df
Biological vs. Environmental:				
Total Macrophyte Biomass				
Total Macrophyte Biomass vs. NTU	-0.09	0.05	4.26	42
Total Macrophyte Biomass vs. TDS	-0.13	0.02	6.42	42
Total Macrophyte Biomass vs. Temperature	0.16	0.008	7.77	42
Total Macrophyte Biomass vs. Specific Conductance	0.10	0.03	4.92	42
Individual Macrophyte Biomass				
Individual Macrophyte Biomass vs. SRP	0.13	0.02	6.08	42
Individual Macrophyte Biomass vs. Temperature	0.22	0.001	11.87	42
Macrophyte Length				
Macrophyte Length vs. Temperature	0.14	0.01	7.02	42
Macrophyte Length Root:Shoot Ratio				
Length Root:Shoot Ratio vs. DO	-0.08	0.05	3.92	42
Length Root:Shoot Ratio vs. Light	-0.13	0.02	6.02	42
Length Root:Shoot Ratio vs. pH	-0.24	<0.001	13.55	42
Length Root:Shoot Ratio vs. Temperature	-0.25	<0.001	13.65	42
Length Root:Shoot Ratio vs. Porewater NO <sub>3</sub> -	-0.20	0.002	10.4	42
Length Root:Shoot Ratio vs. SRP	-0.20	0.002	10.24	42
Length Root:Shoot Ratio vs. NO <sub>3</sub> -	-0.15	0.009	7.54	42
Length Root:Shoot Ratio vs. TKN	-0.17	0.005	8.69	42
Length Root:Shoot Ratio vs. TP	-0.17	0.005	8.63	42
Length Root:Shoot Ratio vs. ORP	0.09	0.04	4.33	42
Propagule Number				
Propagule Number vs. DO	0.12	0.02	5.80	42
Propagule Number vs. Light	0.13	0.02	6.23	42
Propagule Number vs. pH	0.10	0.04	4.45	42

Propagule Number vs. NO <sub>3</sub> -	0.19	0.003	9.92	42
Propagule Number vs. SRP	0.10	0.04	4.50	42
Propagule Number vs. TKN	0.10	0.04	4.47	42
Propagule Number vs. TP	0.10	0.03	4.86	42
Epiphyton Chla				
Epiphyton Chla vs. pH	0.04	0.04	4.14	89
Epiphyton Chla vs. Temperature	0.12	<0.001	12.13	89
Epiphyton Chla vs. Sediment TP	0.11	0.001	11.14	89
Epiphyton Chla vs. Porewater NO <sub>3</sub> -	0.06	0.02	5.67	89
Epiphyton Density				
Density vs. TDS	0.05	0.04	4.57	89
Density vs. Porewater SRP	0.07	0.01	6.55	89
Density vs. Porewater NO <sub>3</sub> -	0.05	0.04	4.35	89
Density vs. Sediment TP	0.05	0.02	5.05	89
Epiphyton Diversity				
Diversity vs. Porewater NO <sub>3</sub> -	-0.21	<0.001	23.72	89
Diversity vs. Porewater SRP	-0.11	0.001	11.50	89
Diversity vs. NO <sub>3</sub> -	-0.09	0.003	9.09	89
Diversity vs. SRP	-0.08	0.008	7.27	89
Diversity vs. TKN	-0.08	0.007	7.45	89
Diversity vs. TP	-0.06	0.02	5.79	89
Diversity vs. Light	-0.08	0.005	8.24	89
Diversity vs. pH	-0.12	0.007	12.28	89
Diversity vs. Temperature	-0.16	<0.001	16.84	89
Diversity vs. ORP	0.05	0.05	3.94	89
Epiphyton Richness				
Richness vs. NO₃ <sup>-</sup>	-0.20	<0.001	22.40	89
Richness vs. SRP	-0.20	<0.001	21.65	89
Richness vs. Porewater NO <sub>3</sub> ⁻	-0.16	<0.001	17.45	89
Richness vs. TP	-0.18	<0.001	19.96	89
Richness vs. TKN	-0.17	<0.001	18.13	89
Richness vs. Sediment TKN	0.08	0.007	7.41	89
Richness vs. Light	-0.20	<0.001	22.13	89
Richness vs. pH	-0.13	<0.001	13.66	89
Richness vs. Temperature	-0.13	<0.001	13.58	89
Richness vs. DO	-0.11	0.001	11.02	89

Richness vs. NTU	-0.13	<0.001	13.76	89
Richness vs. ORP	0.17	<0.001	17.91	89
Richness vs. Specific Conductance	0.10	0.002	9.94	89
Phytoplankton Chla				
Phytoplankton Chla vs. NO <sub>3</sub> -	0.81	<0.001	387.9	89
Phytoplankton Chla vs. Porewater NO <sub>3</sub> -	0.72	<0.001	226	89
Phytoplankton Chla vs. Porewater SRP	0.05	0.02	5.14	89
Phytoplankton Chla vs. TP	0.78	<0.001	312.1	89
Phytoplankton Chla vs. Sediment TKN	-0.18	<0.001	19.27	89
Phytoplankton Chla vs. Light	0.96	<0.001	2019	89
Phytoplankton Chla vs. NTU	0.61	<0.001	138.2	89
Phytoplankton Chla vs. pH	0.67	<0.001	179	89
Phytoplankton Chla vs. TDS	-0.17	<0.001	17.79	89
Phytoplankton Chla vs. ORP	-0.80	<0.001	355.8	89
Phytoplankton Chla vs. Specific Conductance	-0.52	<0.001	97.98	89
Biological vs. Biological:				
Macrophyte Total Biomass				
Macrophyte Total Biomass vs. Macrophyte Length	0.25	<0.001	13.67	42
Individual Macrophyte Biomass				
Individual Macrophyte Biomass vs. Density	0.13	0.02	6.05	42
Individual Macrophyte Biomass vs. Macrophyte Length	0.34	<0.001	21.74	42
Individual Macrophyte Biomass vs. Macrophyte Biomass	0.37	<0.001	25.17	42
Macrophyte Length				
Macrophyte Length vs. Density	-0.13	0.02	6.24	42
Macrophyte Length vs. Diversity	-0.11	0.03	5.00	42
Macrophyte Length vs. Richness	-0.09	0.05	4.01	42
Macrophyte Length Root:Shoot Ratio				
Macrophyte Length Root:Shoot Ratio vs. Richness	0.23	<0.001	12.84	42
Macrophyte Length Root:Shoot Ratio vs. Diversity	0.17	0.006	8.35	42
Macrophyte Length Root:Shoot Ratio vs Density	-020	0.002	10.63	42
Macrophyte Length Root:Shoot Ratio vs. Phytoplankton Chla	-0.09	0.05	3.98	42

Propagule Number				
Propagule Number vs. Phytoplankton Chla	0.18	0.004	9.27	42
Epiphyton Chla				
Epiphyton Chla vs. Diversity	-0.11	0.001	11.28	89
Epiphyton Chla vs. Richness	-0.06	0.02	6.04	89
Epiphyton Chla vs. Density	0.06	0.02	5.99	89
Epiphyton Density				
Density vs. Diversity	-0.35	<0.001	47.31	89
Density vs. Richness	-0.10	0.002	9.40	89
Epiphyton Diversity				
Diversity vs. Phytoplankton Chla	-0.07	0.01	6.82	89
Diversity vs. Richness	0.15	<0.001	16.15	89
Epiphyton Richness				
Richness vs. Phytoplankton Chla	-0.15	<0.001	15.23	89



**Figure 3.A1**: (a) Map of the state of Michigan with the location of Muskegon Lake indicated by a black star. (b) Muskegon Lake with the three macrophyte survey transects indicated by black lines showing the length of each transect. Restored transects (Grand Trunk and Heritage Landing [Heritage]) are perpendicular to the southern shoreline and Northwest (NW) Reference is perpendicular to the northern shoreline.

#### Chapter 4

## Synthesis and Conclusions

#### Introduction

More than 93% of species residing in the world's largest lakes rely on littoral habitats and 76% of those are restricted to existing within this lake zone (Vadeboncoeur et al., 2011). Despite a small proportion of habitat supporting most aquatic organisms in lakes, littoral zones are the most often disturbed due to human activities (Niemi et al., 2007; Vadeboncoeur et al., 2011). Littoral habitat degradation often leads to a decline in macrophyte community integrity and function. The loss of macrophytes would negatively impact lake ecosystems in numerous ways, including: disrupt the movement and retention of organic matter across the aquaticterrestrial interface; decrease periphytic algae presence (Carpenter and Lathrop, 1999; Sass et al., 2006); decrease littoral habitat complexity; and alter other biological interactions in the littoral zone (Brauns et al., 2011).

Most investigations into the loss of macrophyte communities have been prompted by the human impacts associated with eutrophication (Qiu et al., 2001; Søndergaard et al., 2007), with a goal to restore littoral habitat, through macrophyte planting, in order to reduce resource availability for phytoplankton and help alleviate turbid water conditions (Phillips et al., 1978; Phillips et al., 2016). Other littoral habitat disturbances such as lakeshore development, shoreline hardening, and dredging can be just as disruptive to ecosystem dynamics but have received less attention (Elias and Meyer, 2003). Even fewer of these distressed habitats have undergone restoration (Alexander et al., 2008; Ogdahl and Steinman, 2015; Radomski and Goeman, 2011). No matter the type of shoreline disturbance, understanding the habitat characteristics driving macrophyte community structure (i.e., richness, density, biomass, and diversity) is crucial for developing a successful restoration plan, as are biological interactions with other primary producers. Shifts in resources required by all autotrophs (i.e., nutrients and light) can directly impact macrophyte community structure and can indirectly impact macrophytes by impacting the surrounding primary producer groups' biological metrics. Therefore, usual positive macrophyte responses to growth-stimulating environmental changes, such as nutrientenriched habitat, may be diminished by the coinciding increase in epiphytic algal growth to nutrient-rich environments.

# Primary producer responses to nutrients

Interactions among macrophytes, epiphytic algae, and phytoplankton in shallow aquatic systems are most often studied when examining the alternating dominance between macrophyte-epiphytic algal communities and phytoplankton (Phillips et al., 1978; Phillips et al., 2016; Sand-Jensen and Borum, 1991). In natural ecosystems with clear water conditions, initial phytoplankton increases during nutrient enrichment can be mitigated by the dominance of dense macrophyte communities and their epiphytic algae. Water column nutrient increases are widely known to first enhance epiphytic algal growth, which then leads to a decline in macrophytes and subsequent phytoplankton dominance usually seen in eutrophic conditions (e.g., Phillips et al., 1978). In contrast to the usual order of primary producer changes, I speculate that the small population size of live *Vallisneria americana* in the mesocosms (4 individuals) for my laboratory experiment was not large enough to diminish phytoplankton growth. Additionally, abrupt nutrient pulses, combined with a week-long water residence time,

could have favored phytoplankton growth (MacIntyre and Cullen 1996; Sand-Jensen and Borum, 1991). All three primary producer groups therefore responded simultaneously to water column nutrient availability, and phytoplankton became an important biological component in the mesocosm environment.

Macrophyte-epiphytic algal responses to sources of nutrient enrichment were different than my initial predicted hypotheses, as my hypotheses did not account for phytoplankton presence. Results from my experiment were, however, like macrophyte-epiphytic algal responses typically exhibited when all three primary producer groups, including phytoplankton, are exposed to water column enrichment; after water column nutrients were added into the water column (WC) and both (B) treatments, phytoplankton chlorophyll-a (Chl-a) concentrations increased ~5 fold greater than in the sediment (S) and control (C) treatments.. Similar to results in Romo et al. (2007), macrophyte biomass in my study was greatest in the control (C) treatment, where concentrations of water column and porewater total phosphorus (TP) were below 0.06 mg/L and water column nitrate (NO<sub>3<sup>-</sup></sub>) was ~0.16 mg/L. Phytoplankton proliferation of nutrients and light, especially in the WC and B treatments, and persistence through the experiments duration counteracted the usual stimulatory influence of nutrient enrichment on both V. americana and its epiphytic algae. Despite the absence of a significant nutrient effect on epiphytic algal density, overall macrophyte length, length root:shoot ratio, and propagule number were negatively associated with epiphyton density; epiphytic algae was suggested to influence the reduction in V. americana growth, the similar response often documented in shallow ecosystems transitioning from clear water environments to eutrophic,

phytoplankton-dominated environments (Phillips et al., 1978; Phillips et al., 2016; Romo et al., 2007).

Unlike most studies involving primary producer interactions and nutrients, my experiment addressed porewater as a source of nutrient enrichment. Porewater nutrients increased the mean biomass accumulation for both macrophytes and epiphytic algae in the B treatment. However, epiphytic algal biomass could not be sustained only with the indirect availability of porewater nutrients whereas macrophyte direct access was enough for sustaining *V. americana* biomass. In the S treatment, the combination of greater macrophyte growth due to porewater enrichment, the presence of epiphytic algae, and the absence of water column enrichment helped mitigate phytoplankton growth in this clear water environment; phytoplankton Chl-*a* concentrations (0.01  $\mu$ g/L) were even lower in the S treatment compared to the C treatment (0.03  $\mu$ g/L). Our documentation of epiphytic algal association with porewater enrichment suggests that the reliance of attached algae on indirect nutrient sources is dependent on the surrounding environmental conditions and biological interactions.

As mentioned in Chapter 3, the two different sources of nutrient enrichment, along with light dynamics, were the main determinants of primary producer biomass-related responses in the mesocosm experiment (Figure 4.1A). Although I had expected a minimal phytoplankton response to nutrient enrichment (Figure 4.1B), nutrients substantially increased phytoplankton accumulation, which in turn, reduced light availability for *V. americana* and epiphytic algae (Figure 4.1A). Phytoplankton presence diminished epiphytic algae's response to water column nutrients and helped emphasize the role of porewater as an accessory nutrient source for increasing epiphytic algae biomass and density. As expected, epiphytic algae negatively

impacted *V. americana* possibly through the interception of nutrients and light, even despite phytoplankton lessening epiphytic algal biomass and density increases (Figure 4.1B). Although we expected *V. americana* biomass to be greatest in the S treatment, both water column and sediment nutrient enrichment elicited different responses from all macrophyte biological variables; biomass accumulation and propagule production were associated more with water column nutrients, whereas length root:shoot ratio was equally associated with water column and porewater nutrients.

# Drivers of epiphytic algae community change

Even though environmental conditions were different between Muskegon Lake and the mesocosm experiment, both study locations demonstrated the negative impacts of epiphytic algal growth on macrophyte communities; epiphytic algal density in the mesocosm experiment was negatively associated with *V. americana* total length and in Muskegon Lake, the transects with the greatest epiphytic algal density and biomass had the lowest total macrophyte community biomass and density. For example, Heritage Landing contained the greatest epiphytic algal densities on *V. americana* (34881 cells/ $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>), but the lowest macrophyte community biomass (112.48 kg) among transects.

To combat epiphytic algal negative impacts, my studies indicated that increased physical disturbance and intermediate light availability may reduce the intensity of epiphytic algal disturbance on *V. americana*. In Muskegon Lake, the lowest epiphytic algal density and biomass occurred at Northwest Reference, which experienced the greatest hydrologic exposure to wind and wave action (Wind Index [WI]: 317), greatest light extinction coefficient (5.16), greatest turbidity (16.63 NTU), and lowest photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) value at 0.5 m depth

(122 μmol/s/m<sup>2</sup>) of the three transects. Epiphytic algae responded similarly to the same environmental variables in the mesocosm experiment; current velocity may have imposed greater leaf drag on live vs. artificial macrophytes, reducing epiphytic algal density on live *V*. americana. Additionally, higher turbidity (WC: 2.65 NTU; B: 1.96 NTU) and light extinction (WC: 2.03; B: 1.96) in the WC and B treatments likely decreased epiphytic algal biomass and density.

In both my laboratory and field studies, physical disturbance regimes and light dynamics that favored epiphytic algal density and biomass increases often reduced epiphytic algal richness and diversity. High-light and low phytoplankton biomass in the S treatment helped maintain variability in microhabitat conditions on macrophyte surfaces, increasing epiphytic algal richness and diversity. In contrast, nutrient enrichment and light limitation in the WC and B treatments stressed epiphytic algal communities by narrowing resource regimes and increasing competitive exclusion, reducing richness and diversity (Carrick et al., 1988; DeNicola and Kelly, 2014; Hillebrand and Sommer, 2000). The Grand Trunk habitat in Muskegon Lake experienced intermediate hydrologic exposure and light extinction, promoting the greatest epiphytic algal diversity and richness among transects, a response often seen in ecosystems (Connell, 1978; England et al., 2008; Larned, 2010; Molino and Sabatier, 2001). NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and total kjeldahl nitrogen (TKN) concentrations also were greatest at Grand Trunk, possibly benefiting diversity and richness at this transect. A positive nutrient response in Muskegon Lake and a contrasting negative nutrient response in the mesocosm experiment displayed the importance of moderate resource availability for promoting habitat heterogeneity and preventing species monodominance. Resource saturation may therefore decrease epiphytic algal diversity and richness, as seen in the mesocosm experiment.

# Muskegon Lake macrophyte community trajectory

Since the goals of restoration aim to improve degraded ecosystems, temporal trajectories are often developed for predicting increases in habitat function over time (Hobbs and Norton, 1996). Many models for post-restoration community changes have assumed a simple, rapid, and predictable trajectory that favors an increase in habitat quality due to restoration (e.g., Mitsch et al., 1998) (Figure 4.2A). However, this expected timeline has been considered unrealistic (Matthews et al., 2009; Zedler and Callaway, 2002). The intensity of original habitat disturbance, the effectiveness of restoration, and the degree of environmental fluctuations or constraints all could influence the rate of habitat improvement, and the direction of habitat quality movement towards or away from the reference habitat conditions (Bullock et al., 2011; Matthews et al., 2009; Zedler and Callaway, 1999). The realized complexity of restoration outcomes has led to the development of multiple trajectory options (Bullock et al., 2011).

In my Muskegon Lake macrophyte survey, macrophyte richness, density, and biomass were noticeably impacted by the intensity of hydrologic and meteorological fluctuations among survey years (Figure 4.2B), obscuring distinct responses to restoration efforts and making it difficult to predict community changes among survey years. These environmental changes could have slowed the pace of ecosystem improvement, which is partially why definitive responses to restoration are not yet visible six years after restoration occurred. If environmental conditions in Muskegon Lake were more stable, macrophyte community responses to restoration may have been more discernable and may have appeared over a shorter time period.

Along with monitoring macrophyte community changes over time at restored transects, habitat quality also was compared to a designated reference habitat. Heritage Landing and Grand Trunk's macrophyte community metrics often mimicked changes occurring at Northwest Reference, suggesting that most macrophyte responses at the restored transects could be attributed, at least in part, to annual environmental variation and not to restoration, per se. When a restored transect did diverge from the reference during post-restoration, it was due to a decrease in macrophyte habitat quality; restoration-induced increases in habitat quality at restored transects were difficult to discern.

Restored habitat improvement was, however, evident when comparing coefficient of conservatism metrics (C-values) for all three transects during post-restoration. Northwest Reference's C-values post-restoration were lowest in 2011 (3.90) and increased in 2012 (4.21), with a similar C-value (4.22) in 2018. Grand Trunk's C-value in 2011 was lower (3.19) than the reference, but increased in 2012 (3.93), and almost matched the reference's value in 2018 (4.19). Based on Grand Trunk's current trajectory, it is likely that macrophyte communities at this restored transect will reach the same quality standard as the reference transect in the near future. Additionally, the similarities between Grand Trunk and Northwest Reference physical habitats, even before restoration took place, could have eased the achievement of reference standards for Grand Trunk.

In contrast to Grand Trunk's habitat quality trajectory, Heritage Landing's C-values during post-restoration were greatest in 2011 (3.67), decreased in 2012 (3.13), and increased in 2018 (3.56), but did not reach 2011 quality. The stochastic trajectory of Heritage Landing indicates that this restored transect may take longer to obtain reference-quality macrophyte
community structure, and some biological variables at this transect may never reach reference standards (Bullock et al., 2011). As mentioned in Chapter 2, it is likely that Heritage Landing's physical habitat features constrained macrophyte communities at this transect; Heritage Landing's high slope gradient and low hydrologic exposure decreased optimal growth conditions for macrophytes and increased epiphytic algal density and Chl-*a*. In addition, human pressures are greatest at this site, where festivals with up to 40,000 people take place throughout the summer, immediately adjacent to this transect. Anecdotal stories of pollutant dumping in this area, combined with heavy boating, add additional stress. These features may have inhibited the improvement of habitat quality at Heritage Landing when exposed to a high intensity of environmental fluctuation.

Other restoration monitoring projects have documented a community divergence from the anticipated trajectory, four to five years after restoration occurred (Bullock et al., 2011; Matthews and Spyreas, 2010); it would be advantageous to continue Muskegon Lake monitoring at least 10 years past initial restoration to assess long term trajectories since current monitoring has only spanned six years post-restoration. Additionally, macrophyte community resilience to environmental fluctuation is considered an important goal of restoration efforts (Lake, 2012), especially for Muskegon Lake, where temporal macrophyte community dynamics were partially driven by water level changes, precipitation accumulation, and temperature fluctuations. Climate change projections predict the severity of these events to increase in the future (O'Reilly et al., 2015), and since the endpoint of climate change is uncertain, the capacity of macrophyte resilience to this stressor will be difficult to estimate (Lake, 2012). At of 2018, only one survey year has captured macrophyte responses to increasing

145

water levels above the long-term Lake Michigan mean. Therefore, longer-term monitoring at the restored habitats also would be critical for determining the extent of macrophyte community resistance, as a product of restoration success, to climate change (Palmer et al., 2005; Suding and Gross, 2006; Zedler and Callaway, 1999).

Incorporating reference habitats into restoration analysis has long been an effective method for standardizing the definition of a desirable habitat, and researchers are encouraged to examine multiple reference habitats during monitoring (Hobbs and Norton, 1996). The first four years of Muskegon Lake monitoring, 2009-2012, included two reference transects, but reduced funding in 2018 permitted the sampling of only one reference transect. I therefore recognize that the Northwest Reference transect is not a sole representation of all more "natural" environments in Muskegon Lake, and restored transects' comparison to only one reference location should be interpreted with care. Additionally, a mean C-value of 4.08 out of 10 at Northwest Reference for all five survey years indicated the potential presence of past or current stressors at the reference habitat. Northwest Reference had not experienced the direct influence of the industrial activities affecting the south shoreline in the 20<sup>th</sup> century, which was the reason it was selected as a reference habitat. However, it may have experienced disturbance during the lumber industry's peak in the 1880's, and may be experiencing current localized disturbance cause by human recreation. The presence of invasive emergent macrophytes at the reference transect, Phragmites australis and Typha angustifolia, also could be decreasing reference habitat quality and may be responsible for a portion of C-value fluctuation among survey years. Nevertheless, transect quality was still greater at the reference than the restored locations, providing an achievable goal for macrophyte communities undergoing restoration.

## Conclusions

Overall, my results supported the post-restoration improvement of restored transect habitat quality in Muskegon Lake apart from the variation in physical habitat characteristics among transects and the change in water level and precipitation over the five survey years. Epiphytic algal surveys in Muskegon Lake were not a part of the original habitat monitoring plan devised with the shoreline restoration project, but evaluation of these communities has broadened our understanding of the lake's littoral ecosystem dynamics and supported the negative influence of epiphytic algae on their host V. americana. Any alteration in surrounding habitat environmental conditions (i.e., light and nutrients) could impact V. americana and epiphytic algae biological variables, influencing macrophyte-epiphytic algal interactions and ultimately impacting overall macrophyte community structure. Understanding the opposing macrophyte and epiphytic algal responses to the same environmental variable could be useful in choosing advantageous habitats for restoration; for example, macrophyte biomass and density in Muskegon Lake favored high hydrologic exposure, whereas epiphytic algal biomass and density favored low exposure and finally, algal richness and diversity favored intermediate exposure.

Conducting pre-restoration surveys can help determine which physical characteristics drive macrophyte spatial variability among sites and which temporal variables (e.g., precipitation or water level) drive macrophyte community structure changes among survey years. Pre-restoration results can then be used to better predict post-restoration habitat

147

recovery and improvement trajectory, helping anticipate the time required to reach reference standards. Although epiphytic algae were only examined over a spatial gradient in Muskegon Lake, hydrologic and meteorological fluctuations between years also likely impacted epiphytic algae community structure, just as macrophyte biological variables responded to these changes. It is suggested that future restoration projects, if funding and resources allow, should evaluate both macrophytes and epiphytic algae to determine the environmental conditions best suited for mitigating algal growth on host plants while still supporting a diverse and species rich epiphytic algal community.

Finally, my research demonstrated that even if restoration is successfully implemented and properly designed, uncontrollable and unpredictable environmental changes can still occur, potentially offsetting the predicted restoration trajectory. The intensity of environmental fluctuations became increasingly visible as Muskegon Lake surveying progressed, especially in 2018, making our results useful for informing future restoration efforts in an era of global climatic shifts (Harris et al., 2006). Wetlands are considered some of the most vulnerable habitats in the face of climate change (Erwin, 2009); continued Muskegon Lake monitoring would not only help confirm restoration trajectories, but also would determine the retainment of littoral ecosystem services during climatic environmental shifts. Our research therefore contributes to the expanding literature evaluating ecological restoration and the implications of climate change (Wilby et al., 2010).

We advocate for both the reduction of preventable stressors at restored habitats to increase macrophyte community stability, even after initial restoration is implemented, and for the incorporation of resiliency into restoration designs. This may include adaptive management

148

strategies, such as invasive species removal, to direct trajectories towards the desired habitat quality (Erwin, 2009) and shoreline development that incorporates soft features and optimizes carbon storage (Mcleod et al., 2011). A holistic awareness of littoral community structure and the main ecological drivers of community change will be imperative for executing restoration projects designed to resist predicted environmental shifts. If unexpected environmental changes do occur, this knowledge also will benefit the formation of suitable adaptive management plans to further improve habitat integrity.

## References

- Alexander, M.L., Woodford, M.P., & S.C., Hotchkiss, 2008. Freshwater macrophyte communities in lakes of variable landscape position and development in northern Wisconsin, USA. Aquatic Botany, 88: 77-86.
- Brauns, M., Gücker, B., Wagner, C., Garcia, X.F., Walz, N., & M.T., Pusch, 2011. Human lakeshore development alters the structure and trophic basis of littoral food webs. Journal of Applied Ecology, 48: 916-925.
- Bullock, J.M., Aronson, J., Newton, A.C., Pywell, R.F., & J.M., Rey-Benayas, 2011. Restoration of ecosystem services and biodiversity: conflicts and opportunities. Trends in ecology & evolution, 26: 541-549.
- Carpenter, S.R., & Lathrop, R.C. (1999). Lake restoration: capabilities and needs. In The Ecological Bases for Lake and Reservoir Management. Springer, Dordrecht: pp. 19-28.
- Carrick, H. J., Lowe, R. L., & J. T., Rotenberry, 1988. Guilds of benthic algae along nutrient gradients: relationships to algal community diversity. Journal of the North American Benthological Society, 7: 117-128.

Connell, J. H., 1978. Diversity in tropical rain forests and coral reefs. Science, 199: 1302-1310.

- DeNicola, D.M., & M., Kelly, 2014. Role of periphyton in ecological assessment of lakes. Freshwater Science, 33: 619-638.
- Elias, J.E., & M.W., Meyer, 2003. Comparisons of undeveloped and developed shorelands, northern Wisconsin, and recommendations for restoration. Wetlands, 23: 800-816.
- England, P.R., Phillips, J., Waring, J.R., Symonds, G., & R., Babcock, 2008. Modelling waveinduced disturbance in highly biodiverse marine macroalgal communities: support for

the intermediate disturbance hypothesis. Marine and Freshwater Research, 59:, 515-520.

- Erwin, K.L., 2009. Wetlands and global climate change: the role of wetland restoration in a changing world. Wetlands Ecology and Management, 17: 71.
- Harris, J.A., Hobbs, R.J., Higgs, E., & J., Aronson, 2006. Ecological restoration and global climate change. Restoration Ecology, 14: 170-176.
- Hillebrand, H., & U., Sommer, 2000. Diversity of benthic microalgae in response to colonization time and eutrophication. Aquatic Botany, 67: 221-236.
- Hobbs, R.J., & D.A., Norton, 1996. Towards a conceptual framework for restoration ecology. Restoration Ecology, 4: 93-110.
- Lake, P.S., 2013. Resistance, resilience and restoration. Ecological Management & Restoration, 14: 20-24.
- Larned, S.T., 2010. A prospectus for periphyton: recent and future ecological research. Journal of the North American Benthological Society, 29: 182-206.
- MacIntyre, H.L., & J.J., Cullen, 1996. Primary production by suspended and benthic microalgae in a turbid estuary: time-scales of variability in San Antonio Bay, Texas. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 145: 245-268.
- Matthews, J.W., & G., Spyreas, 2010. Convergence and divergence in plant community trajectories as a framework for monitoring wetland restoration progress. Journal of Applied Ecology, 47: 1128-1136.
- Matthews, J.W., Spyreas, G., & A.G., Endress, 2009. Trajectories of vegetation-based indicators used to assess wetland restoration progress. Ecological Applications, 19: 2093-2107.

- Mcleod, E., Chmura, G.L., Bouillon, S., Salm, R., Björk, M., Duarte, C.M., Lovelock, C.E., Schlesinger, W.H. & B.R., Silliman, 2011. A blueprint for blue carbon: toward an improved understanding of the role of vegetated coastal habitats in sequestering CO2. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 9: 552-560
- Mitsch, W.J., Wu, X., Nairn, R. W., Weihe, P.E., Wang, N., Deal, R., & C.E., Boucher, 1998. Creating and restoring wetlands. BioScience, 48: 1019-1030.
- Molino, J.F., & D., Sabatier, 2001. Tree diversity in tropical rain forests: a validation of the intermediate disturbance hypothesis. Science, 294: 1702-1704.
- Niemi, G.J., Kelly, J.R., & N.P., Danz, 2007. Environmental indicators for the coastal region of the North American Great Lakes: introduction and prospectus.
- Ogdahl, M.E., & A.D., Steinman, 2015. Factors influencing macrophyte growth and recovery following shoreline restoration activity. Aquatic Botany, 120: 363-370.
- O'Reilly, C.M., Sharma, S., Gray, D.K., Hampton, S.E., Read, J.S., Rowley, R.J., Schneider, P., Lenters, J.D., McIntyre, P.B., Kraemer, B.M. & G.A., Weyhenmeyer, 2015. Rapid and highly variable warming of lake surface waters around the globe. Geophysical Research Letters, 42: 10-773.
- Palmer, M.A., Bernhardt, E.S., Allan, J.D., Lake, P.S., Alexander, G., Brooks, S., Carr, J., Clayton,
  S., Dahm, C.N., Follstad Shah, J., Galat, D.L., Loss, S.G., Goodwin, P., Hart D.D., Hassett,
  B., Jenkinson, R., Kondolf, G.M., Lave, R., Meyer, J.L., O'Donnell, T.K., Pagano, L., & E.,
  Sudduth, 2005. Standards for ecologically successful river restoration. Journal of Applied
  Ecology, 42: 208-217.

- Phillips, G.L., Eminson, D., & B., Moss, 1978. A mechanism to account for macrophyte decline in progressively eutrophicated freshwaters. Aquatic Botany, 4: 103-126.
- Phillips, G., Willby, N., & B., Moss, 2016. Submerged macrophyte decline in shallow lakes: what have we learnt in the last forty years?. Aquatic Botany, 135: 37-45.
- Qiu, D., Wu, Z., Liu, B., Deng, J., Fu, G., & F., He, 2001. The restoration of aquatic macrophytes for improving water quality in a hypertrophic shallow lake in Hubei Province, China. Ecological Engineering, 18: 147-156.
- Radomski, P., & T.J., Goeman, 2001. Consequences of human lakeshore development on emergent and floating-leaf vegetation abundance. North American Journal of Fisheries Management, 21: 46-61.
- Romo, S., Villena, M. J., & A., García-Murcia, 2007. Epiphyton, phytoplankton and macrophyte ecology in a shallow lake under in situ experimental conditions. Fundamental and Applied Limnology/Archiv für Hydrobiologie, 170: 197-209.
- Sand-Jensen, K., & J., Borum, 1991. Interactions among phytoplankton, periphyton, and macrophytes in temperate freshwaters and estuaries. Aquatic Botany, 41: 137-175.
- Sass, G.G., Gille, C.M., Hinke, J.T., & J.F., Kitchell, 2006. Whole-lake influences of littoral structural complexity and prey body morphology on fish predator–prey interactions. Ecology of Freshwater Fish, 15: 301-308.
- Søndergaard, M., Jeppesen, E., Lauridsen, T.L., Skov, C., Van Nes, E.H., Roijackers, R., Lammerns, E., & R.O.B., Portielje, 2007. Lake restoration: successes, failures and long-term effects. Journal of Applied Ecology, 44: 1095-1105.

- Suding, K.N., & K.L., Gross, 2006. The dynamic nature of ecological systems: multiple states and restoration trajectories. Foundations of Restoration Ecology, 190-209.
- Vadeboncoeur, Y., McIntyre, P.B., & M.J., Vander Zanden, 2011. Borders of biodiversity: life at the edge of the world's large lakes. BioScience, 61: 526-537.
- Wilby, R.L., Orr, H., Watts, G., Battarbee, R.W., Berry, P.M., Chadd, R., Dugdale, S.J., Dunbar,
  M.J., Elliot, J.A., Extence, C., Hannah, D.M., Holmes, N., Johnson, A.C., Knights, B.,
  Milner, N.J., Ormerod, S.J., Solomon, D., Timlett, R., Whitehead, P.J., & P.J., Wood, 2010.
  Evidence needed to manage freshwater ecosystems in a changing climate: turning
  adaptation principles into practice. Science of the Total Environment, 408: 4150-4164.
- Zedler, J.B., & J.C., Callaway, 1999. Tracking wetland restoration: do mitigation sites follow desired trajectories?. Restoration Ecology, 7: 69-73.



**Figure 4.1**: A conceptual diagram of macrophyte, epiphytic algae, and phytoplankton interactions within the controlled mesocosm experiment. Red arrows indicate porewater nutrient uptake, blue arrows indicate surface water nutrient uptake, and orange arrows indicate light attenuation. Solid arrows represent direct access to a resource and dashed arrows indicate indirect access to a resource. Orange arrow thickness indicates the amount of light availability and blue and red arrow thickness indicates the importance of that nutrient for each primary producer group. (A) Observed macrophyte, epiphytic algae, and phytoplankton interactions. (B) Expected macrophyte, epiphytic algae, and phytoplankton interactions.



**Figure 4.2**: A conceptual diagram of expected and observed macrophyte community structure at restored shoreline habitats in Muskegon Lake and the varying environmental conditions among survey years. The sun represents warmer air temperatures and cloud presence represents cooler air temperatures. The number and size of raindrops indicates the amount of precipitation accumulation per survey year during the growing season. Water level is indicated by the different proportions of aquatic habitat available. Macrophyte density is represented by the number of macrophytes. Macrophyte biomass is represented by the size of macrophytes. Macrophyte richness is represented by the number of different macrophyte types. The red dotted line represents a separation between pre- and post-restoration survey years. A) Expected trajectory of Muskegon Lake shoreline restoration implementation. B) Observed trajectory of Muskegon Lake shoreline restoration implementation.